



National Library A Bibliothèque nationale of Canada du Canada

CANADIAN THESES

THÈSES CANADIENNE. SUR MICROFICHE

| NAME OF AUTHOR NON DE L'AUTEUR | JOHN RANKIN |
|-------------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| TITLE OF THESIS/TITRE DE LA THÈSE | ELECTRON TRANSLATION FACTORS AND |
| | THE DETERMINATION OF SUITCHING |
| | FUNCTIONS |
| UNIVERSITY/UNIVERSITE | ALBERTA. |
| DEGREE FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRESENT | PRÉSENTÉE DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY |
| YEAR THIS DEGREE CONFERRED/ANNÉE D | |
| NAME OF SUPERVISOR/NOM DU DIRECTEL | |

Permission is hereby granted to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission. L'autorisation est, par la présente, accordée à la BIBE/OTHÈ-QUE NATIONALE DU CANADA de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film,

L'auteur se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'auteur.

17 OCTOBER 1978 SIGNED /SIGNE J. Rank DATED/DATE_

| PERMANENT ADDRESS/RÉSIDENCE FIXE | 11139 - 7 | 3 Ave., | |
|---|-----------|----------|--|
| | EDHONTON. | ALBERTA. | |
| 가지 않는 것은 동안 모두 가격한 것이다. 같은 것 모든 것이라는 특히 물이 있는 것을 수 | CANADA | 769 025 | |
| | | | |

National Library of Canada

Cataloguing Branch Canadian Theses Division

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

NOTICE

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction du catalogage Division des thèses canadiennes

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us a poor photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

NL-339 (3/77)

AVIS

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, yeuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dagtylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si f'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de mauvaise qualité.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'up droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS REÇUE

EDMONTON, ALBERTA FALL, 1978

DEPARTMENT OF CHEMISTRY

OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE

ATHESIS



DETERMINATION OF SWITCHING FUNCTIONS

by

AND THE

ELECTRON TRANSLATION RACTORS

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

Doctor of Philosophy.

Supervisor

External Examiner

Date. 16 October 1978

ABSTRACT

This thesis presents a scheme for correcting certain fundamental errors in the perturbed stationary states theory of slow atomic collisions. The corrections are associated with electron translation factors, of which the pss theory gives no account. In the corrected theory, switching functions are used to describe electron translation in a molecular state. One can use a single function for all electronic states, or each state may have its own, characteristic switching function. However, the functions are not fully specified by the theory, and the choice of suitable ones is an important practical problem. This thesis examines one method of choosing them, based on the fact that the corrected nonadiabatic couplings for ionising transitions are very sensitive to the choice of switching function. For each bound electronic state, it is possible to choose an "optimum" switching function, such that the corrected couplings are very much smaller, and of shorter range, than those predicted by pss theory. These results are compared with those obtained using simpler choices.

Ionisation matrix elements are presented for the system of one electron and two nuclei, notably for H₂⁺ and HeH⁺⁺, and the parameters specifying the switching functions for the lowest bound states are given. The implications of these results for nonadiabatic couplings in general are also discussed.

iv

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This work would not have been possible without the help and guidance given by my supervisor, Dr. Walter R. Thorson. I would also like to thank the National Research Council of Canada for three years of financial support.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

iş

ŧ

1.

1

o

| CHAPTER | PAGE |
|---|------------|
| | . 1 |
| A. Aims and Objective | . 1 |
| B. Background Harwing | . 2 |
| 1. Basics | • 2 |
| 2. PSS Theory | . 7 |
| 3. Electron Translation Factors | . 9 |
| 4. Switching Functions and Translation | |
| Factors · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | /13 |
| 5. Ionising Transitions • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • | 15 |
| C. History | . 17 |
| 1. Introduction · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | 17 |
| 2. Proposed Solutions to the ETF | ٠ |
| Problem | 18 |
| 3. Formal Considerations | 25 |
| D. Reader's Guide | 28 |
| | -30 |
| A. Co-ordinates | 30 |
| B. Asymptotic Boundary Conditions and | х |
| Translation Factors | 36 |
| l. Origin of the Translation Factor | 36 |
| 2. Defects of PSS Theory | 39 |
| 3. Modified Electronic Basis | 44 |
| C. Classical Trajectory Equations | 46 |

150 "

| | D. Effect of Translation Factor |
|---|---|
| * . | Corrections |
| | E. Ionisation in near-adiabatic |
| ø | Collisions |
| | 1. Introduction \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 51 |
| | 2. The "Fast Electron" Approximation 52 |
| an a | • 3. Ionising Transitions and |
| • | Switching Functions |
| • | F. Rotating Frame Co-ordinates |
| , T | and an |
| III. | BORN-OPPENHEIMER WAVEFUNCTIONS |
| | A. Introduction · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |
| | B. Bound States |
| ан сайта сайта Селото сайта сайт | 1. Background \cdot |
| • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • | 2. Angular Equation |
| | 3. Radial Equation • • • • • • • • • • • 66 |
| | 4. Normalisation 67 |
| 5 | C. Continuum States |
| | 1. Background \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 70 |
| | 2. Angular Equation |
| | 3. Radial Equation |
| | 4. Normalisation |
| • • • | 5. Remarks |
| | 6. Results |
| f | CONTRACTOR OF WATERY FLEMENTS |
| IV. | COMPUTATION OF MAIRIX EDEMENTS |
| | A. Introduction $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ |
| | vii |

| В | . Coupling Matrix Elements |
|-----------|--|
| С | . Computation of the Matrix Elements |
| | of \hat{L}_{y} |
| | 1. Introduction |
| | 2. $I_{\sigma+\pi}^{+} = \langle \varepsilon' \Gamma' \pi \hat{L}_{+}^{g} n \Gamma \sigma \rangle$ |
| | 3. $I_{\pi \to \sigma}^{-} = \langle \epsilon' \Gamma' \sigma \hat{L}_{g}^{g} n \Gamma_{\pi} \rangle$, |
| | 4. $I_{\pi + \delta}^{+} = \langle \varepsilon' \Gamma' \delta \hat{L}_{+}^{g} n \Gamma \pi \rangle$ |
| D | . Matrix Elements of $(\partial/\partial R)_{r}^{+}$ |
| | g 1. Introduction |
| | 2. Model Problem |
| | 3. $I_{\sigma} = \langle \varepsilon' \Gamma' \sigma (\partial V_e / \partial R) + n \Gamma \sigma \rangle$ 104 |
| с. | 4. $I_{\pi} = \langle \varepsilon^{*} \Gamma^{*} \pi (\partial V_{e} / \partial R) + n\Gamma \pi \rangle$ 107 |
| E | . Matrix Elements of $[h_{BO}, \vec{s}^g]$ |
| | 1. Introduction |
| | 2. Evaluation of I_m^R |
| | 3. Evaluation of $I_{m \to m}^{\Theta}$ |
| F | . Summary ⁻ |
| V. RES | ULTS |
| | . Introduction |
| B | . "Optimisation" Procedure |
| С | . Results of Calculations |
| | 1. Behaviour of Optimum Parameters 124 |
| | 2. Matrix Elements |
| . D | . Discussion |
| | 1. Šummary |
| - | Martin and Aller and Aller and Aller and Aller and Aller |
| | , viii |

ú

. 🗭.

| REFERENCES | | |
|------------|---------------------------------------|----------|
| APPENDI X. | STATE-DEPENDENT SWITCHING FUNCTION | ` |
| • | FORMULATION | |
| • • | A. Introduction | |
| | B. Definition of Basis (| 4 |
| | C. Classical Trajectory Equations 177 | |
| • | D. Conservation of Probability 180 | |

ix ·

LIST OF TABLES

Į'

Ľ,

| 1. | Separation constants and phase shifts for |
|-------------|--|
| | HeH ⁺⁺ ; $\varepsilon = 1.0$ Ry. and δ is in units of π 80 |
| 2. | The coefficients of the n-expansion (equation |
| | (III-32) of text), for HeH^{++} , so wave, |
| | and $\varepsilon = 1.0$ Ry |
| 3. | The coefficients of the n-expansion (equation |
| | (III-32) of text), for HeH ⁺⁺ , po wave, |
| | and $\epsilon = 1.0$ Ry |
| 4. | The coefficients of the η -expansion (equation |
| | (III-32) of text), for HeH^{++} , $p\pi$ wave, |
| | and $\varepsilon = 1.0$ Ry |
| 5. | "Optimum" β_n 's, determined for H_2^+ |
| 6. | "optimum" a_n 's, for the lso state |
| 7. | "Optimum" α_n 's, for the 2po state |
| , 8. | "Optimum" α_n 's, for the $2p\pi$ state |
| 9. | "Optimum" α_n 's, for HeH ⁺⁺ , 2so and 3do states 138 |
| 10. | A guide to the figures |

Х

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

ņ,

9

36

| | j ši šina statu statu |
|------|---|
| | System co-ordinates |
| 2. | Jacobi co-ordinates |
| 3. | Spheroidal co-ordinates |
| 4. | Continuum separation constants, for s, p, |
| | and d waves |
| 5. | Phase shifts for model system |
| 6. | Phase shifts for HeH ⁺⁺ |
| . 7. | Model switching function: f = tanh(2n-0.2) 111 |
| 8. | "Optimum" β_n 's, for H_2^+ |
| 9. | "Optimum" an's, for HeH ⁺⁺ |
| 10. | "Optimum" f_n 's, for H_2^+ , at R = 8.0 au 130 |
| ú. | "Optimum" f_n 's, for HeH ⁺⁺ , at R = 8.0 au 131 |
| 12. | "Optimum" $f_{ls\sigma}$'s, as a function of Z_A , with |
| | $Z_{\rm B} = 1.0$, and R = 8.0 au |
| 13. | Long range behaviour of pss matrix elements, |
| | shown here for H_2^+ |
| 14. | $<0.5L!0 H(RAD) 100>, H_2^+, L' = 0(2)8 \dots 142$ |
| | <0.5L'0 H (RAD) 200>, H ₂ ⁺ , L' = 0(2) 8 |
| 16. | <0.5L'0 H (RAD) 210>, H_2^+ , L' = 1(2)7 |
| 17. | <0.5L'1 H(RAD) 211>, H_2^+ , L' = 1(2)7 145 |
| 18. | <0.5L'0 H (RAD) 320>, H_2^+ , $L' = 0(2)8$ 146 |
| | <0.5L'1 H (ANG) 100>, H_2^+ , L' = 2(2)8 147 |
| 20. | <0.5L'1 H(ANG) 200>, H_2^+ , L' = 2(2)8 148 |
| 21. | <0.5L'1 H (ANG) 210>, H_2^+ , L' = 1(2)7 |

1

xi

| 22 | <0.5L'0 H (ANG) 211>, H2+, L' = 1(2)7 150 |
|---|---|
| | <0.5L'2 H (ANG) 211>, H2+, L = 3(2)97 |
| 1 | <0.5L'1 H(ANG) 320>, H2+, L' = 2(2) |
| 1 | <0.5L'0 H (RAD) 100>, HeH++, L' = 0(1)5 153 |
| 1 | <0.5L'0 H (RAD) 200>, HeH++, L' = 0(1) 5 154 |
| - * · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | <0.5L'0 H(RAD) 210>, HeH++, L' = 0(1)5 155 |
| 28. | <0.5L'1 H(RAD) 211>, HeH ⁺⁺ , L' =.1(1)5 156 |
| 29. | <0.5L'0 H(RAD) 320>, HeH ⁺⁺ , L' = 0(1)5 |
| 30 . | <0.5L'1 H (ANG) 100>, HeH ⁺⁺ , L' = 1(1)5 |
| 31. | <0.5L'1 H(ANG) 200>, HeH ⁺⁺ , L' = 1(1)5 159 |
| 32. | <0.5L'1 H (ANG) 210>, HeH ⁺⁺ , L' = 1(1)5 160. |
| 33. | <0.5L'0 H (ANG) 211>, HeH ⁺⁺ , L' = 0(1)5 161 |
| 34 . | <0.5L'2 H(ANG) 211>, HeH ⁺⁺ , L' = 2(1)5 162 |
| 35. | <0.5L'1 H(ANG) 320>, HeH ⁺⁺ , L' = 1(1)6 |

xii

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

A. Aims and Objectives

This thesis presents a scheme for correcting certain fundamental errors in the well-known and widely used perturbed stationary states (pss) theory of slow atomic collisions. The corrections in question are associated with electron translation factors, of which pss theory gives no account. The corrected theory has been developed by Thorson 1,2 and others 3-6 and has recently been formalised by Thorson and Delos, 7 who use switching functions to describe electron translation in a molecular state. These functions are not fully specified by the theory, and the choice of suitable ones presents an important practical This thesis explores one method of choosing them, problem. based on the fact that nonadiabatic couplings (corrected for electron translation effects) are extremely sensitive . to the choice of switching function, especially for ionising transitions.^{1,2} I show that it is possible to choose an "optimum" switching function, characteristic of each bound electronic state, such that the corrected coupling matrix elements are very much smaller, and of shorter

range, than those predicted by pss theory. I also compare these results with those obtained using simpler choices³ for the switching function. For truly "molecular" states, the "optimum" switching functions lead to significantly better results, while for purely "atomic" states, the method selects the simpler functions quite naturally.

Detailed ionisation matrix elements are presented for the system of one electron and two nuclei, especially for H_2^+ and HeH⁺⁺, and the parameters specifying the switching functions for the lowest electronic bound states are given. The implications of these results for nonadiabatic couplings in general are also discussed.

In the rest of the Introduction, I shall explain the meaning of the terms used above, review the history of the problem, and provide signposts to guide the reader through the detail, which would otherwise obscure the main ideas of the dissertation.

B. Background Material

1. Basics

The problem of interest to us occurs in all atomic and molecular collisions, but its essential features can be studied most easily in the model systems considered here, composed of two heavy particles, masses M_A , M_B , and charges $Z_A e$, $Z_B e$, and an electron, mass m_0 . After separating out the centre of mass motion, we require, in principle, the solution to the time-independent Schrödinger

equation,

is

$H(\vec{r}, \vec{k}) \Psi(\vec{r}, \vec{k}) = E \Psi(\vec{r}, \vec{k}),$ (I-1)

subject to the appropriate sometering asymptotic boundary conditions. Molecular co-ordinates, \vec{R} , \vec{r} , are used: \vec{R} is the vector from A to B, and \vec{r} is the position vector of the electron from the centre of mass of the nuclei. For the moment, we express r in terms of reference axes fixed in space, but, later on, it will be more convenient to use a frame rotating with the molecular axis \hat{R} . The reader should pay careful attention to the subject of coordinates, because it is closely related to the central problem of the thesis: in an atomic collision, the system separates asymptotically into two atomic subsystems, for which atomic, rather than molecular, co-ordinates are more appropriate; and the transformation of wavefunctions from one co-ordinate system to the other is not quite as trivial as it seems.

In molecular co-ordinates, the Hamiltonian, $H(\vec{r},\vec{R})$,

 $H(\vec{r},\vec{R}) = -(\hbar^{2}/2\mu) (\vec{\nabla}_{R}^{2})_{\vec{r}} + h_{e}(\vec{r};\vec{R}), \qquad (I-2a)$ $\mu = M_{A}^{*}M_{B}/(M_{A}+M_{B}); \qquad (I-2b)$

 $h_{e}(\vec{r};\vec{R})$ is the molecular electronic Hamiltonian,

$$h_{e}(\vec{r};\vec{R}) = -(\hbar^{2}/2m)(\vec{\nabla}_{r}^{2})_{\vec{R}} + V(\vec{r};\vec{R}),$$
 (I-3a)

 $m = m_0 (M_A + M_B) / (M_A + M_B + m_0),$ (I-3b)

and $V(\vec{r}; \vec{R})$ is the electrostatic potential energy,

$$V(\vec{r};\vec{R}) = (Z_A Z_B e^2/R) - (Z_A e^2/r_A) - (Z_B e^2/r_B).$$
 (I-4)

For a wide range of physical conditions, the <u>classical trajectory approximation</u>,^{8,9} in which only the electron motion is treated quantum mechanically, provides an alternative to solving equation (I-1). The nuclei are assumed to follow some specified classical trajectory $\vec{R}(t)$, and the electronic wavefunction obeys the time-dependent Schrödinger equation,

 $h_{a}\{\vec{r};\vec{R}(t)\} T(\vec{r},t) = i\hbar \{\partial T(\vec{r},t)/\partial t\}_{\vec{r}}$ (I-5)

We shall make use of both descriptions of a slow collision in this thesis; for nearly all problems of interest to us, the two approaches give the same final results.

In general, equations (I-1) or (I-5) are solved by expanding the wavefunction in terms of some appropriate set of electronic states, $|n(\vec{R})\rangle$, projecting out the j'th component with $\langle j(\vec{R}) |$, and solving the resulting coupled equations. In principle, any complete set of functions will do, but, in practice, the set is always truncated, and the idea is to choose a set which approximates the true behaviour as closely as possible.

If the nuclear speed is much less than the electron speed, we may expect that the electron system will adjust smoothly to changes in the nuclear position; this is the fundamental assumption of the Born-Oppenheimer approximation in molecules, and the same idea can be used in <u>slow collision theory</u>. At each nuclear configuration, the set of Born-Oppenheimer (fixed-nuclei), adiabatic states may be used as the expansion basis. These states are eigenfunctions of the electronic Hamiltonian,

$$h_{\rho}(\vec{r};\vec{R}) \phi_{n}(\vec{r};\vec{R}) = \epsilon_{n}(R) \phi_{n}(\vec{r};\vec{R});$$
 (1-6)

"they depend parametrically on \vec{R} , and coupling between them occurs via this dependence. If the system evolves nearly <u>adiabatically</u>, coupling is unimportant, and elastic scattering on the potentials $\varepsilon_n(R)$ dominates. Conditions for the validity of adiabatic approximations are usually discussed using the time-dependent Schrödinger equation; it can be shown that the condition for adiabatic evolution is¹⁰

 $|\vec{v}.<j|\vec{\nabla}_R h_{e}|n>| << |\epsilon_n \{R(t)\}-\epsilon_j \{R(t)\}/\hbar,$ (1-7)

where $\vec{v} = d\vec{R}/dt$ is the nuclear velocity.

We can now define the term "slow collision" more precisely: a collision is said to be slow if the adiabatic criterion is satisfied for "principal quantum transitions" --transitions for which $\Delta \varepsilon > 1.0 \text{ eV}$. For $M_A \simeq M_B$ equal to the proton mass, collision energies below about one keV are slow. However, note that, even if $\dot{\vec{v}}$ is very small, the adiabatic criterion will be violated in the case of coupled, nearly degenerate states. This means that some states of an atomic collision system can never behave adiabatically, i.e., the continuum electronic states and the closely spaced, Rydberg levels; even for the more tightly bound states, strong nonadiabatic coupling can occur if a local near-degeneracy $\varepsilon_{i}(R_{0}) \simeq \varepsilon_{n}(R_{0})$ of two potential curves is encountered.

Slow collision processes may thus be divided into two broad categories:

Direct impact processes, for which $|\varepsilon_1 - \varepsilon_n|$ is large, a. T and the nuclear momentum change accompanying a transition is large; such transitions are improbable, and the system evolves nearly adiabatically (e.g., impact ionisation of low-lying, bound-state electrons) Degeneracy mediated processes, in which the adiabatic criterion is locally violated, due to near-degeneracy

b.

of two (or more) levels, and the transition probabilities are large, even at low collision velocities (e.g., avoided crossings of adiabatic potential curves) An adequate theory of slow collisions should be able to describe both categories.

2. PSS Theory

The perturbed stationary states (pss) method¹¹ takes a truncated set of Born-Oppenheimer electronic wavefunctions as the expansion basis; thus, for equation (I-1),

$$\Psi(\vec{r},\vec{R}) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} \chi_{n}(\vec{R}) |n(\vec{R})\rangle,$$
 (1-8a)

$$|n(\vec{R})\rangle = \phi_n(\vec{r};\vec{R}). \qquad (I-8b)$$

One then obtains coupled equations for the functions $\chi_n(\vec{R})$ as components of an abstract vector $\chi(\vec{R})$:

$$(1/2\mu) \{-i\hbar \overline{\nabla}_{R} + \underline{P}(\overline{R})\}^{2} \underline{\chi}(\overline{R}) + \underline{\varepsilon}(R) \underline{\chi}(\overline{R})$$
$$= E \underline{\chi}(\overline{R}). \qquad (I-9).$$

The matrix, $\underline{\varepsilon}(R)$, is diagonal, and its nn element is the potential curve, $\varepsilon_n(R)$; coupling between states j and n arises solely from the nonadiabatic coupling matrix, $\underline{\vec{P}}(R)$,

$$\vec{P}_{jn}(R) = -i\hbar \langle \phi_j | (\vec{\nabla}_R)_r^{\dagger} | \phi_n^{>}. \qquad (I-10)$$

It can be shown that $\vec{P}(R)$ is Hermitian and that its diagonal elements vanish. To derive equation (I-9), I have used the relation

$$-i\hbar \{\overline{\nabla}_{R}, \underline{\vec{P}}(R) + \underline{\vec{P}}, \underline{\vec{P}}_{jn} = \langle \phi_{j} | -\hbar^{2} (\nabla_{R}^{2})_{\underline{r}}^{+} | \phi_{n} \rangle.$$
 (I-11)

Note that the gradient in (I-10) is computed holding $\dot{\vec{r}}$ fixed in the non-rotating frame, which accounts for the existence of angular, as well as radial, components in the vector, $\vec{p}(R)$. In actual calculations, we use a frame rotating with the molecular axis to describe the electron system; in this frame, the Hamiltonian, h_e , and the basis states, ϕ_n , depend only on $R = |\vec{R}|$, and the angular parts of \vec{P}_{jn} arise directly from the transformation from \vec{r} (nrf) to \vec{r} (rf). Physically, these terms represent the Coriolis interaction.

In the alternative, classical trajectory description, the analogous pss expansion is¹²

 $T(\vec{r},t) = \sum_{n} a_{n}(t) \phi_{n}\{\vec{r};\vec{R}(t)\} \exp\{-i\int^{t} \varepsilon_{n}(t')dt'/\hbar\}; (I-12)$

the resulting coupled equations for the amplitudes, $a_n(t)$, are

if $da_j/dt = \sum_{n} \vec{v} \cdot \vec{P}_{jn} a_n(t) \exp\{-i\int^t (\epsilon_n - \epsilon_j) dt'/h\}, (I-13)$

where we have used the relation

$$-i\hbar \ [\partial\phi_n\{\vec{r};\vec{R}(t)\}/\partial t]_{\vec{r}} = -i\hbar \ \vec{v}. \ (\vec{\nabla}_R)_{\vec{r}} \ \phi_n(\vec{r};\vec{R}). \qquad (I-14)$$

Notice that, in both this approach and that of equation (I-9), transitions arise from the <u>same</u> nonadiabatic coupling matrix, $\underline{P}(R)$. The connection between this matrix and the adiabatic criterion can be seen from the relation

$$\vec{P}_{jn}(R) = -i\hbar \langle \phi_j | (\vec{\nabla}_R) + \phi_n \rangle$$

=
$$-i\hbar \langle \phi_j | (\overline{\nabla}_R h_e) + \phi_n \rangle / (\varepsilon_n - \varepsilon_j)$$
. (I-15)

Nonadiabatic couplings arise from the changes in, or perturbations of, the adiabatic states, as the nuclear configuration alters (hence the name, "perturbed stationary states" theory). The presumption, of course, is that the matrix, $\vec{P}(R)$, really does represent the effects of physical changes in the wavefunctions. However, this presumption is not correct, as I shall now explain.

' 3. Electron Translation Factors

In order to understand why pss theory does not provide an adequate description of slow collision processes, we start by examining the asymptotic $(R+\infty)$ behaviour of the system. Suppose that the electron is in a bound atomic state on nucleus B, asymptotically, and that this "B-atom" is translating with respect to some origin. Seen from this origin, the electron will undergo not only its internal "atomic orbital motion," but also a <u>trans-</u> <u>lational motion</u>, due to the motion of the nucleus to which it is bound. Hence, if the CMN is the origin of electronco-ordinates (as in the molecular system, \vec{R} , \vec{r}), then the wavefunction <u>must</u> include a factor to describe the translational motion of the electron with respect to the CMN.

However, pss theory gives no account of this factor at all: the Born-Oppenheimer electronic states contain no information about the collision velocity, and the $\chi_n(\vec{R})$'s in equation (I-8a) are "nuclear wavefunctions" and independent of the electron co-ordinates. Effects of electron translation must somehow be buried in the matrix, $\vec{P}(R)$, which we may therefore expect to show some unexpected (and undesirable) features.

If the electron is in an atomic state, n, on nucleus B, its internal motion can be described by the atomic orbital $\phi_n^B(\vec{r}_B)$, where \vec{r}_B is the vector from B to e⁻. Asymptotically, this orbital is totally unperturbed by the distant nucleus, A, and, if $\vec{P}(R)$ is to represent <u>real</u> non-adiabatic couplings, we would therefore expect all the matrix elements of $\vec{P}(R)$ to tend to zero, as $R + \infty$.

In fact, $\vec{P}(R)$ does <u>not</u> become zero, as $R \rightarrow \infty$; moreover, the non-zero elements, $\vec{P}_{jn}(\infty)$, can be shown to arise from, simply displacing the orbital, $\phi_n^B(\vec{r}_B)$, with respect to

the CMN, without deforming it at all. These displacement terms are wholly spurious. Unfortunately, they are also often large; indeed, in some cases, they dominate even at finite R-values. A good illustration of this is provided by the matrix elements of $\vec{P}(R)$ connecting bound molecular states to the Born-Oppenheimer electronic continuum (it can be shown¹ that such couplings are related to the direct-impact ionisation cross sections). For these transitions, all elements, $\vec{P}_{in}(R)$, go to zero asymptotically, but, in the interaction region, they are physically unrealistic:² typically, each bound state is coupled to 30 or 40 continuum partial waves, and the envelope of couplings extends to at least 40 au. One of the aims of this thesis is to show that a careful choice of the "electron translation factor" eliminates most of these couplings entirely.

A further problem with pss theory appears if we examine $\vec{P}(R)$ for a system in which $M_A \neq M_B$. Because the reference origin is the CMN, $\vec{P}(R)$ contains terms at all Rvalues, which depend directly on the nuclear mass asymmetry, to zero'th order in (m/μ) . But, in actual fact, the electron "sees" only the electrostatic potential of the nuclei in $h_e(\vec{r};\vec{R})$, and the only information about the nuclear masses that can appear is in the electronic reduced mass, as a correction of <u>first</u> order in (m/μ) . This anomaly also occurs because of the neglect of electron translation, and has been discussed in great detail for HD⁺ by Davis and Thorson.¹³

Clearly, the matrix, $\vec{P}(R)$, does <u>not</u> represent simply the effects of real change in the electronic wavefunctions, and the theory needs to be corrected. To see how this can be done, we examine the form of the "electron translation factor" which appears in the wavefunction asymptotically. If the electron is attached to B, and B is moving at a constant velocity, \vec{w}_{B} , with respect to the CMN, then (in the time-dependent language of equation (I-5)) the electron translation factor (etf) is just

$$F_{B} = \exp\{(im/\hbar) (\dot{w}_{B} \cdot \dot{r} - \frac{1}{2} w_{B}^{2} t)\},$$
 (I-15a)

and the asymptotic electronic wavefunction is not simply $\phi_n^B(\vec{r}_B)$, but

 $\phi_n^B = F_B \phi_n^B(\vec{r}_B). \qquad (1-15b)$

The factor, F_B , represents just the momentum and kinetic energy of an electron moving with velocity, \vec{w}_B , with respect to the CMN. Similarly, if the electron is bound to A, there is a corresponding factor, F_A , and velocity, \vec{w}_A .

However, in the interaction region, the form of the etf is not so clear. In a slow collision, we want to describe the electron motion in terms of the Born-Oppenheimer wavefunctions. Now, at finite R-values, these states are "molecular," rather than "atomic," in character, and it is not possible to say that the electron is attached to a particular nucleus. Rather, when the electron is near nucleus A, it is carried along by A; and, when it is near B, it translates with B. Thus, an electron in a molecular state requires a "molecular" etf, and the idea of a <u>switching function</u> was introduced⁶ to give the electron a local translational velocity, as a function of its position. Using this idea, it can be shown⁷ that a formally correct theory of slow collisions can be constructed, which removes all the defects of pss theory, while retaining much of its simplicity.

4. Switching Functions and Translation Factors

The rigorous, fully quantum mechanical derivation of the correct coupled equations to replace (I-9) is very subtle.^{7b} The defects of pss theory are shown to arise from an inadequate choice of co-ordinates, (\vec{r},\vec{R}) , in which to separate the internal, "electronic" motion and the translational, "heavy-particle" motion. If one carefully selects a "scattering co-ordinate," ξ , to replace \vec{R} , the (non-linear) transformation from (\vec{r},\vec{R}) to (\vec{r},ξ) introduces important new terms into the coupled equations, terms which remove all the defects of pss theory.

In this thesis, however, I prefer to use an

alternative derivation, based explicitly on the etf concept, ^{7a} which brings out more clearly the main physical ideas. I will show that the etf arises naturally from the boundary conditions satisfied by Ψ (or T) at large R, and that all the problems with pss theory can be solved by attaching an appropriate etf to each Born-Oppenheimer state. The simplest derivation of new coupled equations assumes the classical trajectory approximation.^{8,9} It will turn out that a suitable expansion basis is given by the set

$$|n(\vec{R})\rangle = \phi_{n}(\vec{r};\vec{R}) \exp[(im/\hbar) \{\vec{v}\cdot\vec{s}-f^{t}(1-\lambda^{2})v^{2}dt'/8\}],$$
(I-16)

where

$$\vec{s}(\vec{r};\vec{R}) = \frac{1}{2} \{f(\vec{r};\vec{R}) + \lambda\} = \frac{1}{2}$$
 (I-17a)

 $\dot{\mathbf{r}}_{g} = \dot{\mathbf{r}} - \frac{1}{2} \lambda \dot{\mathbf{R}}$ (I-17b)

and λ is the mass asymmetry parameter,

$$= (M_{A} - M_{B}) / (M_{A} + M_{B}). \qquad (1-17c)$$

 $f(\vec{r};\vec{R})$ is called the <u>molecular switching function</u>, and it allows the translational motion of the electron to vary with its position in the molecule. To meet the boundary

conditions, as $R+\infty$, f must approach +1, if the electron is in a bound state of B; and -1, "if it is bound to A; but it is otherwise unconstrained. The question of how f should be chosen in the interaction region will be discussed at length, and one scheme for doing so is the main topic of this thesis.

Inclusion of the etf leads to important modifications in the coupled equations, (I-9) or (I-13), the main one being the replacement of the matrix, $\vec{P}(R)$, by the corrected nonadiabatic coupling matrix, $\vec{P}(R) + \vec{A}(R)$, where

$$\bar{A}_{jn}(R) = (im/\hbar) < \phi_j | [h_e, s(\vec{r}; \vec{R})] | \phi_n > .$$
 (I-18)

The λ -dependent term in $\underline{\vec{A}}(R)$ exactly cancels the spurious effects of mass asymmetry in $\underline{\vec{P}}(R)$, and transfers the origin of electron co-ordinates to the geometric centre (\vec{r}_g is the corresponding co-ordinate). In the limit, $R + \infty$, the term containing f removes the spurious asymptotic couplings, and, in effect, refers the origin of co-ordinates to the nucleus to which the electron is actually bound.

5. Ionising Transitions

In the earlier discussion of the adiabatic criterion, I pointed out that electronic continuum states cannot evolve adiabatically. This means that ionisation cannot be treated conveniently within the usual framework of pss theory, since one assumes implicitly that the basis functions behave nearly adiabatically. However, Thorson and Levy¹ have shown that a theory of ionisation from adiabatic bound states to the electronic continuum can be developed as an extension of the pss method. Within a first-order perturbation, or distorted-wave, approximation, they proved that the transition probabilities for ionisation can be calculated using the nonadiabatic coupling matrix elements between the bound electronic states, ϕ_n , and the Born-Oppenheimer (fixed-nuclei) continuum states, $\phi_E(\vec{r};\vec{R})$. I shall give a very brief account of the theory of Thorson and Levy¹ in section E of chapter II.

If electron translation factors are ignored, the matrix elements for ionisation are just the couplings, $\vec{P}_{En}(R)$,

$$\vec{P}_{\epsilon n}(R) = -i\hbar \langle \phi_{\epsilon} | (\vec{\nabla}_{R})_{\vec{r}} | \phi_{n} \rangle.$$
 (I-19)

When etf's are included in the bound state description, these couplings are replaced by $\vec{P}_{\varepsilon n} + \vec{A}_{\varepsilon n}$, just as for couplings between bound states.

The etf corrections are of critical importance, not only to the calculation of ionisation matrix elements, but also in more general slow collision problems; in particular, one needs a way of choosing the switching function in the interaction region. With this in mind, I want now to describe briefly the history of the problem.

C. History

1. Introduction

In common with so many other problems in molecular physics, the origins of slow collision theory may be traced to the famous paper by Born and Oppenheimer¹⁴ on the quantum mechanics of molecules. Since the electron to nuclear mass ratio is much less than unity, Born and Oppenheimer pointed out that characteristic nuclear speeds in the bound states of a molecular system will be much lower than those of electrons; therefore, an adiabatic separation of electronic and nuclear motion should be a good approximation. Their approach was based on a perturbation expansion in powers of $(m/\mu)^{4}$, and they were very careful to limit their discussion to non-degenerate, molecular states, in which the nuclear motion is bound; hence, the problem of asymptotic boundary conditions never arose. Nevertheless, it is very tempting to extend their idea directly to scattering problems, especially since the set of fixed-nuclei, electronic states is complete. 15

A semiclassical treatment of slow collision problems, using the adiabatic basis states, was given by Mott¹² (essentially, equations (I-12) and (I-13)); the corresponding quantum mechanical version was developed by Mott and Massey¹¹ (equations (I-8) and (I-9)) and named the perturbed stationary states theory. In 1953, Bates, Massey and Stewart¹⁶ published a detailed discussion of pss theory, applied to one-electron problems. As far as I know, this paper contains the first recognition that attempts to use pss theory for solving slow collision problems will run into fundamental difficulties. However, it wasn't until 1958 that Bates and McCarroll³ showed that a correct theory must include some account of electron translation, at least asymptotically.

Since then, many different approaches to the problem have been tried. In 1976, Riera and Salin¹⁷ wrote an excellent review of the subject, in which they analysed the various approaches and their defects, and pointed out the need for further work. Most of the proposed solutions, and <u>all</u> of them which correctly meet the boundary conditions, may be seen, in retrospect, as corresponding to different choices for the <u>switching function</u>. In the next subsection, I will discuss the various proposed solutions from this viewpoint. Of course, this is not the way that people actually thought about the problem, but it is convenient for linking the development of the subject to the present work. The final subsection covers the recent work by Thorson and Delos,⁷ which goes a long way towards presenting a unified view of the theory of slow collisions.

2. Proposed Solutions to the ETF Problem

Many techniques have been proposed to avoid the difficulties encountered in the application of pss theory to practical problems. With one exception, these reduce

to: (1) techniques which take f = constant; these are equivalent to using a single, fixed origin for electron co-ordinates, and (2) methods which correspond to particular switching functions. In the first category, f is not a switching function, as it <u>cannot</u> meet the asymptotic constraints, f++1 (-1) on B (A), for all states; only the methods in the second category are capable of meeting all boundary conditions.

a. Methods Using a Fixed Reference Origin

i. $f = -\lambda$. For completeness, we start with unmodified pss theory, which is recovered if we take $f = -\lambda$ (and drop the term in $(1-\lambda^2)$ in equation (I-16), which is just a phase). Thorson and Delos^{7a} point out that pss theory may give reasonably good answers for certain types of problems. In degeneracy mediated processes, for example, $\vec{P}_{jn}(R)$ may be very large in the region of neardegeneracy (cf. equation (I-15)), while $\vec{A}_{jn}(R)$ is much smaller, and it may be an adequate approximation to ignore $\vec{A}(R)$ altogether.

ii. f = 0. This has the effect of making the geometric centre (halfway between A and B) the origin of electron co-ordinates, and Riley,⁹ and Schmid¹⁸ have pointed out that such a correction may often be useful. It removes the spurious effects of nuclear mass asymmetry from pss theory, but does not remove the remaining errors, due to electron translation with respect to the geometric

centre.

iii. f = +1. This choice makes nucleus B the reference origin for electron co-ordinates. The asymptotic wavefunctions describing electronic states bound to B are then exact, but those associated with A remain incorrect. Matrix elements linking two states on B have the correct asymptotic behaviour, but, as Riera and Salin¹⁷ point out, there is no improvement for couplings involving states on A. This method can be used to calculate total charge exchange probabilities, but not individual transition cross sections. It has been used by Piacentini and Salin,¹⁹ and, more recently, by Winter and Lane,²⁰ to treat charge exchange collisions in HeH⁺⁺.

iv. Scheme of Melius and Goddard.²¹ These authors attempt to correct for etf effects by taking an origin which is effectively a weighted average over a molecular electronic state distribution. While $\vec{P}(R)$ will generally vanish asymptotically for electrically asymmetric systems, this method cannot yield a consistently correct theory, and it will certainly fail for symmetric systems, such as H_2^+ . Riera and Salin¹⁷ have given a detailed criticism of this scheme.

b. Asymptotic A Approximation

Chen et al.²² propose to correct the nonadiabatic couplings, by subtracting from $\vec{P}(R)$ its asymptotic value, i.e., $\vec{A}(R) = \vec{A}(\infty) = - \vec{P}(\infty)$. They state that this can be justified by a formalism similar to that of "renormalisation" in quantum electrodynamics; it does not correspond to any simple assumption about f. In some special cases, this may be a useful approximation, but it is not generally adequate, as is pointed out both by Thorson and Delos, ⁷a and by Riera and Salin.¹⁷ Many pss matrix elements are spuriously large at finite R-values, even though they vanish asymptotically, and, in such cases, this method offers no improvement over pss theory. The ionising transitions provide a good example of the failure of this method.

The rest of this subsection deals with methods in category (2) described above, those which satisfy all asymptotic boundary conditions.

c. Asymptotic f Approximation

This is the method introduced by Bates and Mc-Carroll.³ Equivalent schemes, expressed in a variety of formalisms, have been developed by several other writers, notably Hahn²³ and Matveyenko.²⁴ This method assigns f =+1 for any state which is asymptotically associated with nucleus B, and f = -1 for states associated with A. For asymmetric systems, a unique, one-to-one correlation exists between molecular states and asymptotic atomic states; in symmetric systems, however, the correlation is not one-to-one. Bates and McCarroll³ proposed a modification to handle this case, but it leads to complicated

non-orthogonalities in the basis states, and to spurious couplings between states of \underline{q} and \underline{u} symmetry.

Even for asymmetric systems, at finite R, this approach does not give a very satisfactory description of states which are genuinely "molecular" in character. I will compare the results obtained using this approximation with those from the more sophisticated switching functions reported in this thesis. For HeH⁺⁺, the asymptotic f approximation is very good in some cases, but poor in others; it has been widely used in actual calculations. d. Molecular Switching Function--Single f

In order to accomodate the molecular character of an electron in a slow collision, Schneiderman and Russek⁶ introduced the idea of a switching function. If the electron is near A, f = -1; and, if it is near B, f = +1. To maintain orthogonality, they used a single switching function for all electronic states. This device takes care of the asymptotic behaviour, and also produces a realistic correction in the interaction region. The only problem is how to choose f, and different authors have used different forms, with varying success.

i. Schneiderman and Russek⁶

 $f = \cos\theta / \{1 + (\alpha/R)^2\}, \alpha \text{ variable} \qquad (I-20)$



ii. Mittleman and Tai²⁵

$$f = (1-S^2) \{1-\exp(-2a\eta)\}/\{(1+S^2) [1+\exp(-2a\eta)]\}$$

 $-4 \, \mathrm{S} \, \exp(-a_{\eta}) \}, \quad (I-2l_{a})$

where

$$S = \{1 + aR + (aR)^2/3\} \exp(-aR),$$
 (I-21b)

$$a = 27/17$$
, $\eta = (r_{\lambda} - r_{\mu})/R$. (I-21c)

iii. Taulbjerg et al.²⁶

 $f = (n/2) (3-n^2)/\{1 + (\alpha/R)^2\}, \alpha \text{ variable (I-22)}$

iv. Levy and Thorson¹

$$f = (r_A^2 - r_B^2) / (r_A^2 + r_B^2)$$
 (I-23)

f. Molecular Switching Functions--state-dependent f's

If we are prepared to push the physical interpretation of the switching function a little further, then we may expect f to be dependent on the bound state with which it is associated. As I pointed out earlier, for ionising transitions, the pss matrix elements are very large and
very numerous; the corrected couplings are also very sensitive to the choice of f, and this was one of the reasons for the studies of switching functions made by Thorson and coworkers.^{1,2}

For H_2^+ , Thorson and Levy^{lb} introduced the form

 $f = tanh{\beta(R) R \eta},$

(I-24)

where $\beta(R)$ is to be chosen for each initial bound state. Of course, if we use state-dependent f's, the electronic basis is once again non-orthogonal. In practice, this idea was remarkably successful: they found² that it was possible to choose $\beta(R)$ such that the number, size, and range of couplings are all drastically reduced. Couplings to all but the first two or three continuum partial waves are eliminated, and the spurious long-range behaviour of the remaining couplings is cancelled (the residual couplings have a range of about 10 au.). The corrected matrix elements to the higher partial waves are often as much as four orders of magnitude smaller than the corresponding pss values.

The calculations which form the core of this thesis confirm these regults and extend them to other bound states of H_2^+ , and to systems in which the nuclear charges are unequal, in particular, to HeH⁺⁺. After experimenting with various f's, I found that the most suitable one was

 $f = \tanh\{R[(\beta/2)\{(Z_{A}+Z_{B})\eta+(Z_{A}-Z_{B})\} + \alpha \ln(Z_{B}/Z_{A})]\},\$ (1-25)

where α and β are variable parameters. The method used to select the parameters, α and β , is more systematic than that used by Thorson et al.,² but the same spectacular reductions are observed. The parameters which achieve this are independent of the continuum state properties and of the type of coupling involved (radial or angular), but <u>do</u> appear to be characteristic of the initial bound state. This behaviour is illustrated exhaustively in the thesis, and establishes beyond any reasonable doubt that the switching function approach to the problem of electron translation factors has a sound physical basis.

Since the switching functions determined here are, in some sense, characteristic of their corresponding bound states, it is reasonable to propose their use, not only in ionisation calculations, but also in more general, closecoupling problems. I shall discuss this proposal at some length in the final chapter of the thesis.

3. Formal Considerations

One difficulty with the whole subject of translation factor corrections has been the lack of a rigorous and fully quantum mechanical formulation; most discussions have used semiclassical or impact parameter treatments only. Recently, however, Thorson and Delos⁷ have presented a formulation which runs parallel to pss theory, remedies all its defects, and establishes the correct form for the coupled equations to replace (I-9). They obtained the same results by two independent derivations, both of which use a single, molecular switching function. The first method^{7a} introduces an etf explicitly, and uses a quantum mechanical transcription formula to eliminate the heavy particle velocity. The second derivation 7b develops an idea originally proposed by Mittleman: 27 the switching function is used to define a non-linear co-ordinate transformation from molecular co-ordinates, (\vec{r}, \vec{R}) , to new cobrdinates, $(\vec{r}, \vec{\xi})$, and the etf corrections are generated in the transformed Hamiltonian. In effect, this approach returns to the original idea of Born and Oppenheimer; 14 the new "scattering co-ordinate," $\overline{\xi}$, is defined in just such a way that the internal electronic motion is properly separated from the translational motion of the electron and nuclei, and a separate etf is not needed.

Some aspects of the problem remain unresolved. Other than the asymptotic constraints, the formulation of Thorson and Delos⁷ gives no criteria for specifying the switching function. Formally, this presents no difficulty; provided one uses a complete set of electronic states, the solution to a scattering problem must be independent of the choice of f. However, in practice, the choice of f may have a significant effect on the behaviour of $\vec{P}(R)$ + $\vec{A}(R)$, as the results presented in this thesis show. It is

not known whether or not it is possible to give a unique, or "optimum," definition of either f or of the matrix, $\underline{A}(R)$, at finite R-values. Since a real calculation must use a severely truncated basis, an effective scheme for choosing f is of considerable practical, as well as formal, importance.

Using the classical trajectory approximation, Riley and Green²⁸ have used the Euler-Lagrange method to obtain equations which should, in principle, determine the form of electron translation factors, and, hence, f. However, these equations are very complicated, and, so far, they have only been solved for cases where f does not depend on the electron position.

In this thesis, I have taken an empirical approach to the determination of f: we have found, by calculation, that it is possible to choose an f for each bound state, "Which makes a large number of couplings from that state to the continuum very small. We think that the existence of these "optimum" f's is an interesting result, and, possibly, also a significant one. Since these f's are state-dependent, the results are not strictly compatible with the formulation given by Thorson and Delos.⁷ However, the derivation can be extended to include the case of different f's for different states, at least in the 'classical trajectory limit; this will be covered in the Appendix.

D. Reader's Guide

In the next chapter, the basic theory of electron translation factors is described in detail. After he has read and digested this chapter, the reader is advised to return to chapter I and re-read section B; it should make a lot more sense the second time around. Chapter II is followed by two highly technical chapters, dealing with the computation of wavefunctions (III), and matrix elements (IV). On a first reading of chapter III, the reader should probably look at sections A, B-1, and C-1 only, which will provide useful background, without too much detail.

Chapter IV is a different matter. Sections A, B, and F summarise the first three chapters and set the scene for the results. I am very much afraid that sections C, D, and E will defeat all but the most dedicated reader, since they deal in great detail with the computation of individual matrix elements, and hence consist mostly of algebra. They provide a recipe for anyone wishing to carry out similar calculations, but should be read (if at all) only when the reader feels he has understood the rest of the thesis.

The results of my work are presented in chapter V. The way in which the switching functions were chosen is described, and some pictures of these "optimum" f's are given. These are followed by some two-dozen pictures of the resulting "optimised" matrix elements. It is ultimately these pictures which provide the justification for the etf approach to slow collision theory. The systematic cancellation of the pss matrix elements by several orders of magnitude is not fortuitous. In the final section of this chapter, some of the implications of these results are discussed.

CHAPTER II

THEORY

<u>,</u>

A. Co-ordinates

Consider a system composed of three particles, with masses, m_i , i = 1, 2, 3; and co-ordinates, \bar{R}_i^0 , with respect to an external origin, and \bar{r}_i , with respect to the centre of mass of the system. Some other co-ordinates will also be useful (see figure 1).

i. Definition of the centre of mass:

$$\Sigma_{i} m_{i} \dot{\vec{r}}_{i} = 0. \qquad (II-1)$$

ii. Centre of mass, \dot{R}_{CM}^{0} :

$$\dot{\bar{R}}_{CM}^{0} = \Sigma_{i} m_{i} \dot{\bar{R}}_{i}^{0} / m_{T},$$
 (II-2)

$$\vec{r}_{i} = \vec{R}_{i}^{\ 0} - \vec{R}_{CM}^{\ 0}, \quad m_{T} = \Sigma_{i}^{\ m_{i}}.$$
 (II-3)

iii. Centre of mass of A and B, \vec{R}_{AB} :

$$\vec{R}_{AB}^{\ 0} = (m_1 \vec{R}_1^{\ 0} + m_2 \vec{R}_2^{\ 0}) / (m_1 + m_2).$$
(II-4)



iv. Relative co-ordinates, \dot{q}_1 , \dot{q}_2 :

$$\vec{q}_1 = \vec{r}_2 - \vec{r}_1$$
, (II-5a)

$$\dot{\vec{q}}_2 = \dot{\vec{r}}_3 - (m_1 \dot{\vec{r}}_1 + m_2 \dot{\vec{r}}_2) / (m_1 + m_2).$$
 (II-5b)

It is well known that we can write the total kinetic energy of the system as

$$\mathbf{T} = \mathbf{T}_{CM} + \mathbf{T}', \qquad (II-6a)$$

where

$$T_{CM} = \frac{1}{2} m_{T} (\dot{\vec{R}}_{CM}^{0})^{2}, \qquad (II-6b)$$

$$T' = \frac{1}{2} \mu_{1} (\dot{\vec{q}}_{1})^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \mu_{2} (\dot{\vec{q}}_{2})^{2}, \qquad (II-6c)$$

$$\mu_{1} = m_{1} m_{2} / (m_{1} + m_{2}), \qquad \mu_{2} = m_{3} (m_{1} + m_{2}) / m_{T}. \qquad (II-6d)$$

We can therefore factor out the centre of mass motion and write

$$\Psi_{\rm T} = \Psi(\vec{q}_1, \vec{q}_2) \exp(i\vec{K}_{\rm CM} \cdot \vec{R}_{\rm CM}^0)$$
 (II-7)

The internal motion is described by the co-ordinates, \dot{q}_1 , the vector joining two of the particles; and \dot{q}_2 , the position vector of the third particle, measured from the centre of mass of the other two.

Clearly, there are three ways in which these coordinates can be chosen. For systems composed of two heavy particles, masses M_A , M_B , and an electron, mass m_0 , they are called the "molecular," "A-atom," and "B-atom" co-ordinates. These are illustrated in figure 2. i, Molecular co-ordinates, \vec{R} , \vec{r} (figure 2a):

$$\vec{q}_1 = \vec{R};$$
 $\vec{q}_2 = \vec{r};$ (II-8a)

$$\mu = M_{A}M_{B}/(M_{A}+M_{B}), \qquad m = m_{0}(M_{A}+M_{B})/M_{T}; \qquad (II-8b)$$

$$M_{T} = M_{A} + M_{B} + m_{0}, \quad \lambda = (M_{A} - M_{B}) / (M_{A} + M_{B}). \quad (II-9)$$

 λ is called the mass asymmetry parameter. It is also useful to define \vec{r}_g , the position vector of the electron, measured from the geometric centre (halfway between A and B):

$$\vec{r}_{g} = r - \frac{1}{3} \lambda \vec{R}. \qquad (II-10)$$

ii. A-atom co-ordinates, \vec{R}_A , \vec{r}_A (figure 2b):

$$\vec{q}_2 = \vec{R}_A = \{M_A M_T / (M_A + M_B)\}\vec{R} - \{m_0 / (M_A + m_0)\}\vec{r}, (II-1la)\}$$



$$\vec{q}_1 = \vec{r}_A = \vec{r} - \frac{1}{2} (\lambda - 1) \vec{R};$$
 (II-11b)

$$\mu_{A} = M_{B} (M_{A} + m_{0}) / M_{T}, \qquad m_{A} = M_{A} m_{0} / (M_{A} + m_{0}). \quad (II-12)$$

iii. B-atom co-ordinates, \vec{R}_B , \vec{r}_B (figure 2c):

$$\vec{q}_{2} = \vec{R}_{B} = \{M_{B}M_{T}/(M_{A}+M_{B})\}\vec{R} + \{m_{0}/(M_{B}+m_{0})\}\vec{r}, (II-13a)$$

$$\vec{q}_{1} = \vec{r}_{B} = \vec{r} - \frac{1}{2} (\lambda+1) \vec{R}; \qquad (II-13b)$$

$$\mu_{\rm B} = M_{\rm A}'(M_{\rm B} + m_{\rm 0}) / M_{\rm T}', \qquad m_{\rm B} = M_{\rm B} m_{\rm 0} / (M_{\rm B} + m_{\rm 0}). \quad (II-14)$$

I want now to introduce a function, f_J , where J is A or B, defined such that $f_B = +1$, and $f_A = -1$. With this device, we can use a single form to express both sets of atomic co-ordinates, in terms of molecular co-ordinates.

$$\vec{R}_{J} = (\mu/\mu_{J}) \{\vec{R} + (m/2\mu)(f_{J}+\lambda)\vec{r}\},$$
 (II-15a)

$$\vec{\tilde{r}}_{J} = \vec{r} - \frac{1}{2} (f_{J} + \lambda) \vec{R}; \qquad (II - 15b)$$

$$\mu_{J}/\mu = \{1 + (m_{0}/2\mu) (1 + f_{J}\lambda)\} (M_{A} + M_{B})/M_{T}, (II - 16a)$$

$$m_0/m_J = 1 + (m_0/2\mu) (1+f_J\lambda).$$
 (II-16b)

Equations (II-15) and (II-16) are needed for the next

section, in which I examine the boundary conditions on \mathcal{Y} and show why the pss theory gives a poor description of collision processes. Two other equations will also be useful:

$$(M_{\rm A} + M_{\rm B}) = 1 + \frac{1}{4} (1 - \lambda^2) m_0 / \mu$$

 $= \mu(M_{A} + M_{B}) / M_{T} = \tilde{\mu}.$

(II-17a)

(II-17b)

B. Asymptotic Boundary Conditions and Translation Factors

1. Origin of the Translation Factor^{7a}

Suppose that asymptotically the electron is in the atomic state, $\phi_{n_J}^0$, on atom J, with energy, ε_{n_J} . Then the asymptotic solution to the time-independent Schrödinger' equation is

$$\Psi \sim \phi_{n_J}^0(\vec{r}_J) \exp(i\vec{k}_J,\vec{R}_J), \qquad (II-18)$$

where

ي !

$$h^{2}k_{J}^{2} = 2\mu_{J}(E-\epsilon_{n_{J}}).$$
 (II-19)

We now transform the plane wave factor to molecular coordinates, using equation (II-15a). However, this must be done carefully, since the appearance of the <u>atomic</u> reduced mass, μ_J , in equation (II-19) means that the wave-vector, \vec{k}_J , is an intrinsic function of the atomic configuration. (The extrinsic dependence on ε_{n_J} is not important.) This configuration dependence can be eliminated by defining a <u>molecular</u> wave-vector, \vec{k} , such that

$$\vec{k}_{J} = (\mu_{J}/\mu)^{\frac{1}{2}} \vec{k};$$

and this implies that

$$\vec{k}_{J} \cdot \vec{R}_{J} = (\mu/\mu_{J})^{\frac{1}{2}} \vec{k} \cdot \{\vec{R} + (m/2\mu) (f_{J} + \lambda) \vec{r}\}.$$
 (II-21)

But $(m/\mu) \ll 1$, so we expand (μ/μ_J) in powers of (m/μ) , and keep only the lowest terms. From equations (II-16a) and (II-17a), it can be seen that

$$(\mu/\mu_{J})^{\frac{1}{2}} \simeq 1 - (m_{0}/8\mu) (1+2f_{J}\lambda+\lambda^{2}), \qquad (II-22)$$

and

$$\vec{k}_{j} \cdot \vec{R}_{j} \simeq \vec{k} \cdot \{\vec{R} + (m/\mu) \ \vec{s}\},$$
 (II-23)

where

$$\vec{s} = \frac{1}{2} (f_J + \lambda) \vec{r}_g - (1 - \lambda^2) \vec{R}/8.$$
 (II-24)

The term, $exp[(im/\mu)\vec{k}.\vec{s}]$, which thus appears in

(II-20)

equation (II-18), is called the electron translation factor; and, if we define a classical heavy-particle velocity, $\vec{v} = h\vec{k}/\mu$, it can be given a simple physical interpretation. $(f_J + \lambda)\vec{v}/2$ is just the translational velocity of the electron, with respect to the centre of mass of the nuclei, due to the motion of the nucleus to which it is bound; and the remaining term represents the electron transport kinetic energy, due to the nuclear motion. Noting that $f_J^2 = 1$, for a straight-line trajectory $\vec{R} = \vec{b} + \vec{v}t$ (\vec{b} is called the impact parameter), we can re-write equation (II-23) as

$$\vec{k}_{\tau} \cdot \vec{k}_{\tau} \simeq \vec{k} \cdot \vec{k} + (m/\hbar) (\vec{w} \cdot \vec{r} - w^2 t/2),$$

where

$$\vec{\mathbf{w}} = (\mathbf{f}_{T} + \lambda) \vec{\mathbf{v}}/2.$$

(II-25b)

(II-25a)

Part of the kinetic energy is independent of the system configuration (i.e., of f_J), and it is convenient to isolate this term:

$$\vec{k}_{J} \cdot \vec{R}_{J} \simeq \vec{k} \cdot [\vec{R} + (m/\mu)\vec{s}'] - (m/\hbar)(1-\lambda^2)v^2t/8, \quad (II-26a)$$

where

$$\vec{s}' = \frac{1}{2} (f_J^{+\lambda}) \vec{r}_g.$$
 (II-26b)

Alternatively, we could absorb the final term into the definition of the molecular wave-vector. If we take

$$\vec{k}_{T} = (\mu_{T}/\tilde{\mu})^{\frac{1}{2}} \vec{k}^{\dagger},$$
 (II-27a)

where $\tilde{\mu}$ is defined in equation (II-17b), and notice that

$$m_0/\mu = m/\tilde{\mu},$$
 (II-27b)

then it is easy to see that

$$\vec{k}_{j} \cdot \vec{R}_{j} \approx \vec{k}' \cdot [\vec{R} + (m/\tilde{\mu})\vec{s}'].$$
 (II-28)

2. Defects of PSS Theory a. Introduction

I want now to examine the pss theory in the light of this study of the boundary conditions. As the reader will recall, in the pss method, the wavefunction is expanded in terms of the Born-Oppenheimer, molecular eigenfunctions (equation (I-8)):¹¹

(II-29)

$$\Psi(\vec{r},\vec{k}) = \Sigma_n \chi_n(\vec{k}) \phi_n(\vec{r};\vec{k}),$$

and the resulting equations, (I-9), are coupled by the

matrix, $\vec{P}(R)$, where

$$\vec{P}_{jn}(R) = -i\hbar \langle \phi_j | (\vec{\nabla}_R) + \phi_n \rangle. \qquad (II-30)$$

In pss theory, individual terms in the expansion, (II-29), are interpreted asymptotically as scattering wavefunctions for electronic states, ϕ_n^{∞} [i.e., the states $\phi_n(\vec{r};\vec{R},R\rightarrow\infty)$], and these states are presumed to correspond in some simple way to the exact atomic states, $\phi_{n_J}^0$. For simplicity, let us first consider electrically asymmetric systems, in which this correspondence is one-to-one. If one can express the exact plane-wave state, (II-18), as a single product, $\phi_n^{\infty}\chi_n(\vec{R})$, then, and only then, one can interpret this product as a scattering wavefunction for the atomic state, $\phi_{n_J}^0$.

However, it is immediately obvious that <u>no electron</u> <u>translation factor appears</u> in the product $\phi_n^{\infty} \chi_n(\vec{R})$. For our purposes, this is the important problem, but there is another, minor error, related to the fact that ϕ_n^{∞} is not <u>exactly</u> equal to $\phi_{n_J}^{0}$; for completeness, we will dispose of this latter defect first.

b. Asymptotic Electronic States

The exact atomic states are eigenfunctions of a Hamiltonian, h_{at}^{J} , which uses the <u>atomic</u> electron reduced mass, m_{J} whereas the <u>molecular</u> reduced mass, m, appears in the Hamiltonian, h_{a} . Thus, asymptotically,

$$h_{at}^{J} = h_{e} - (\hbar^{2}/2) (m_{J}^{-1} - m^{-1}) (\nabla_{r}^{2})_{\vec{R}};$$
 (II-31)

and the final term can be treated as a small perturbation, as it is of order (m/μ) times the electron kinetic energy. It then follows that the atomic eigenvalue, ϵ_{n_J} , is given, correct to first order, by

$$\mathbf{\hat{n}_{J}} \approx \lim_{R \to \infty} \{ \epsilon_{n}(R) / - (h^{2}/2) (m_{J}^{-1} - m^{-1}) < \phi_{n} | (\nabla_{r}^{2})_{R}^{+} | \phi_{n}^{>} \},$$
(II-32a)

where ϕ_n tends to the approximate atomic state, ϕ_n^{σ} . Using equations (II-15) and (16), we can rewrite the second term, so that

$$\mathbf{n}_{T} \simeq \lim_{R \to \infty} \{ \varepsilon_{n}(R) - (\hbar^{2}/2\mu) < \phi_{n} | (\nabla_{R}^{2}) + | \phi_{n} \rangle \}. \qquad (II-32b)$$

As equation (I-11) shows, this correction <u>does</u> appear in the pss coupled equations, (I-9), a fact which is wellknown;²⁹⁻³¹ as one might expect, it does not appear in the classical trajectory equations, (I-13). Unless one is interested in isotope splitting effects, these corrections to the atomic binding energies are unimportant; I propose to ignore them and assume that the molecular states provide an adequate asymptotic description of the limiting atomic states. In their rigorous formulation, Thorson and Delos^{7b} treat this point much more carefully, and show that the corrected theory also recovers the correct

binding energies, to the required accuracy in (m/μ) .

In electrically symmetric systems, the Born-Oppenheimer wavefunctions occur in asymptotically degenerate, (g, u) pairs. However, limiting atomic states can be constructed as linear combinations of the g and u molecular states,

 $\phi_{n_{J}} = \lim_{R \to \infty} 2^{-\frac{1}{3}} \{ \phi_{n}^{g}(\vec{r};\vec{R}) + f_{J} \phi_{n}^{u}(\vec{r};\vec{R}) \}, \quad (II - 3)$

after which, the discussion proceeds as before. c. Translation Factors PSS Theory

Let us now turn ttention to the really important defect of pss theory. Suppose that the electron is asymptotically in state ϕ_{n_r} , where

 $\phi_{\mathbf{n}}(\vec{\mathbf{r}};\vec{\mathbf{R}}) \sim \phi_{\mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{J}}}(\vec{\mathbf{r}}_{\mathbf{J}}), \text{ as } \mathbf{R} \rightarrow \infty.$ (II-34)

An asymptotic solution to the pss equations (I-9) may be written

$$\Psi \sim \phi_{n_{\tau}} \exp(i\vec{k}.\vec{R}),$$

where

$$\hbar^2 k^2 = 2\mu [E - \varepsilon_n^{(\infty)}];$$

1 \$

(II - 35)

and, in pss theory, this is assumed to be equivalent to (II-18). However, from (II-26), or (II-28), it can be seen that no translation factor appears, and hence, Ψ as defined by (II-35) is not equivalent to (II-18). Only by using a complete expansion (including the electronic continuum), can one make the form, (II-29), represent a solution like (II-18); such an expansion is clearly impractical. Since individual terms in the pss expansion do not represent real, physical states, it is not surprising that the couplings between them show unphysical behaviour.

To show how the spurious asymptotic coupling arises, let us examine the nonadiabatic coupling matrix, $\vec{P}(R)$, in detail. $\vec{P}(R)$ is the matrix of the operator, $-i\hbar(\vec{\nabla}_R)_T^+$, in the space of the Born-Oppenheimer functions, and it is evaluated holding the electron fixed, with respect to the centre of mass of the nuclei. From (II-15b), it can be seen that

 $-i\hbar (\vec{\nabla}_R)_{\vec{r}} = -i\hbar [(\vec{\nabla}_R)_{\vec{r}_J} - \frac{1}{2} (f_J + \lambda) (\vec{\nabla}_{r_J})_{\vec{R}}]: (II-37)$

Asymptotically, the contribution to $\vec{P}(R)$ arising from the first term in equation (II-37) represents deformation of the adiabatic wavefunctions, as \vec{R} changes, and it must vanish, since, according to equation (II-34), the $\phi_n(\vec{r};\vec{R})$ become functions only of \vec{r}_J . However, some states asymptotically associated with the same centre will be

connected by the momentum operator, $-i\hbar(\vec{\nabla}_{IJ})_{\vec{R}}$, and, for such states, $\vec{P}_{jn}(R)$ will tend to a constant, as $R+\infty$. This term represents the displacement of a wavefunction, without deformation, and it is entirely spurious. The physically-appropriate reference origin is atom J, not the CMN. At finite R-values, it is not possible to decompose $\vec{P}(R)$ uniquely into deformation terms plus displacement effects, but it is clear nevertheless, that the latter are often large, and that they have no place in the theory.

3. Modified Electronic Basis

From the above discussion, it is clear that we can avoid the defects of pss theory by including an account of electron translation in the electronic basis. In the classical trajectory approximation, we can do this simply by replacing the Born-Oppenheimer basis with the modified states,

$$\Phi_{n}{\dot{\vec{r}}; \dot{\vec{R}}(t)} = \phi_{n}{\dot{\vec{r}}; \dot{\vec{R}}(t)} F_{n},$$
(II-38)

where F_n is an electron translation factor, defined by

$$\mathbf{F}_{n} = \exp\{(i\pi/\hbar) \ \vec{v} \cdot \vec{s}_{n}\}.$$
(II-39)

The exponent, \dot{s}_n , must tend to the correct asymptotic value, given by equation (II-24), but it should also reflect the fact that the electron is <u>molecular</u> for much of the collision, with appreciable density near both nuclei. For this reason, we introduce a molecular switching function, $f(\vec{r};\vec{R})$,⁶ defined such that

$$\lim_{R \to \infty} f(\vec{r}; \vec{R}) = f_{T}, r_{T} \text{ finite;} \qquad (II-40a)$$

 $\lim_{r \to \infty} f(\vec{r}; \vec{R}) = 0, R \text{ finite}; \qquad (II-40b)$

$$f(-\vec{r};\vec{R}) = -f(\vec{r};\vec{R}), \quad if \quad Z_{A} = Z_{B};$$
 (II-40c)

but f is otherwise unconstrained. We will thus obtain a suitable etf by defining $\dot{\vec{s}}_n$, such that

$$\vec{v} \cdot \vec{s}_n = \vec{v} \cdot \vec{s} - \int^t (1 - \lambda^2) v^2 dt' / 8,$$
 (II-41a)

 $\vec{s} = \frac{1}{2} (f + \lambda) \vec{r}_{g}$ (II-41b)

Note that the \dot{s} of equations (II-41) tends? asymptotically, to the \dot{s} ' of equation (II-28). In equation (II-38), I have allowed for different F_n 's for different states; this flexibility would be provided by choosing distinct f_n 's in the definition of \dot{s} . However, for the moment, I shall take the simpler case of a single, common f, and generalise the mesults obtained later.

From the point of view of a fully quantum mechanical theory, the modified basis is still defective, since the

classical nuclear velocity appears in the translation factor. In their first formulation, Thorson and Delos^{7a} introduce an ad hoc, quantum mechanical transcription to eliminate \vec{x} ; their second derivation, ^{7b} based on a coordinate transformation, gives the same final result and justifies the transcription. Here, I shall use a classical trajectory approach, which is much simpler, but still retains all the **constant** features.

C. Classical Trajectory Equations

In this section, I will derive the appropriate coupled equations to replace equations (I-13), using a basis of Born-Oppenheimer adiabatic states, modified by a translation factor. We assume that the nuclei follow a specified classical path, $\vec{R}(t)$, with velocity $\vec{v} = d\vec{R}/dt$, and write the solution to the time-dependent Schrödinger equation as

 $T = \Sigma_n a_n(t) \Phi_n(\vec{r}; \vec{R}) \exp\{-i \int^t \varepsilon_n(t') dt' / \hbar\}, (II-42)$

(II - 43)

where $\Phi_n(\vec{r};\vec{R})$ is defined by equations (II-38) to (II-41). This implies the system of coupled equations

$$i\hbar \dot{b} = [h + \dot{v}.\dot{D}] b,$$

where

$$b_{n} = a_{n} \exp\{-i\int^{t} \varepsilon_{n}(t')dt'/\hbar\}, \qquad (II-44)$$

$$h_{jn} = \langle \phi_{j} | h_{e} | \phi_{n} \rangle, \qquad (II-45)$$

$$\bar{b}_{jn} = -i\hbar \langle \phi_{j} | (\bar{\nabla}_{R})^{+}_{r} | \phi_{n} \rangle. \qquad (II-46)$$

47

Now

$$h_{jn} = \varepsilon_{n} \delta_{jn} + \langle \phi_{j} | F^{\dagger}[h_{e}, F] | \phi_{n} \rangle, \qquad (II-47)$$

$$\vec{P}_{jn}(R) = -i\hbar \langle \phi_{j} | (\vec{\nabla}_{R}) + \phi_{n} \rangle; \qquad (II-48)$$

and the remaining term is thus

÷.

$$\langle \phi_{i} | F^{*} [[h_{e}, F] - i\hbar \partial F / \partial t \} | \phi_{n} \rangle.$$
 (II-49)

If we discard the terms in (II-49) involving $\partial v/\partial t$, and those of order v^2 , we find that

$$i\hbar \dot{b} = [\varepsilon + \vec{v}. (\vec{P} + \vec{A})] \dot{b} \prec$$
 (II-50a)

or

$$i\hbar \dot{a}_{j} = \Sigma_{n} \dot{v} \cdot (\dot{P}_{jn} + \dot{A}_{jn}) a_{n}(t) \exp\{-i \int^{t} (\varepsilon_{n} - \varepsilon_{j}) dt' / \hbar\},$$
(II-50b)

$$A_{in}(R) = (im/h) \langle \phi_i | [h_e, s] | \phi_n \rangle$$
. (II-51)

Equations (II-50) are the desired classical trajectory equations. The only difference between (II-50) and the pss equations, (I-13), is that the nonadiabatic coupling matrix, $\vec{P}(R)$, has been replaced by $\vec{P}(R) + \vec{A}(R)$.

D. Effect of Translation Factor Corrections

From equation (II-51), it can be seen that

$$\vec{A}_{jn}(R) = (im/\hbar) (\epsilon_j - \epsilon_n) <\phi_j |\vec{s}| \phi_n > (II-52a)$$
$$= -i\hbar <\phi_j | (\vec{\nabla}_r \cdot \vec{s}) \cdot \cdot \cdot \vec{\nabla}_r + \frac{1}{2} (\nabla_r^2 \cdot \vec{s}) | \phi_n >; (II-52b)$$

and the reader will recall that

$$\dot{\mathbf{s}} = \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{f} + \lambda) \dot{\mathbf{r}}_{a}. \tag{II-53}$$

Therefore, as $R \rightarrow \infty$,

$$\vec{A}_{jn}(R) \sim \frac{1}{2} (f_{J} + \lambda) < \phi_{j_{T}} | (-i\hbar \vec{\nabla}_{r_{T}}) | \phi_{n_{T}} > . \qquad (II - 54a)$$

But, from equation (II-37), we see that

$$\vec{P}_{jn}(\mathbf{R}) \sim -\frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{f}_{J} + \lambda) < \phi_{j_{J}} | (-i\hbar \vec{\nabla}_{r_{J}}) | \phi_{n_{J}} > . \quad (II-54b)$$

Thus, $\underline{\vec{A}}(R)$ exactly cancels the spurious, infinite-range couplings contained in $\underline{\vec{P}}(R)$:

$$\lim_{R\to\infty} \left[\frac{\vec{p}}{P}(R) + \frac{\vec{A}}{A}(R) \right] = \vec{0}$$

(II-55)

(II-56c)

Of course, that was the main reason for introducing the etf in the first place!

For systems with unequal nuclear masses, $\vec{P}(R)$ contains a term proportional to λ , since the origin of electron co-ordinates is the centre of mass of the nuclei. However, nonadiabatic couplings are supposed to represent properties of the electronic wavefunctions and thus should be independent of λ . The additional term is fictitious, and it is exactly cancelled at all R by a corresponding term in $\vec{A}(R)$. This is easily shown: .

$$(-i\hbar \vec{\nabla}_{R})_{\vec{r}} = (-i\hbar \vec{\nabla}_{R})_{\vec{r}} - \frac{1}{2} \lambda (-i\hbar \vec{\nabla}_{r})_{\vec{R}}, \qquad (II-56a)$$

and

ألحز

$$(im/\hbar)[h_{e}, \dot{s}] = (im/\hbar)[h_{e}, \dot{s}_{g}] + \frac{1}{2}\lambda(-i\hbar \vec{\nabla}_{r})\dot{R}, (II-56b)$$

where

 $\dot{s}_{q} = \dot{s} f \dot{r}_{q}$

The second term in (II-56b) exactly cancels the second term in (II-56a), so we have the result that

$$\underline{\vec{P}}(R) + \underline{\vec{A}}(R) = \underline{\vec{P}}^{g}(R) + \underline{\vec{A}}^{g}(R), \qquad (II-57a)$$

where

$$\vec{P}_{jn}^{g}(R) = -i\hbar \langle \phi_{j} | \cdot (\vec{\nabla}_{R}) + \eta_{g} \rangle,$$

and

$$\vec{A}_{jn}^{g}(R) = (im/\hbar) \langle \phi_{j} | [h_{e}, \dot{s}_{g}] | \phi_{n} \rangle.$$
 (II-57c)

How is $\underline{\vec{A}}(R)$ to be interpreted? At large R, we have seen that $\underline{\vec{P}}(R)$ can be separated into a distortion term, which tends to zero, and a displacement term. The latter is spurious, and it is exactly cancelled by $\underline{\vec{A}}(R)$. We may suppose that $\underline{\vec{A}}(R)$ plays much the same role at finite Rvalues: it identifies and removes that part of $\underline{\vec{P}}(R)$ which represents displacement without deformation, leaving only the distortion effects. However, since there is no obvious and unique way of isolating just the translation effects, $\underline{\vec{A}}(R)$ can only be defined uniquely in the asymptotic limit. This ambiguity is reflected in the fact that the theory gives no way of determining f in the interaction region. Formally, this does not matter: the set of

(II-57b)

Born-Oppenheimer states is complete, and any "sensible" f which satisfies the boundary conditions will do.

In practice, the choice of f is important, since one must always work with a truncated basis, and, in many cases, the corrected matrix elements are very sensitive to the choice of f. In this work, I examine the way in which the corrected matrix elements for ionising transitions depend on the switching function. The behaviour of these matrix elements allows us to choose very clear-cut, "sensible" f's.

Two tasks are required to complete this chapter. In section E, I give a brief account of the theory of directimpact ionisation in slow collisions, to provide a background for the examination of ionisation matrix elements. Finally, section F deals with the transformation of electron co-ordinates from a space-fixed reference frame, to a frame rotating with the molecular axis.

E. Ionisation in near-adiabatic * Collisions

1. Introduction

As I pointed out in chapter I, ionising transitions cannot be handled within the close-coupled expansion scheme of pss theory (even if electron translation effects are included). The expansion uses a truncated basis of adiabatic states, and assumes that (in a slow collision) electrons in those states behave nearly adiabatically. But, because of their high degeneracy, the continuum and Rydberg levels can never behave adiabatically, and to include them in a straightforward pss expansion would mean using an intractably large basis.

However, in direct impact processes, large changes in the electronic energy occur upon transition, and hence the probability of such transitions is small, at least in slow collisions. Thus, one may be able to treat ionisation from tightly bound electronic states by a perturbative approach, in which the perturbation causing transitions is the "deformation" of the initial-state wavefunction, projected onto the continuum states of the system. What is then needed is a description of these states, and a definition of the probabilities of transitions to them.

A first-order perturbation theory of direct impact ionisation in slow atomic collisions has been given by Thorson and Levy.^{1a} It leads to a "distorted-wave" approximation for the ionisation cross sections, and the reader is referred to their long paper for a detailed discussion; here, I shall describe only the main physical ideas.

2. The "Fast Electron" Approximation

An adiabatic electron is one whose (bound) orbital speed is so much "greater than the nuclear speed that it can adjust smoothly to changes in the nuclear position. By contrast, a continuum electron has a classically aperiodic orbit, so that it cannot be said to follow the nuclear motion adiabatically. Nevertheless, the characteristic speed of a continuum electron will still, in general, be much greater than that of the nuclei. This means that an electron in an unbound orbit will move through the system and out to infinity in a time so short, that the nuclear configuration will hardly change at all, and the orbit will essentially be that of an electron in the "fixed-nuclei" system.

In the language of quantum mechanics, an electron instantaneously excited to a continuum state at time, t', will produce a signal at a detector at some later time, t; but the signal will reflect the nuclear configuration at the excitation time, $\vec{R}(t')$, and not that at the signal time, $\vec{R}(t)$. By taking a coherent sum of the instantaneous amplitudes at each point along a trajectory, $\tilde{R}(t')$, one obtains the cumulative signal amplitude over an entire collision. The instantaneous amplitudes for the excitation of an electron to a continuum state with energy, ε , is the projection of the nonadiabatic perturbation of the initial state onto the Born-Oppenheimer continuum state; and the matrix element for this is just \vec{P}_{en} (in pss theory), or $\vec{P}_{en} + \vec{A}_{en}$ (in the corrected theory). To give a correct description of the ionised electron, as it moves out to the detector, one must also include a transformation from the rotating molecular frame back to the laboratory frame, but the basic physical idea of the Thorson and Levy ionisation theory^{1a} is that described above.

On either side of the ionisation threshold, there is a band of states in which the electron is neither "fast" nor "adiabatic." In these states, characteristic electron speeds are of the same order as, or less than, the nuclear speeds, and hence, for collisions involving these states, the electron motion will be very complicated. Second order processes, such as ionisation followed by recapture, will be common, and no simple theory exists to deal with these "slow electron" levels. For slow collisions, the band of states is less than 0.5 eV wide, and transitions to such states are unlikely to contribute much to the overall cross section.^{1a}

3. Ionising Transitions and Switching Functions

For the purposes of this thesis, the important conclusion to be drawn from the work of Thorson and Levy^{la} is that the matrix elements governing ionisation are $\vec{P}_{en} + \vec{A}_{en}$, between bound and continuum Born-Oppenheimer eigenfunctions.

In chapter I, I described the physically unrealistic behaviour of the uncorrected pss matrix elements. I also discussed how Thorson and coworkers^{1b} found, for H_2^+ , that it is possible to choose a switching function for each bound state, such that the size, number, and range of the

couplings from that state to the continuum are all greatly reduced. In this thesis, I confirm and considerably extend these results, and also make them much more precise. If the f's so obtained can be called "best" choices, in some sense, then they could be said to provide an "optimum" way of isolating the (so far undefined) "deformation" part of $\vec{P}(R)$.

Our method for choosing switching functions will be described at length in chapter V. Both the studies reported in this thesis and the earlief work of Thorson et al.^{1b} indicate clearly that different f's are needed for different bound states; in chapter V, I shall also consider how to modify the theory to take account of this.

F. Rotating Frame Co-ordinates

Up to this point, I have assumed that the electronic states, $\phi_n(\vec{r};\vec{R})$, and Hamiltonian, h_e , are expressed in terms of electron co-ordinates, \vec{r} , in a reference frame whose axes are fixed in space, in particular, the gradient, $(\vec{\nabla}_R)_{\vec{r}}$, is evaluated with \vec{r} fixed in this frame. However, as is well-known, the molecular electronic states and Born-Oppenheimer Hamiltonian are normally described in a rotating reference frame, whose polar axis coincides with \vec{R} ; let us denote the electron co-ordinates in its frame by \vec{r} . In the rotating frame, the transformed Hamiltonian; h_e' , and wavefunctions, ϕ_n' , depend upon \vec{r}' and $R = |\vec{R}|$,

but do not depend on the orientation of the vector, \vec{R} , in space.

The transformation linking the components, (x',y', z'), of \vec{r}' , to the components, (x,y,z), of \vec{r} , is^{7a}

| | (x') | | cose cos | cos0 sin¢ | -sin0] | (×) | |
|---|------|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------|-----|------------|
| · | У' | ** # | -sin¢ | cosθ sinΦ cosΦ sinθ sinΦ | 0 | У | (II-58) |
| ļ | z ' | | sin0 cos¢ | sin0 sin¢ | cosθ | (z) | n : |

where R has polar co-ordinates, (R,0,0). Note that the y'-axis coincides with the line of nodes and is therefore perpendicular to the plane containing the z- and z'-axes. Using equation (II-58), we can express the components of the gradient,

$$-i\hbar (\vec{\nabla}_R)_{\vec{r}} \phi_n(\vec{r};\vec{R})$$

in terms of operators in the rotating frame.³²⁻³⁴ Noting that

$$\phi_{n}(\vec{r};\vec{R}) = \phi_{n}'(\vec{r}';R),$$
 (II-59)

a straightforward application of vector calculus yields the result that

 $-i\hbar \left[\partial\phi_{n}(\vec{r};\vec{R})/\partial R\right]_{\vec{r}} = -i\hbar \left[\partial\phi_{n}'(\vec{r}';R)/\partial R\right]_{\vec{r}}, \qquad (II-60a)$

$$-i\hbar \left[\frac{\partial \phi_n}{(\vec{r};\vec{R})} / \frac{\partial \Theta}{r} \right]_r = -\hat{L}_v, \ \phi_n'(\vec{r}';R), \qquad (II-60b)$$

$$-i\hbar \left[\partial\phi_{n}(\vec{r};\vec{R})/\partial\phi\right]_{\vec{r}} = \left\{\hat{L}_{x},\sin\theta - \hat{L}_{z},\cos\theta\right\}\phi_{n}'(\vec{r}';R);$$
(II-60c)

where $\hat{L}_{x'}$, $\hat{L}_{y'}$, $\hat{L}_{z'}$ are the components of the electronic orbital angular momentum in the rotating frame. The components of the vector, $\vec{P}(R)$, are then given by 7a, 32

$$\hat{P}_{jn}(R) = P_{jn}^{R} \hat{z}' + P_{jn}^{\Theta} \hat{x}' + P_{jn}^{\Phi} \hat{y}', \qquad (II-61)$$

where x', y', z') are the unit axis vectors in the rotating frame, and

$$P_{sjn}^{R} = -i\hbar \langle \phi_{j} | (\partial/\partial R) + | \phi_{n} \rangle, \qquad (II-62a)$$

$$P_{jn}^{\Theta} = -R^{-1} \langle \phi_{j} | \hat{L}_{y}, | \phi_{n} \rangle, \qquad (II-62b)$$

$$\mathbf{P}_{jn}^{\Phi} = + \mathbf{R}^{-1} \{ \langle \phi_j | \mathbf{\hat{L}}_{\mathbf{x}'} | \phi_n \rangle = \cot \Theta \langle \phi_j | \mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{z}'} | \phi_n \rangle \}.$$
(II-62c)

For convenience, I have dropped the primes on $\phi_n'(\vec{r};R)$. The components of $\vec{A}(R)$ are simply defined by the components of the vector, \vec{s} , in the rotating frame.

In the classical trajectory description, the motion of the nuclei is confined to a plane, and, without loss of generality, we can take this as the (x',z') plane. Moreover, to compute the matrix elements, P_{jn}^{θ} and P_{jn}^{ϕ} , we require in both cases, only the matrix elements of the ladder operators, \hat{L}_{\pm} '. Therefore, the behaviour of the angular couplings will be fully covered by a study of a single angular component, which we have to be $(P_{jn}^{\theta} + A_{jn}^{\star'})$. This coupling is just the quantum mechanical Coriolis coupling, seen by an electron in the rotating frame. Asymptotically, the components of $\underline{P}(R) + \underline{A}(R)$ are just [cf. equation (II-55)]

 $P_{jn}^{R} + A_{jn}^{z'} = -i\hbar \langle \phi_{j_{J}} | (\partial/\partial R) + f_{J} | \phi_{n_{J}} \rangle, \qquad (II-63a)$

and

$$P_{jn}^{\theta} + A_{jn}^{x'} = -R^{-1} \langle \phi_{j} | \hat{L}_{y'}^{J} | \phi_{n_{j}} \rangle. \qquad (II-63b)$$

CHAPTER III

BORN-OPPENHEIMER WAVEFUNCTIONS

A. Introduction

In this chapter, I shall describe the computation of the eigenfunctions for two-centre, fixed-nuclei, oneelectron systems--the Born-Oppenheimer wavefunctions. These states are solutions of the adiabatic Schrödinger equation,

$$\{(\hbar^2/2m_0) \nabla_r^2 + e^2(Z_A/r_A + Z_B/r_B) + \epsilon\} \Psi(\vec{r};R) = 0, (III-1)$$

where $\varepsilon = \varepsilon'(R) - Z_A Z_B e^2/R$ is the electronic energy. may be either positive (the electronic continuum) or negative (discrete bound states).

It is well known³⁵ that the Schrödinger equation (1) is separable in prolate spheroidal co-ordinates, (ξ, η, ϕ) , where (see figure 3)

 $\xi = (r_{A} + r_{B})/R, \quad \eta = (r_{A} - r_{B})/R, \quad \phi = \text{azimuthal angle}$ (III-2) $1 \le \xi < \infty \qquad -1 \le \eta \le +1 \qquad 0 \le \phi \le 2\pi;$

ε


and r_A and r_B are the distances of the electron from the nuclei A and B, respectively. The electron has mass, m_0 , and we use the Bohr radius, a_0 , as the unit of length; the energy is in Rydbergs (1 Ry. = $e^2/2a_0 = 0.5$ au). Ψ can be written

$$\Psi(\vec{r};R) = X(\xi) S(\eta) \Phi(\phi), \qquad (III-3)$$

and the separated equations for the factors are

$$d^2 \phi / d\phi^2 + m^2 \phi = 0, \qquad (III-4)$$

$$d/d\eta \{(1-\eta^2)dS/d\eta\} + \{p\eta\pm c^2\eta^2 + A-m^2/(1-\eta^2)\}S = 0, (III-5)$$

$$d/d\xi \{(\xi^2-1)dx/d\xi\} + \{q\xi_{I}c^2\xi^2-A-m^2/(\xi^2-1)\}x = 0; (III-6)\}$$

where the parameters, p, q, and c^2 , are defined

$$p = R(Z_p - Z_n),^+ q = R(Z_p + Z_n),$$
 (III-7a)

 $c^2 = \frac{1}{1} k \in \mathbb{R}^2.$ (III-7b)

A and m² are the separation constants; m is the modulus of the azimuthal quantum number. In equations (III-5) to (III-7), where a "±" appears, the upper sign gives the bound state equations, while the lower gives those corresponding to the continuum.

In the united atom limit, equation (III-5) tends to the equation for the associated Legendre function, $P_L^{(n)}$, with A = L(L+1); and equation (III-6) becomes the radial equation for either the spherical Coulomb function, or the associated Laguerre function.³⁶ The wavefunction for the azimuthal co-ordinate is, of course, just

$$\Phi(\phi) = (2\pi)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \exp(\pm im\phi)$$
, with $m = 0, 1...$ (III-8)

In sections B and C, I will discuss the solutions of equations (III-5) and (III-6), for bound and continuum electronic states, respectively.

B. Bound States

1. Background

The solution of equation (III-1) has received considerable attention for negative energies. Subject to the usual conditions that the wavefunction be square-integrable, continuous, and have continuous first derivatives, the coupled equations, (III-5) and (III-6), have simultaneous solutions only for discrete pairs of values of the parameters, A and c. In the limits, R+0 and R+∞, simple closed formulae exist for the energies and wavefunctions, but, in general, we must solve the equations numerically. Various authors have complied extensive tables of the eigenparameters, both for H_2^+ , $^{37-40}$ and for unequal nuclear charges. 41,42 The formal properties of the solutions have been examined in great detail by Power. 43 To compute polutions, I used a method based on that given by Bates and Carson 41 for HeH⁺⁺.

For a given bound state, the calculation of the eigenvalues of A and c proceeds as follows. At each consecutive R-value,

- i. Guess approximate values for the eigenvalue, c_g , and separation constant, A_g
- ii. Guess a spread, δ , such that the true eigenvalue is expected to lie between $c_q - \delta$ and $c_q + \delta$
- iii. For a series of values of c, between $c_g \delta$ and $c_g + \delta$, compute the value of A which gives the regular solution to equation (III-5), the angular equation
 - iv. Use this set of pairs of values of A and c to determine A as a suitable polynomial function of c
 - Using this A(c), compute the value of c which gives
 the regular solution to equation o(III-6), the radial equation. This is the desired eigenvalue, c
- vi: Now go back to the angular equation, and compute the

separation constant corresponding to this value of c Once A and c have been found, the corresponding eigenfunctions can be computed fairly easily.

In the next two sections, I shall describe the computation of solutions to the angular and radial

equations in more detail.

2. Angular Equation

$$1/d\eta \{(1-\eta^2)ds/d\eta\} + \{p\eta+c^2\eta^2+A-m^2/(1-\eta^2)\} s = 0.(III-9)$$

We require solutions to (III-9) which are regular in the interval, $-1 \le \eta \le +1$. Following Bates and Carson,⁴¹ we write

$$S(\eta) = \exp(-c\eta) \sum_{L=m}^{\infty} d_{L} P_{L}^{m}(\eta), \qquad (III-10)$$

where $P_{L}^{m}(\eta)$ is the L'th associated Legendre function. Substituting (III-10) into (III-9), and using the recursion relations satisfied by the P_{L}^{m} 's, we obtain, after some manipulation,

$$\Sigma d_{L} \{P_{L-1}^{m} (p-2cL) (L+m) / (2L+1) + P_{L}^{m} [c^{2}+A-L (L+1)] \}$$

$$+ P_{L+1}^{m} [p+2c(L+1)](L-m+1)/(2L+1) \} = 0.$$
 (III-11)

Since the P_L^{m} 's form a complete, orthogonal set, equation (III-11) can only be satisfied if the coefficient of P_L^{m} vanishes identically, for each L. This leads to a three-term recursion formula linking the d_r 's:

 d_{L-1} (p+2cL) (L-m) $f(2L-1) + d_L [c^2+A-L(L+1)]$

+ $d_{L+1} [p-2c(L+1)](L+m+1)/(2L+3) = 0.$ (III-12)

For very large L, the coefficients satisfy either

$$d_{L+1} \simeq - (L/c) d_{L} \qquad (III-13a)$$

or

$$d_L \approx + (c/L) d_{L-1}$$

(III-13b)

Clearly, we require solutions which behave like (III-13b); for a given c, these only exist for particular values of A --the eigenvalues. To determine these, I used Ince's well known method for finding the eigenvalues of a tridiagonal matrix, ⁴⁴ as described by Stratton et al.⁴⁵

For computing the function, $S(\eta)$, it is not convenient to use the expansion given in (III-10); convergence of the series is often poor, even at moderate internuclear separations, and the evaluation of integrals over η is awkward. I therefore chose to use the approach introduced by Helfrich⁴⁶ and expressed the wavefunction as

$$S(\eta) = \sum_{L=m} \tilde{d}_{L} P_{L}^{m}(\eta).$$

(III-14)

This gives a five-term recursion formula for the d_{L} 's:

$$d^{2}(L-m)(L-m-1)/[(2L-3)(2L-1)] + d_{L-1} p(L-m)/(2L-1)$$

$$-\tilde{d}_{T} \{c^{2}[2L(L+1)-2m^{2}-1]/[(2L+3)(2L-1)] - L(L+1) + A\}$$

+ $\tilde{d}_{L+1} p(L+m+1)/(2L+3) + \tilde{d}_{L+2} c^{2}(L+m+2)(L+m+1)/[(2L+5)]$

(2L+3) = 0. (III-15)

The technique for finding the coefficients, d_L , given the eigenvalue, A, is described by Wilkinson⁴⁷ and the series (III-14) is truncated when the \tilde{d}_L 's become sufficiently small. Of course, the wavefunction cannot be computed until the eigenvalue, c, has been found.

Let us now turn, then, to the solution of the radial equation. We will assume that, in the vicinity of the desired eigenvalue, A is known as a function of c; in my programme, I chose to fit the computed separation constants to a cubic polynomial in c, by the least squares method.

3. Radial Equation

$$d/d\xi \{(\xi^2-1)dx/d\xi\} + \{q\xi-c^2\xi^2-A-m^2/(\xi^2-1)\} x = 0.(III-16)$$

At large ξ , the two linearly-independent solutions to equation (III-16) behave like exp(±c ξ). Clearly, we are interested in the exponentially damped solution, and, once again following Bates and Carson,⁴¹ we use the transformation due to Jaffé:

$$\mathbf{X}(\xi) = (\xi+1)^{q/2c-1} \{ (\xi-1)/(\xi+1) \}^{m/2} \exp(-c\xi)$$

$$\sum_{n} a_{n} \{ (\xi-1) / (\xi+1) \}^{n} (III/17)$$

If we substitute (III-17) into (III-16), collect terms in powers of $(\xi-1)/(\xi+1)$, we obtain, after a lot of algebra, a three term recursion' formula linking the a_n 's,

$$a_{n-1}$$
 (n+m-q/2c) (n-q/2c) + a_n {(2n+m+1) (q/2c-2c-1) - 2n (n+m)

$$+q-A-c^{2}$$
 + a_{n+1} (n+1) (n+m+1) = 0, (III-18)

with $a_{-1} = 0$, and $a_0 = 1$.

Given A(c), Ince's method⁴⁴ yields the desired eigenvalue, c, and the coefficients, a_n , in equation (III-17). The eigenenergy is then given simply by

$$= - (2c/R)^2$$
.

(III-19)

4. Normalisation

The wavefunction is normalised in the usual way,

i.e., we set

The volume element in spheroidal co-ordinates is

$$d\tau = (R/2)^{3} (\xi^{2} - \eta^{2}) d\xi d\eta d\phi, \qquad f \qquad (III-21)$$

and hence, we have to evaluate

 $\langle \Psi | \Psi \rangle = 1.$

$$N^{2} = (R/2)^{3} \{ \int_{-1}^{+1} s^{2}(\eta) d\eta \int_{1}^{\infty} x^{2}(\xi) \xi^{2} d\xi - \int_{-1}^{+1} s^{2}(\eta) \eta^{2} d\eta \int_{1}^{\infty} x^{2}(\xi) d\xi \}.$$
 (III-22)

I chose to normalise the coefficients, d_L , such that

 $f_{-1}^{+1}s^{2}(\eta)d\eta = 1.$ (III-23)

The η -integrals can be evaluated analytically, using the prthogonality relation satisfied by the Legendre functions,

$$\int_{-1}^{+1} P_j^{m}(n) P_n^{m}(n) dn = 2/(2j+1) \quad (j+m) \frac{1}{(j-m)} \delta_{jn}; \quad (III-24)$$

and we find that

$$\gamma^{2} = \int_{-1}^{+1} s^{2}(\eta) \eta^{2} d\eta = \sum_{L=m}^{\infty} 2(L+m) \left[\int_{-m}^{\infty} \left[\frac{1}{2} \left[2L-1+2(L^{2}-m^{2}) \right] \right] \right]$$
(III-25)
+ 2 $d_{L+1}d_{L-1}$ [L(L+1)-m(m+1)]/[(2L-1)(2L+1)(2L+3)].

Thus, equation (III-22) reduces to

$$N^{2} = (R/2)^{3} f_{1}^{2} x^{2}(\xi) (\xi^{2} - \gamma^{2}) d\xi. \qquad (III-26)$$

This integral has to be done numerically, and I chose to evaluate it by Gaussian quadrature. Since integrals of this general form appear several times, I will describe the method used for evaluating them in some detail.⁴⁸ They can all be written

$$I(\alpha) = (R/2)^3 \int_1^{\infty} \exp(-\alpha\xi) g(\xi) d\xi.$$
 (III-27)

For example, in equation (III-26), $\alpha = 2c$. If we change the variable to $x = \alpha(\xi-1)$, we find that

$$I(\alpha) = (R/2)^3 e^{-\alpha} / \alpha \int_0^{\infty} e^{-x} g(1+x/\alpha) dx;$$
 (III-28a)

this can be evaluated by Gauss-Laguerre quadrature, giving

$$I(\alpha) \simeq (R/2)^{3} e^{-\alpha} / \alpha \sum_{i=1}^{N} g(\xi_{i}), \qquad (III-28b)$$

where

$$i = 1 + x_i / \alpha$$
.

(III-28c)

The integration points, x_i , and weights, w_i , are given in

Abramowitz and Stegun⁹ for various values of N, and I used a 28-point truncation of the 64-point formula, although this was probably over-cautious. Exploratory calculations showed that this formula will produce about 12:(1) figure accuracy for a wide variety of functions, g(x), whereas the error in the wavefunctions is about one part in 10^6 . 70

The programme computes the value of N, and stores it for later use. Let us now turn to the problem of computing the continuum wavefunctions.

C. Continuum States 50

1. Background

The electronic continuum states for the two-centre, one-electron system have received very little attention, 'compared with that given to the bound-state functions. Bates, Orik and Poots⁵¹ describe the solution for H_2^+ , in connection with photo-ionisation cross sections for the molecule-ion. Recently, Ponomarev and Somov⁵² have described the solution for HeH⁺⁺, and an incorrect solution (later corrected) for arbitrary charges has been published by Greenland.⁵³ I have used a method similar to that of Ponomarev and Somov.⁵² Regular solutions exist for all positive energies, and for discrete values of the separation constant, A.

2. Angular Equation

 $d/dn \{(1-n^2)dS/dn\} + \{pn-c^2n^2+A-m^2/(1-n^2)\} S = 0.(III-29)$

71

We require solutions to equation (III-29) which are regular in the interval, $-1 \le \eta \le +1$. Now, (III-29) is obtained from the corresponding bound state equation if we replace c by ic. This suggests that we can solve (III-29) in a manner analogous to that used for (III-9); we write

$$S(\eta) = exp(-ic\eta) \Sigma d_L P_L^m(\eta),$$
 (III-30)

and we obtain a three-term recursion formula for the d_L 's:

$$d_{-1}$$
 (p+2icL) (L-m) / (2L-1) + d_{-1} {A-c²-L(L+1)}

$$d_{L,1} \{p-2ic(L+1)\}(L+m+1)/(2L+3) = 0, \quad (III-31)$$

with $d_{m-1} = 0$. The eigenvalues of A are real (as Ponomarev and Somov⁵² point out, they depend only on the absolute 'values of the complex coefficients in (III-31)), and they can be determined by Ince's method⁴⁴ for a given continuum energy and R-value.

As with the bound state equation; the expansion, (III-30), does not provide a convenient representation of the wavefunction, and we express the solution as

$$S(\eta) = \sum_{L=m}^{\infty} d_{L} P_{L}^{m}(\eta), \qquad (III-32)$$

which yields a five-term recursion formula for the d_{L} 's:

$$d_{L-2} c^{(L-m)} (L-m-1) / [(2L-3) (2L-1)] - d_{L-1} p(L-m) / (2L-1)$$

$$I_{L} \{ L(L+1) - A + c^{2} [2L(L+1) - 2m^{2} - 1] / [(2L-1)(2L+3)] \}$$

 $d_{L+1} p(L+m+1)/(2L+3) + \tilde{d}_{L+2} c^{2}(L+m+2)(L+m+1) + [(2L+3)(2L+5)]$

(III-33)

Given an eigenvalue, A, the \tilde{d}_L 's can again be computed by the method described in Wilkinson.⁴⁷ Notice that equations (III-29) to (III-33) can all be obtained from the corresponding bound state equations, (III-9,10,12,14,15), by , replacing c with 1c.

3. Radial Equation

$$d/d\xi \{(\xi^2-1)dx/d\xi\} + \{q\xi+c^2\xi^2-A-m^2/(\xi^2-1)\} = 0.(III-34)$$

We require the solution of (III-34) which is regular at $\xi = 1$. At large ξ , this solution has the form

 $x^{reg}(\xi) \sim (B/r) \sin\{kr+\gamma\ln(kr)+\delta\},$ (III

 $Y = q/(2c) = (Z_A + Z_B)/k,$ (III-35b)

 $c\xi \sim kr, \quad k^2 = \epsilon.$ (III-35c)

B is the normalisation constant, and δ is/the phase shift.

Equation (III-34) is solved by starting the solution near the origin with a series expansion, and continuing this solution outward by numerical integration, until it can be matched with asymptotic solutions to determine the phase shift. The solution regular at $\xi = 1$ has the form

$$X(\xi) = \{(\xi-1)/(\xi+1)\}^{m/2} F(\xi).$$

(**III**-36)

where $F(\xi)$ satisfies the equation

where

$$(\xi^2 - 1) F''(\xi) + 2(m + \xi) F'(\xi) + (c^2 \xi^2 + q \xi - A) F(\xi) = 0. (III - 37)$$

Near the origin, this can be written as a power series in $(\xi-1)$,

$$F^{reg}(\xi) = \sum_{n=0}^{n} (\xi-1)^n$$
, (III-38)

and this yields a four-term recursion relation for the coefficients, an:

$a_{n-2}c^2 + a_{n-1}(2c^2+q) + a_n[n(n+1)+c^2+q-A] +$

 $2a_{n+1}(n+1)(n+m+1) = 0,$ (#II-39)

where $a_{-2} = a_{-1} = 0$; and $a_{0} = 1$.

The solution, $\mathbf{F}^{\text{reg}}(\xi)$, is continued numerically by integration of (III-37) using a variable-step, Adams-Moulton-Bashforth, predictor-corrector method, ⁵⁴ until a value of ξ suitable for matching $\mathbf{F}^{\text{reg}}(\xi)$ with asymptotic solutions is reached. However, for evaluating integrals numerically, we have seen that the value of the integrand is required at suffic values, ξ_i , whereas the A-M-B algorithm gives the function at successive points, separated by a predetermined step-size. The programme must thus include a modification to evaluate $\mathbf{F}^{\text{reg}}(\xi_i)$: whenever the A-M-B integration passes one of the ξ_i , the programme pauses to use the fourth-order Runge-Kutta method⁵⁴ to calculate and store the $\mathbf{F}^{\text{reg}}(\xi_i)$.

At large ξ , asymptotic solutions to (III-37) are

 $F^{\pm}(\xi) = (\xi+1)^{-1} \exp \pm i \{c\xi+\gamma \ln (\xi+1)\} u^{\pm}(\xi), (III-40)$

and if we write

 $\hat{u}^{\pm}(\xi) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} b_n^{\pm} \{2/[c(\xi+1)]\}^n,$ (III-41)

the coefficients satisfy a three-term recursion formula:

$$b_{n-1}^{\pm} c\{n(n+m)-\gamma^2 = i\gamma(2n+m)\} - b_n^{\pm} \{n(n+1)-\gamma^2+q+c^2-A\}$$

$$\frac{1}{1} i\gamma[(2n+1)-2c(2n+m+1)] \pm 4i b_{n+1}^{\pm} (n+1) = 0, \quad (III-42)$$

with $b_{-1}^{\pm} = 0$, $b_0^{\pm} = 1$. Evidently, $u^{-}(\xi) = \{u^{+}(\xi)\}^{*}$. The expression, (III-41), is an asymptotic expansion; if ξ is large enough, it yields sufficiently accurate solutions, $F^{\pm}(\xi)$. The phase shift is determined by matching $F^{reg}(\xi)$ and $dF^{reg}(\xi)/d\xi$ to some suitable linear combination of the asymptotic solutions; that is, we write

$$F^{reg}(\xi) = D \{e^{i\alpha} F^{+}(\xi) + e^{-i\alpha} F^{-}(\xi)\}$$
(III-43)
[F^{reg}(\xi)]' = D \{e^{i\alpha} [F^{+}(\xi)]' + e^{-i\alpha} [F^{-}(\xi)]'\}

and determine a. We find that

$$\tan \alpha = \operatorname{Re}(h^{\pm})/\operatorname{Im}(h^{\pm})$$
(I21-43b)

$$= \{ u^{r}(\xi) ' - u^{r}(\xi) | w(\xi) = ig(\xi)' \} exp \pm ig(\xi), \quad (III-43c)$$

where

h

$$w(\xi) = [F^{2eg}(\xi)] / F^{2eg}(\xi) + (\xi+1)^{-1}$$
 (III-44a)

(III-44b)

(III-45b)

(III-46b)

$g(\underline{a}) = c\xi + \gamma \ln(\xi+1).$

From equations (III-43), it follows that

 $x^{reg}(\xi) \sim \{C/(\xi+1)\} sin\{c\xi+\gamma ln[c(\xi+1)], (III-45a)\}$

 $\delta = \alpha^2 - \gamma \ln(c) + \pi/2,$

In the united atom 1000 tends to the appropriate Coulomb scattering places

$$\lim_{R \to 0} \Phi = \sigma_{L} - (L\pi/2) + \gamma \ln(2), \qquad (III-46a)$$

 $\sigma_{T} = \operatorname{Arg}\{\Gamma(L+1-i\gamma)\}.$

Levy and Thorson^{1b} have reported phase shifts for the H₂⁺ problem, but these contain an arithmetic error. The correct phases are obtained by subtracting $c = \frac{1}{2}$ kR from their values; other quantities, such as the matrix elements they reported, are unaffected. This error has also been noted by Greenland and Greiner.^{53b}

4. Termalisation

The wavefunction is normalised so that the density of continuum levels is included,

and

If the coefficients in the angular eigenfunction are normalised such that

$$f_{-1}^{+1} s^{2}(\eta) d\eta = 1,$$

this requires 51,52

$$C = 2/(2\pi cR)^{\frac{1}{2}} = 2/[R(\pi k)^{\frac{1}{2}}]$$
 (III-49)

If one wishes to express the energy invatomic units (2 Ry. = 1 au), one has to be rather careful at this point. The, density of states, $dn/d\epsilon$, in atomic units is price that in Rydbergs; and hence, $C_{au} = 2^{\frac{1}{2}}C_{Ry}$. The programme computes C (in Rydbergs) and stores it for later use.

5. Remarks

The representation of the solutions different in some ways from that given by Ponomarev and Somov.⁵²

a. I use an expansion in Legendre polynomials to compute the angular solution, whereas they employ a power series near ξ = -1, followed by numerical integration.
b. Using the extended asymptotic solutions for the radial wavefunction (equations (III-40) to (III-42)) allows more rapid calculation of both phase shifts and wavefunctions. The point, ξ^{*}, at which the numerical

77

(III - 48)

solution is matched to the asymptotic solution, is

Ponomarev and Somev⁵², state that they found

 $c\xi^* \simeq 50 |A-c^2+\gamma^2|$. (III-50b)

The representation of $X^{reg}(\xi)$ near $\xi = 1$ is also slightly different, but this is not significant.

P. T. Greenland⁵³ proposes a solution for the continuum states which is not correct. In particular: a. He imposes constraints which imply that the states,

S(n), are parity eigenstates, regardless of the charge asymmetry; this is clearly false

b. He attempts to compute $\mathbf{x}^{reg}(\xi)$ by fixing the asymptotic behaviour of the solution, rather than the behaviour at $\xi = 1$

Let us now look at some representative results.

6. Results

given by

The notation we use labels the continuum states with the energy, ε , the united-atom-limit, angular momentum quantum number, L, and m, the modulus of the azimuthal quantum number.

Table 1 gives some representative values for the

(III-50a)

separation constants and phase shifts in HeH⁺⁺; data shown are for $\varepsilon = 1.0$ Ry., and the states, so (L=m=0), po (L=1, m=0), and p π (L=m=1), for internuclear separations, 0 \leq R \leq 12 au. In the united atom limit, the phase shifts all agree with the appropriate Coulomb phases ((III-45) and (III-46)) modulo 27. Tables 2 to 4 illustrate the behaviour of the expansion coefficients, d_L , of the angular eigenfunctions for the same states, for $0\leq$ R \leq 6 au.

Figure 4 shows the separation constants for the model system with $(Z_A/Z_B) = 1.2$, at energy $\varepsilon = 0.5$ Ry., for the states, $p\sigma$, $p\pi$, $d\sigma$, $d\pi$, $d\delta$. The results may be applied directly to a real bare-nucleus system with Z_A' , Z_B' integers (e.g., 12, 10), by scaling all distances as $(Z_B')^{-1}$, all energies as $(Z_B')^2$.

Figures 5 and 6 depict phase shifts for the model system at $\varepsilon = 0.5$ Ry., and for HeH⁺⁺ at $\varepsilon = 1.0$ Ry., for the states, pm, d\sigma, dm, fo, d\delta, fm, g\sigma, f\delta, gm, ho. It is interesting to note the systematic interleaving and ordering of the phases in the large R region. They eppear to be grouped according to the value of (L+m), with phase shifts decreasing as that index increases; within any group of given (L+m), they are ordered by the value of L, with phase shifts decreasing as L increases. Members of a group never cross each other. This behaviour seems to be quite general for all charge ratios and energies.

| 80 | - | - |
|----|---|----------|
| | • | n |
| | | u. |

TABLE 1

SEPARATION CONSTANTS AND PHASE SHIFTS FOR HeH++;

5 = 1.0 Ry. and 6 IS IN UNITS OF π

| | | WAVE | po l | NAVE | pn (| NAVE |
|------|-----------|------------|-----------|---------|----------|------------------|
| R | λ. | 8 | λ | 8 | λ | δ |
| 0.0 | 0.000000 | 0.32661- | 2.000000 | 1.42903 | 2.000000 | 1.42903 |
| 0.5 | -0,019726 | 0.21542 | 2.061212 | 1.48671 | 2.000083 | 1.39992 |
| 1.0 | -0.067583 | 0.08905 | 2.231426 | 1.54631 | 2.001287 | 1.33885 |
| 1.5 | -0.119657 | -0.02076 | 2.480920 | 1.52845 | 2.006210 | 1.26945 |
| 2.0 | -0.154305 | -0.11892 | 2.780038 | 1.47423 | 2.018430 | 1.19966 |
| 2.5 | -0.157431 | -0.20910 | 3.106771 | 1.40952 | 2.041735 | 1.13187 |
| | -0.121627 | -0.29334 | 3.448244 | 1.34357 | 2.079508 | 1.06667 |
| 3.5 | -0.044246 | -0.37280 | 3.800033 | 1.27934 | 2.134352 | <i>+</i> 1.00411 |
| 4.0 | 0.074055 | 0.44815 | 4.164259 | 1.21740 | 2.207954 | 0.94408 |
| 4.5 | 0.230295 | -0.51974 | 4.547059 | 1.15752 | 2.301088 | 0.88642 |
| 5.0 | 0.419874 | -0.58781 | 4.956207 | 1.09926 | 2.413727 | 0.83100 |
| 5.5 | 0.637180 | -0.65248 | 5.399372 | 1.04218 | 2.545180 | 0.77770 |
| 6.0 | 0.876168 | -0.71384 | 5.882991 | 0.98597 | 2.694259 | 0.72643 |
| 6.5 | 1.130917 | -0.77200 , | 6.411565 | 0.93045 | 2.859430 | 0.67709 |
| 7.0 | 1.396101 | -0.82707 | 6.987263 | 0.87558 | 3.038956 | 0.62962 |
| 7.5 | 1.667318 | -0.87921 | 7.609767 | 0.82142 | 3.231025 | 0.58394 |
| 8.0 | 1.941226 | -0.92858 | 8.276389 | 0.76813 | 3.433846 | 0.53999 |
| 8.5 | 2.215513 | -0.97539 | 8.982417 | 0.71591 | 3.645729 | 0,49768 |
| 9.0 | 2.488734 | -1.01984 | 9.721666 | 0.66497 | 3.865132 | 0.45694 |
| 9.5 | 2.760112 | -1.06213 | 10.487144 | 0.61552 | 4.090694 | 0.41771 |
| 10.0 | 3.029326 | -1.10245 | 11.271748 | 0.56773 | 4.321242 | 0.37990 |
| 10.5 | 3.296346 | -1.14098 | 12.068871 | 0.52174 | 4.555787 | 0.34345 |
| 11.0 | 3.561303 | -1.17788 | 12.872869 | 0.47758 | 4.793513 | 0.30828 |
| 11.5 | 3.824407 | -1.21327 | 13.679304 | 0.43529 | 5.033756 | 0.27432 |
| 12.0 | 4.085888 | -1.24730 | 14.484988 | 0.39480 | 5.275984 | 0.24149 |

| | , | | | | | | 1. | | 81 |
|--|------------------------|---|--------------------|-----------------------|------------------------------|---------|--------------------|---------|---|
| | d10 | | | | | | 000001 | .000002 | |
| | ۶ . و | • • • | • | | | 00000 | 00000 | 000015 | |
| | 88 ⊁ 10 ≎ | | ¥. a≌us | 000001 | | 000011 | 000035 | 000054 | |
| -32) OF TEXT) | å | ، ۲. ایک | | .000001 | .000016 .000041 3 | £ 6000° | .000190 | .000627 | |
| | °, | - | .000002 | 000033. 000078 | .000156 | .000422 | .000589 | .000817 | • |
| TABLE 2 n-Expansion (Equation (III-32) , so wave, and ϵ = 1.0 Ry. | d, d, c | 00003 | 000021 000087 | -\$000262 - 000638 | | 00433 | - 010 | 015079 | ya Ki |
| | * 10 | 000008 | 000474 001179 | 002210 | 004609 | 005412 | 004173 001234 | .003810 | The second se |
| IENTS OF THE FOR HeH++ | ۳ ۳ | .0002 40 .001820 | .005706 | .022450 | .052358 | .094533 | .119181 .145288 | .171999 | |
| THE COEFFICIENTS OF THE FOR HeH | å2 å2 | .004568 | .024853 .029656 | .027074 | - 003000 - 030445 | 065591 | 107631 155427 | 207526 | |
| F1 | d. d. | 170628 311121 | 412656 481407 | 526306 | 554300 570019 576374 | 575259 | 567975 555550 | 538926 | |
| | do 701507. | .700208 .683878 | . 665665 | .638317 | .630353 .625537 .23154 | .622536 | .622989 .623910 | .624759 | |
| | а 0.0 | 0.5 | 1. S. | 7 | 3.0 7.1 9 | 4 0 | 5.5 | 6.0 | |

| TABLE | |
|-------|--|
| | |

THE COBFFICIENTS OF THE N-EXPANSION (EQUATION (III-32) OF TEXT) DO WAVE, AND E = 1.0 RV. FOR HeH ņ

| с, | d d | קי קי | д, д | , m | و م | م م | , °° | ۍ ، لو | و م | 1 70 | d, j |
|-----|----------|------------------|-------------------|----------|---------|--------|----------|-----------|---------------|--------|--------------|
| 0.0 | | 1.224745 | 1. 1 | / | | х) | • | • | 3 | | 3 |
| 0.5 | .098436 | 1.210212 | 102610 | .000050 | .000122 | 000001 | | \ | | | • · · · · · |
| 1.0 | .178918 | 1.173840 | 208420 | .000731 | .000976 | 009022 | 000002 | | | • | |
| 1.5 | .235470 | .235470 1.127999 | 319564 | 003224 | .003311 | 000120 | 000012 | •. | | | |
| N | .270587 | .270587 1.080113 | - 435224 | .008560 | .007888 | 000412 | 000049 | .000003 | | | |
| 2.5 | .288590 | 288590 1.033305 | 551100 | .016928 | .015398 | 001070 | 000147 | .0000. | 100000. | | |
| 3.0 | . 293273 | .989604 | 660940 | 027308 | .026359 | 002274 | 000360 | .0000. | .000002 | | |
| 3.5 | .287774 | .951176 | 759000 | .0,37624 | .041057 | 004154 | 000763 | .000096 | .000001 | 000001 | . % . |
| 4.0 | .274718 | .919985 | 841766 | .045320 | .059585 | 005730 | 001454 | .000204 | .000018 | 000003 | |
| 4.5 | .256240 | -egykee | 908173 | .047964 | .081919 | 009891 | 002556 | .000386 | .000040 | 000007 | |
| 5.0 | .234028 | .882806 | 958812 | .043602 | .107966 | 013391 | -:004221 | .000660 | .000083 | 000016 | 100000 |
| 5.5 | .209442 | .876106 | 995017 | .030844 | .137577 | 016869 | 006624 | .001043 | .000162 | 000030 | 000002 |
| 6.0 | . 183638 | .875686 | .875686 -1.018288 | .008838 | .170535 | 019860 | 009964 | .001537 | .000297 | 000055 | 000005 |

₿2

| | 1 1 1 1 | | | | |
|--|--------------------------|-------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---|-----------------------|
| β. · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | ، گ | | | 000001 | |
| | 80 ₹ 10 | | .000001 | .000004 .0000013 .000013 | |
| 05 IEXI), | 4 | | .00000. | .000015 .000016 .000021 | |
| 0 10 1 1 - 32) | 9 1 2 3 | 000001 | 0000147 | 000251 000399. 000602 | |
| N (EQUATION | ġ, | 000002 000011 | 000062 000100 *000135 000149 | 000120 000022 .000175 .000497 | , , , , , |
| TABLE n-EXPANSIO | d4 | .000167 .000547 .001245 | .002315 .003785 .005660 | .010545 .013481 .016679 | |
| THE COEFFICIENTS OF THE "-EXPANSION (EQUATION FOR Hert pr WAVE, AND E = 1. | d_3 000005 | 000083 000394 001155 | 002576 004832 008040 012262 | 017505 023732 030872 038821 | |
| R COBFTICI | ₫2 035790 | 069887 100935 128100 | 151061 169885 184867 196410 | 204940 210865 214558 216353 | |
| | a1 .866025 .864693 | .860935 - .855372 | . 841956 . 835430 . 829584 | .820,512 .817257 .814713 .812724 | 0 |
| | | 0 5 0 7 1 1 | 2 ° 0 0 | A N N N N O N O | |





į,

Figure 5. Phase shifts for model system



CHAPTER IV

COMPUTATION OF MATRIX ELEMENTS

A. Introduction

In chapter II, we saw how to formulate the theory of slow atomic collisions in a way which takes account of electron translation. I showed that the nonadiabatic couplings which appear in pss theory must be modified by important corrections. These corrections exactly cancel the spurious asymptotic pss couplings, and also produce substantial reductions in the effective coupling matrix elements at finite internuclear separations. The derivation is approximate, since it assumes that the heavy particles behave classically, but the main conclusions are the same as those in the rigorous, quantum mechanical derivation, given by Thorson and Delos.⁷

The formulation employs a switching function r;R, to represent the translational motion of the elect: as a local function of its position. Apart from the asymptotic constraints (f tends to +1 on B, and -1 on A), f is undefined, and the derivation provides no criteria for its specification. The problem of choosing f remains unsolved. Many of the obvious defects of pss theory are removed by

any reasonable choice of f which meets the asymptotic constraints, but there are many transitions for which the corrected matrix elements are very sensitive to that choice. Studies of the f-dependence can provide useful insight, particularly if the behaviour of the matrix elements follows some obvious pattern.

The corrected couplings for transitions, from lowlying bound states to the electronic continuum are known² to be highly sensitive to variations in f. In this chapter, I will describe the computation of matrix elements for these transitions. The motivation for, and the results of, these calculations will be discussed in detail in the next chapter.

B. Coupling Matrix Elements

In pss theory, the matrix elements for nonadiabatic coupling are defined.

$$\vec{P}_{jn}(R) = -i\hbar \left| \langle \phi_{j} | (\vec{\nabla}_{R})_{\vec{r}} | \phi_{n} \rangle, (IV-1) \right|$$

where $\phi_n(\vec{r};\vec{R})$ are the Born-Oppenheimer, molecular electronic states; \vec{R} is the internuclear co-ordinate, and \vec{r} is the electron co-ordinate, measured from the <u>centre of mass</u> of the nuclei (CMN). \vec{P}_{jn} has "angular" as well as "radial" components, since the molecular states are defined in a rotating frame, in which Coriolis forces appear. In chapter II, I showed that, in the corrected theory, $\vec{P}(R)$ is simply replaced by $\vec{P}^{g}(R) + \vec{A}^{g}(R)$, where

$$\vec{F}_{jn}^{g} = \vec{F}_{k} < \phi_{j} | (\vec{\nabla}_{R})_{\vec{r}_{g}}^{\dagger} | \phi_{n} >, \qquad (IV-2)$$

and

$$\bar{A}_{jn}^{g} = (im/\hbar) \langle \phi_{j} | [h_{BO}, \vec{s}^{g}] | \phi_{n} \rangle,$$
 (IV-3)

with

$$\vec{s}^{g} = \frac{1}{2} f(\vec{r}; \vec{R}) \vec{r}_{g};$$
 (IV-4)

 h_{BO} is the Born-Oppenheimer electronic Hamiltonian, and \dot{r}_{g} is the electron co-ordinate, measured from the <u>geometric</u> <u>centre</u>, rather than the <u>CMN</u>.

It is sufficient to compute the <u>radial</u> component and <u>one</u> angular component of the above couplings. The explicit expressions used are as follows.

i. Radial Couplings

$$\begin{bmatrix} \underline{\mathbf{P}}^{g} \end{bmatrix}_{jn}^{R} = -i\hbar \langle \phi_{j} | (\Im_{e}^{g} / \partial R) \stackrel{+}{\mathbf{r}}_{g} | \phi_{n} \rangle / (\varepsilon_{n} - \varepsilon_{j}), \quad (IV-5a)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{g} \end{bmatrix}_{jn}^{R} = (im/2\hbar) (\varepsilon_{j} - \varepsilon_{n}) \langle \phi_{j} | \underset{q}{z}_{g} f | \phi_{n} \rangle, \quad (IV-5b)$$

where ε_n are the Born-Oppenheimer electronic eigenvalues,

 r_g is the component of r_g on the molecular axis, and V_e is the electronic potential energy. To obtain (IV-5a) from (II-62a), I have used the Hellmann-Feynman relation.

We need to express $(\partial V_e / \partial R) + in$ terms of prolate spheroidal co-ordinates (see figure 3). We find that

$$\partial V_{e}/\partial R)_{r_{g}}^{+} = (e^{2}/2) \{ Z_{A}^{\cos\theta} A / r_{A}^{2} - Z_{B}^{\cos\theta} B / r_{B}^{2} \}.$$
 (IV-6)

But

$$\cos \theta_{J} = (\xi \eta - f_{J}) / (\xi - f_{J} \eta),$$
 (IV-7)

where J is A or B, and $f_A = -1$, $f_B = +1$. Thus, we find

$$\frac{(R/2)^{3}(\xi^{2}-\eta^{2})}{(\xi+\eta)^{2}} \left(\frac{\partial V_{e}}{\partial R}\right)_{rg}^{+} = (Re^{2}/4) \left\{ Z_{A}[\eta(\xi^{2}-1)+\xi(1-\eta^{2})]/(\xi-\eta^{2}) + \xi(1-\eta^{2}) \right\}$$

$$(\xi+\eta)^{2} \left(- Z_{B}[\eta(\xi^{2}-1)-\xi(1-\eta^{2})]/(\xi-\eta^{2}) + \xi(1-\eta^{2}) \right\}$$

$$(IV-8)$$

ii. Angular Couplings

 $[\underline{\mathbf{P}}^g]_{jn}^{\Theta} = -\mathbf{R}^{-1} < \phi_j | \hat{\mathbf{L}}_{\hat{\mathbf{y}}}^g | \phi_n >, \qquad (IV-9a)$

$$[\underline{\mathcal{M}}^{g}]_{jn}^{\Theta} = (im/2\hbar) (\varepsilon_{j} - \varepsilon_{n}) < \phi_{j} | \mathbf{x}_{g} \mathbf{f} | \phi_{n} >, \quad (IV-9b)$$

where x_g is the component of \vec{r}_g perpendicular to the molecular axis, and \hat{L}_y^g is the y-component of the electronic , orbital angular momentum, with respect to the geometric centre. Now

$$\hat{\mathbf{L}}_{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathbf{g}} = -\langle (\mathbf{i}/2) \ (\hat{\mathbf{L}}_{+}^{\mathbf{g}} - \hat{\mathbf{L}}_{-}^{\mathbf{g}}) , \langle (\mathbf{i}\mathbf{y}-10\mathbf{a}) \rangle$$

where L g and lowering the molecular momentum, of orbital angular momentum;

$$\mathbf{L}_{\pm}^{\mathbf{g}} = \mathbf{\hat{h}} \exp\left(\pm \mathbf{i}\phi\right) / \left\{\pm \partial/\partial\theta\right\} + \mathbf{i} \cot \boldsymbol{\theta} \partial/\partial\phi\right\}. \quad (\mathbf{IV}-10\mathbf{b})$$

Using the relations

$$r_{g}\cos\theta = (R/2)\xi\eta; / r_{g}\sin\theta = (R/2)(\xi^{2}-1)^{\frac{1}{2}}(1-\eta^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

it can be shown/that

$$g = \hbar \exp(\pm i/\phi) \left\{ \pm \left[\left(\xi^2 - 1\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} (1 - \eta^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} (\eta \partial/\partial \xi - \xi \partial/\partial \eta) / (\xi^2 - \eta^2) \right] \right.$$

+ $i \, \xi \eta / \left[\left(\xi^2 - 1\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} (1 - \eta^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right] / \partial/\partial \phi \right\}.$ (IV-11)

Computation of matrix elements reduces to separate quadratures over n, the "angle" variable, and ξ , the "radial" variable. The n-integrals were performed either analytically, or by 32-point Gauss-Legendre quadrature, whichever was more convenient; and the ξ -integrals were done by a 28-point truncation of the 64-point GaussLaguerre quadrature formula.⁴⁸ All integrals are straightforward; except for those of $(\partial V_e / \partial R)_{rg}^+$, where a logarithmic singularity must be extracted analytically. I will describe the details of the matrix element computations in the next three sections. Unless the calculation of integrals holds a particular fascination for the reader, I suggest that he pass on quickly to the summary given in section F.

For those still with me, I will first establish the notation. To avoid confusion field and final electronic states, this is slightly different from that the chapter III.

i. Bound States

$$|\phi_n\rangle = S_{\Gamma m}(\eta) X_{n\Gamma m}(\xi) \Phi_m(\phi),$$
 (IV-12)

where n and Γ are the united-atom-limit, principal and angular momentum quantum numbers, respectively, and m is the modulus of the azimuthal quantum number.

$$S_{\Gamma m}(\eta) = \sum_{L=m} d_{L}^{\Gamma m} P_{L}^{m}(\eta), \qquad (IV-13a)$$

$$X_{n\Gamma m}(\xi) = \exp(-c_n \xi) F_{n\Gamma m}(\xi), \qquad (IV-13b)$$

where c_n is the eigenparameter, $c_n^2 = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_n R^2$.

i. Continuum States

$$\langle \phi_{j} | = S_{\Gamma'm}^{*}(\eta) X_{\varepsilon'\Gamma'm}^{reg}(\xi) \Phi_{m'}^{*}(\phi).$$
 (IV

 Γ' and m' have the same meaning as the corresponding unprimed parameters, and ε' is the continuum electronic energy.

$$S_{\Gamma'm}(\eta) = \sum_{L=m'} d_{L}^{\Gamma'm'} P_{L}^{m'}(\eta), \qquad (IV-15a)$$

 $x_{\epsilon'\Gamma'm'}^{reg}$ = $[(\xi-1)/(\xi+1)]^{m/2} F_{\epsilon'\Gamma'm'}^{reg}(\xi)$. (IV-15b)

I will assume that both the bound and continuum states have been appropriately normalised.

C. Computation of the Matrix Elements of L

1. Introduction

The operators, \hat{L}_{\pm}^{g} , link states with m' = m±1, and the integration over ϕ can be done by inspection. Thus, in effect, the operator **is**

$$\hat{\mathbf{L}}_{\pm}^{\mathbf{g}} = \hbar (\pm \partial / \partial \theta - m \cot \theta). \qquad (IV-16)$$

All the integrals over n can be performed analytically, with the help of the recursion relations satisfied by the $P_{L}^{m}(n)$'s, and integration by parts. When $\langle \phi_{i} |$ is a

continuum state, the E-integrals are all of the form

$$I(c_n) = \int_1^\infty \exp(-c_n \xi) g(\xi) d\xi$$
 (IV-17a)

$$= \exp(-c_n)/c_n \sum w_i g(\xi_i)$$
 (IV-17b)

$$\xi_i = 1 + x_i / \dot{c}_n$$

where x_i and w_i are the Gauss-Laguerre quadrature points 'and weights.

I will give the results for initial states with m = 0 (σ states); and m = 1 (π states).

2.
$$I_{\sigma+\pi}^+ = \langle \varepsilon' \Gamma' \pi | L_+^{q} | n \Gamma \sigma \rangle$$
 (m=0, m'=1)

From equation (IV-11),

$$I_{\sigma+\pi}^{+} = \hbar (R/2)^{3} \int_{1}^{\infty} x_{\varepsilon'\Gamma'\pi}^{reg}(\xi) (\xi^{2}-1)^{\frac{1}{2}} \{\alpha(\sigma+\pi) d/d\xi\}$$

-
$$\beta(\sigma + \pi) \xi$$
 $X_{n\Gamma\sigma}(\xi) d\xi$,

(IV-18a)

where

$$(\sigma + \pi) = \int_{-1}^{+1} S_{\Gamma,\pi}(\eta) (1-\eta^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} \eta S_{\Gamma\sigma}(\eta) d\eta$$
 (IV-18b)

=
$$(6/5) d_2^{\Gamma'\pi} d_0^{\Gamma\sigma} + \sum_{L=1}^{\Sigma 2(L+1)/[(2L+1)(2L+3)]}$$

 $\{d_{L}^{\Gamma'\pi}d_{L}^{\Gamma\sigma} L/(2L-1) + (L+2)/(2L+5) [(L+3) d_{L+2}^{\Gamma'\pi}d_{L}^{\Gamma\sigma}]$

$$\begin{aligned} & = L \ d_{L}^{\Gamma^{*}\pi} d_{L}^{\Gamma^{*}g}] \}_{I} \\ & = nd \\ & = \int_{L=1}^{1} ||\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma^{*}\pi} ||\mathbf{n}|| (1-n^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}} ||\mathbf{d}\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma \sigma}(n)/dn| dn \qquad (IV-18\sigma) \\ & = \int_{L=1}^{r} ||\mathbf{d}_{L}^{\Gamma^{*}\pi} d_{L}^{\Gamma\sigma} ||\mathbf{2}L(L+1)/(2L+1)|. \\ & = I \\ & =$$

$$[\pm (1-\eta^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}\partial/\partial\eta + \eta/(1-\eta^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}]\xi(\xi^2-1)^{\frac{1}{2}}\}.$$
 (IV-20)
After some manipulation, we obtain $I_{\pi+\sigma}^{-} = -\frac{\pi}{\pi} (R/2)^{3} f_{1}^{*} x_{e^{+}\Gamma^{+}\sigma}^{eeg}(\xi) (a(\pi+\sigma) d/d\xi (\xi^{2}-1)^{4}) \\ \beta(\pi+\alpha) \xi (\xi^{2}-1)^{*} \chi_{\pi\Gamma\pi}(\xi) d\xi, \qquad (IV-21a)$ where (cf. equation (IV-18b)) $\alpha(\pi+\sigma) = (6/5) d_{0}^{-\Gamma^{+}\sigma} d_{2}^{-\Gamma\pi} + \frac{L}{L=1} 2(L+1)/[(2L+3)] (2L+3) \\ I_{\mu=1}^{-\Gamma^{+}\sigma} d_{L}^{-\Gamma^{+}\sigma} d_{L}^{-\Gamma^{+}\sigma} d_{L+2}^{-\Gamma^{+}\sigma} d_{L+2}^{-\Gamma^{+}\sigma} d_{L+2}^{-\Gamma^{+}\sigma} d_{L+2}^{-\Gamma^{+}\sigma} d_{L+2}^{-\Gamma^{+}\sigma} d_{L+2}^{-\Gamma^{+}\sigma} d_{L+2}^{-\Gamma^{+}\sigma} d_{L+2}^{-\Gamma^{+}\sigma} d_{L+2}^{-\Gamma^{+}\sigma} d_{L+2}^{-\Gamma^{-}\sigma} d_{L+2}^{-\Gamma^{+}\sigma} d_{L+2$

and

$$\beta(\pi+\sigma) = \sum_{L=1}^{\Delta} d_{L}^{\Gamma'\sigma} d_{L}^{\Gamma\pi} 2L(L+1)/(2L+1). \quad (I\tilde{V}-2Lc)$$

Hence,

$$I_{\pi+\sigma}^{-} = -\hbar (R/2)^{3} \int_{1}^{\infty} \exp(-c_{n}\xi) x_{\varepsilon'\Gamma'\sigma}^{reg}(\xi) \{\beta\xi - \alpha c_{n} + \alpha d/d\xi\}$$

$$(\xi^2-1)^{\frac{1}{2}} F_{n\Gamma\pi}(\xi) d\xi.$$
 (IV-22)

4.
$$I_{\pi \to \delta}^{+} = \langle \epsilon' \Gamma' \delta | \hat{L}_{+}^{g} | n \hat{\Gamma} \pi \rangle (m=1, m'=2)$$

From equation (IV-20), we see that

 $I_{n+6}^+ = h (n/2)^3 I_1^- X_2^{++} I_{+6}^- (E) (a(n+6) ((E^2-1)^4) d7dE -$

 $((\epsilon^2 - 1)^4) - ((\pi + \delta)) \epsilon ((\epsilon^2 - 1)^4) \times_{\mu \Gamma} (\epsilon) d\epsilon, (IV-23d)$

 $a(\pi+\delta) = \int_{-1}^{+2} S_{\Gamma'\delta}(n) n + (n-2)^{\frac{1}{2}} S_{\Gamma\pi}(n) dn'$

= $(16/7) a_1^{\Gamma^*6} a_1^{\Gamma^*} + E_{2L}(L+1) (L+2) / ((2L+1) (2L+3))$

 $(3d_{L}^{P*6}d_{L}^{F\pi}(L-1)/(2L-1) + (L+3)/(2L+5) [(L+4) d_{L+2}^{P*6}d_{L}^{F\pi} -$

 $(L-1) d_{1}^{\Gamma'\delta} d_{1+2}^{\Gamma \pi} \}; (IV-23b)$

and

 $\beta(\pi+\delta) = \int_{-1}^{+1} S_{\Gamma+\delta}(n) \{(1-n^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} d/dn + n/(1-n^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}\} S_{\Gamma\pi}(n) dn$

= $\sum_{L=2}^{\Gamma} d_{L}^{\Gamma * \delta} d_{L}^{\Gamma \pi} 2(L+2)(L+1)L(L-1)/(2L+1).$ (IV-23c)

Therefore,

 $I_{\pi+\delta}^{+} = \hbar (R/2)^{3} f_{1}^{\infty} \exp(-c_{n}\xi) x_{\varepsilon,\Gamma,\delta}^{reg}(\xi) \{(\xi^{2}-1)^{\frac{1}{2}} [\alpha d/d\xi - \alpha c_{n}^{-1}]$

 $\beta\xi] - \alpha\xi/(\xi^2-1)^{\frac{1}{2}} F_{n\Gamma\pi}(\xi) d\xi.$ (IV-24)

This completes the calculation of the matrix elements of \hat{L}_{\pm}^{q} . The angular component of $\vec{P}(R)$ is then given by

$$[P^{g}]_{jn}^{\Theta} = \pm (i/2R) I_{m \to m}^{\pm}, \qquad (IV-25)$$

We now turn to the matrix elements of $(\partial V_e / \partial R)^+$.

D. Matrix Elements of
$$(\partial/\partial R)$$
 +

1. Introduction

We have to evaluate

$$\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{m} \to \mathbf{m}'} = \langle \varepsilon' \Gamma' \mathbf{m}' | (\partial \mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{e}} / \partial \mathbf{R}) \stackrel{*}{\to} | \mathbf{n} \Gamma \mathbf{m} \rangle, \qquad (\mathbf{I} \mathbf{V} - 26)$$

where $(\partial V_{e}/\partial R) \stackrel{*}{r_{g}}$ is given by equation (IV-8). The integral over ϕ is trivial and yields the selection rule that the matrix elements are non-zero if, and only if, m' = m. Therefore,

Mererore

$$I_{m} = (Re^{2}/4) \int_{1}^{\infty} x_{\epsilon'\Gamma'm}^{reg}(\xi) x_{n\Gamma m}(\xi) \{Z_{A} I_{+}(\xi) - Z_{B} I_{-}(\xi)\} d\xi$$
(IV-27a)

where

$$I_{\pm}(\xi) = \pm \int_{-1}^{+1} \{\xi(1-\eta^2)_{\pm}\eta(\xi^2-1)\}/(\xi\pm\eta)^2 S_{\Gamma,m}(\eta) S_{\Gamma,m}(\eta) d\eta$$
(IV-27b)

If we factor $S_{\Gamma'm}(\eta)$ and $S_{\Gamma m}(\eta)$ into even and odd parts,

 $S(\eta) = S^{e}(\eta) + S^{o}(\eta)$,

we find that

$$I_{\pm}(\xi) = \pm \int_{-1}^{+1} \{\xi(1-\eta^{2}) - \eta(\xi^{2}-1)\}/(\xi-\eta)^{2} \{s_{\Gamma}^{e} - \eta(\eta) - \xi_{\Gamma}^{o} - \eta(\eta)\} \\ \{s_{\Gamma m}^{e}(\eta) - \xi_{\Gamma m}^{o}(\eta)\} d\eta. \quad (IV-28)$$

Hence,

 $- \mathbf{z}_{B} \mathbf{I}_{-}(\xi) \}$ $I_{m}'(\xi) = R \{Z_{A}$ Ι_(ξ)

$$\int_{-1}^{+1} \{\xi(1-\eta^{2}) - \eta(\xi^{2}-1)\}/(\xi-\eta)^{2} \{q(S_{\Gamma}^{e}, S_{\Gamma}^{e}) + S_{\Gamma}^{o}, S_{\Gamma}^{o}\}$$

$$p(S_{\Gamma'm}^{O}, S_{\Gamma m}^{e} + S_{\Gamma'm}^{e} S_{\Gamma m}^{O}) \} dn; \quad (IV-29a)$$

Γm

where

$$q = R(Z_B + Z_A)$$
, $p = R(Z_B - Z_A)$. (IV-29b)

Thus, we have to compute

$$I_{m} = (e^{2}/4) \int_{1}^{\infty} x_{\epsilon'\Gamma'm}^{reg}(\xi) x_{n\Gamma m}(\xi) I_{m'}(\xi) d\xi.$$
 (IV-29c)

The integrals, (IV-29), are not trivial, and it is instructive to examine their general behaviour, by looking at simpler integrals which have similar properties.

2. Model Problem

Consider the integral

$$\hat{I}(\xi) = \int_{-1}^{+1} \{\xi (1-\eta^2) - \eta (\xi^2 - 1)\} / (\xi - \eta)^2 P_L(\eta) \, d\eta. \quad (IV-30)$$

If we use the fact that

$$Q_n(x) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{-1}^{+1} P_n(y) / (x-y) dy,$$
 (IV-31a)

where $Q_n(x)$ is the n'th Legendre function of the second kind, it can be shown that

$$\hat{L}(\xi) = 2/(2L+1) \{ (L+1) (L+2)^* Q_{L+2}(\xi) - L(L-1) Q_{L-2}(\xi) \}$$

$$- (2/3) \delta_{L,1}. \quad (IV-3lb)$$

But

$$Q_n(x) = \frac{1}{2} P_n(x) \ln\{(x+1)/(x-1)\} - W_{n-1}(x)$$

i.e., $Q_n(x)$ has a logarithmic singularity at x = 1. In general, numerical integration schemes are inaccurate when such behaviour is present, and one has to extract the singularity analytically. To illustrate the principle, let us consider integrals of the type

$$\tilde{I} = \int_{1}^{\infty} e^{-x} f(x) \left\{ \int_{-1}^{+1} g(y) / (x-y) dy \right\} dx, \quad (IV-32a)$$

where f(x) and g(y) are well-behaved functions, for which Taylor expansions about unity are known:

$$F(x) = a_{1} + a_{2}(x-1) + a_{3}(x-1)^{2} \approx f(x), \quad (IV-32b)$$

$$G(y) = b_{1} + b_{2}(1-y) + b_{3}(1-y)^{2} \approx g(y). \quad (IV-32c)$$

Using functions, f(x) and g(y), for which I can be evaluated analytically, writensive calculations showed that the following procedure works extremely well.

i. Evaluate

$$I_{1}(x) = \int_{-1}^{+1} \{g(y) - G(y)\} / (x - y) dy \qquad (IV - 33a)$$

numerically, by 32-point Gauss-Legendre quadrature. 48 This yields

$$I_{1}(x) \simeq \sum_{i=1}^{16} w_{i}' [\{g(y_{i}) - G(y_{i})\}/(x-y_{i}) +$$

$$g(-y_{i}) - G(-y_{i}) \} / (x+y_{i})], \quad (IV-33b)$$

where w_i ' and y_i are the Gauss-Legendre quadrature weights and points. Near x = 1, $I_1(x)$ behaves like $(x-1)^3 \ln\{(x+1)/(x-1)\}$, and, at large x, like 1/x.

$$I_2(x) = \int_{-1}^{+1} G(y) / (x-y) dy$$
 (IV-34

 $= b_1 \ln\{(x+1)/(x-1)\} - b_2 [(x-1) \ln\{(x+1)/(x-1)\} - 2]$

+
$$b_2 [(x-1)^2 \ln{(x+1)/(x-1)} - 2(x-1) + 2]$$

$$= 2 \{ b_1 Q_0 - b_2 (Q_1 - Q_0) + (2b_3/3) (Q_2 - 3Q_1 + 2Q_0) \}$$

iii. We now have

$$\tilde{I} = \int_{1}^{\infty} e^{-x} f(x) \{I_{1}(x) + I_{2}(x)\} dx \qquad (IV-35)$$
$$= \int_{1}^{\infty} e^{-x} \{f(x) \ I_{1}(x) + [f(x) - F(x)] \ I_{2}(x)\} dx +$$

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} e^{-x} F(x) I_{2}(x) dx.$$

iv. Evaluate

$$I_{3} = \int_{1}^{\infty} e^{-x} \{f(x) | I_{1}(x) + [f(x) - F(x)] | I_{2}(x) \} dx \quad (IV-36)$$

by Gauss-Laguerre quadrature.⁴⁸ Near x = 1, the term in braces behaves like a polynomial plus $(x-1)^3 \ln\{(x+1)/(x-1)\}$, and the numerical integration is very accurate. v. Finally, we need

$$I_4 = \int_1^\infty e^{-x} F(x) I_2(x) dx.$$
 (IV-37),

The problem here is the logarithmic singularity at x = 1. , Direct application of the Gauss-Laguerre integration formula gives very low accuracy. However, it is possible to use a variation of this technique, as follows. Consider

$$I^{n} = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-x} x^{n} dx = \sum_{j=1}^{N} w_{j} x_{j}^{n}, \qquad (IV-38)$$

where x_j and w_j are the quadrature points and weights. If n<N, the sum is exactly Iⁿ. Now set

$$x = -\ln(t)$$
, $dt = -e^{-x} dx$.

Equation (IV-38) then becomes

14

$$I^{n} = \int_{0}^{1} \{-\ln(t)\}^{n} dt = \sum_{j=1}^{N} w_{j} \{-\ln(t)\}^{n}. \quad (IV-39)$$

Again, for n < N, the sum is exactly I^n , and this gives us a method of evaluating I_4 . Write

$$= \int_{1}^{2} e^{-x} F(x) I_{2}(x) dx + \int_{2}^{\infty} e^{-x} F(x) I_{2}(x) dx (IV-40a)$$

 $\tilde{r} \sum_{i} w_{i} \{F(t_{i}) | I_{2}(t_{i}) | \exp(-t_{i}) + F(z_{i}) | I_{2}(z_{i}) | e^{-2}\},$

where

$$z_{i} = 1 + exp(-x_{i}), \quad z_{i} = 2 + x_{i}$$
 (IV-40b)

We now return to the problem of computing the matrix elements of $(\partial V_e/\partial R)^+_r$. As in the model problem, the basic idea is to isolate terms up to and including those which behave like $(\xi-1)^2 \ln\{(\xi \pm 1)/(\xi-1)\}$, by means of Taylor expansions about $\xi = \eta = 1$.

3.
$$I_{\sigma} = \langle \epsilon' \Gamma' \sigma | (\partial V_{\rho} / \partial R) + | n \Gamma \sigma \rangle (m = m' = 0)$$

a. <u>n-integrals</u>

Near $\eta = I$, expand $S_{\Gamma,\sigma}(\eta) S_{\Gamma,\sigma}(\eta)$ as a power series in $(1-\eta)$. Now

$$P_{K}^{0}(\eta) P_{L}^{0}(\eta) \simeq a_{\sigma} + b_{\sigma}(1-\eta) + c_{\sigma}(1-\eta)^{2}$$
, (IV-41a)

-g

where

$$a_{\sigma} = 1, \quad b_{\sigma} = -\frac{1}{2} \{K(K+1) + L(L+1)\}, \quad (IV-4lb)$$

 $c_{\sigma} = (1/16) \{ (K-1)K(K+1)(K+2) + 4K(K+1)L(L+1) +$

(L-1)L(L+1)(L+2). (IV-41c)

Using these relations, it is a simple, if tedious, matter to write (cf. equation (IV-29))/

$$q(S_{\Gamma}^{e}, S_{\Gamma\sigma}^{e} + S_{\Gamma}^{o}, S_{\Gamma\sigma}^{o}) + p(S_{\Gamma}^{o}, S_{\Gamma\sigma}^{e} + S_{\Gamma}^{e}, S_{\Gamma\sigma}^{o})$$

$$= XE_{\sigma}(\eta) + XO_{\sigma}(\eta)$$

$$= A_{\sigma} + B_{\sigma}(1-\eta) + C_{\sigma}(1-\eta)^{2}.$$

$$(IV-42)$$

From equations (IV-30) and (IV-31), it can be shown that

$$I_{\sigma}^{\text{anal}}(\xi) = \int_{-1}^{+1} \{\xi(1-\eta^{2}) - \eta(\xi^{2}-1)\} / (\xi-\eta)^{2} \{A_{\sigma} + B_{\sigma}(1-\eta) + C_{\sigma}(1-\eta)^{2}\} d\eta \qquad (IV-43)$$

$$= 4 \{ A_{\sigma}Q_{2} + B_{\sigma}(Q_{2}-Q_{3}) + (2C_{\sigma}/15)(6Q_{4}-15Q_{3}+10Q_{2}-Q_{3}) \} + (2/3)(B_{\sigma}+2C_{\sigma}).$$

Therefore, $I_{\sigma}'(\xi)$ in equation (IV-29) is given by

$$I_{\sigma}'(\xi) = \int_{-1}^{+1} \{\xi(1-\eta^{2}) - \eta(\xi^{2}-1)\}/(\xi-\eta)^{2} \{XE_{\sigma}(\eta) + XO_{\sigma}(\eta)\} d\eta$$
$$= I_{\sigma}^{anal}(\xi) + \int_{-1}^{+1} \{\xi(1-\eta^{2}) - \eta(\xi^{2}-1)\}/(\xi-\eta)^{2} \{XE_{\sigma}(\eta) + XO_{\sigma}(\eta) - A_{\sigma} - B_{\sigma}(1-\eta) - C_{\sigma}(1-\eta)^{2}\} d\eta. \quad (IV-44)$$

The leading logarithmic term in the second integral behaves like $(\xi-1)^3 \ln\{(\xi+1)/(\xi-1)\}$ near $\xi=1$, and I used Gauss-Legendre numerical integration to evaluate this integral as a function of ξ ; call the result $I_{\sigma}^{num}(\xi)$. The $P_L^{m}(\eta)$'s can be calculated from their recursion relation.⁵⁵ b. ξ -integrals

Equation (IV-29c) now becomes

$$I_{\sigma} = (e^{2}/4) \int_{1}^{\infty} x_{\varepsilon'\Gamma'\sigma}^{reg}(\xi) x_{n\Gamma\sigma}(\xi) \{I_{\sigma}^{anal}(\xi) + I_{\sigma}^{num}(\xi)\} d\xi.$$
(IV-45)

Near =1,

$$x_{\varepsilon'\Gamma'\sigma}^{\text{reg}}(\xi) \quad x_{n\Gamma\sigma}(\xi) \simeq \exp(-c_n\xi) \quad (\xi+1)^{q/2c_n-1} \quad \{\alpha_{\sigma}+\beta_{\sigma}(\xi-1)+\gamma_{\sigma}(\xi-1)^2\},$$
 (IV-46a)

where

$$\alpha_{\sigma} = a_0 b_0, \quad \beta_{\sigma} = a_1 b_0 + b_2 a_0 b_1, \quad (IV-46b)$$

 $\gamma_{\sigma} = \frac{1}{2} \{ 2a_2b_0 + a_1b_1 + \frac{1}{2}a_0(b_2-b_1) \};$ (IV-46c)

and a_i, b_i are the leading terms in the expansions, (III-38) (continuum states), and (III-17) (bound states), respectively. Therefore,

$$I_{\sigma} = (e^{2}/4) \int_{1}^{\infty} \exp(-c_{n}\xi) \{ x_{\varepsilon'\Gamma'\sigma}^{reg}(\xi) F_{n\Gamma\sigma}(\xi) I_{\sigma}^{num}(\xi) +$$

$$\left\{ \mathbf{x}_{\varepsilon'\Gamma^{\prime}\sigma}^{reg}(\xi) \; \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{n}\Gamma\sigma}(\xi) \; - \; (\xi+1)^{\mathbf{q}/2\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{n}}-1} \; \left[\alpha_{\sigma}^{} + \beta_{\sigma}^{}(\xi-1) + \gamma_{\sigma}^{}(\xi-1)^{2} \right] \right\}$$

$$\{a_{n}^{a_{n}a_{1}}(\xi)\} d\xi + (e^{2}/4) \int_{1}^{\infty} \exp(-c_{n}\xi) (\xi+1)^{q/2} c_{n}^{-1} \{\alpha_{q}^{+} + (e^{2}/4) - (\xi+1)^{q/2} c_{n}^{-1} \} d\xi$$

$$\beta_{\sigma}(\xi-1)+\gamma_{\sigma}(\xi-1)^{2} \quad I_{\sigma}^{\text{anal}}(\xi) \quad d\xi. \quad (IV-47)$$

As in the model problem, the first integral can be performed accurately by Gauss-Laguerre quadrature: and the second is evaluated in two parts: from 1 to 2, and from 2 to ∞ (see equations (IV-35) to (IV-40)). The $Q_n(\xi)$'s are computed using the explicit expressions near $\xi=1$, and the power series at larger ξ -values.⁵⁵

4.
$$I_{\pi} = \langle \varepsilon' \Gamma' \pi | (\partial V_e / \partial R) + r_{\alpha} | n \Gamma \pi \rangle (m' = m = 1)$$

a. <u>n-integrals</u>

We follow exactly the same procedure as in section 3 above. Near $\eta = 1$,

$$P_{K}^{1}(\eta) P_{L}^{1}(\eta) \simeq (1-\eta) \{a_{\pi}+b_{\pi}(1-\eta)\},$$
 (IV-48)

where

0

$$a_{-} = \frac{1}{2} K(K+1) L(L+1),$$
 (IV-48b)

$$b_{\pi} = -\frac{1}{4} a_{\pi} \{K(K+1) + L(L+1) - 2\}.$$

(IV-48c)

a)

Using the above relations, we can expand the product of the angular eigenfunctions as a power series in (l-n):

$$\mathbf{q}(\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}^{\mathbf{e}}, \mathbf{s}_{\Gamma\pi}^{\mathbf{e}} + \mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}^{\mathbf{o}}, \mathbf{s}_{\Gamma\pi}^{\mathbf{o}}) + \mathbf{p}(\mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}^{\mathbf{o}}, \mathbf{s}_{\Gamma\pi}^{\mathbf{e}} + \mathbf{s}_{\Gamma}^{\mathbf{e}}, \mathbf{s}_{\Gamma\pi}^{\mathbf{o}})$$

= $XE_{\pi}(n) + XO_{\pi}(n)$ (IV-49)

$$\approx$$
 (1-n) {A_n+B_n(1-n)}.

From equations (IV-30) and (IV-31),

$$I_{\pi}^{\text{anal}}(\xi) = \int_{-1}^{+1} \{\xi(1-\eta^2) - \eta(\xi^2-1)\} / (\xi-\eta)^2 \{A_{\pi}(1-\eta) + \eta(\xi^2-1)\} / (\xi-\eta)^2 \}$$

$$B_{\pi}(1-\eta)^2$$
 d η (IV-50)

= 4 {
$$A_{\pi}(Q_2-Q_3)$$
 + (2 $B_{\pi}/15$) (6 Q_4^2 -15 Q_3 +10 Q_2-Q_0) }

 $(2/3) (A_{\pi} + 2B_{\pi});$

and

$$I_{\pi}^{num}(\xi) = \int_{-1}^{+1} \{\xi(1-\eta^2) - \eta(\xi^2-1)\} / (\xi-\eta)^2 \{XE_{\pi}(\eta) + XO_{\pi}(\eta) - \eta(\xi^2-1)\} / (\xi-\eta)^2 \{XE_{\pi}(\eta) + XO_{\pi}(\eta) - \eta(\xi^2-1)\} / (\xi-\eta)^2 \{XE_{\pi}(\eta) + \chi(\xi-\eta) + \chi(\xi-\eta)\}$$

$$A_{\pi}(1-\eta)-B_{\pi}(1-\eta)^{2}$$
 dη

$$= \int_{-1}^{+1} H(\eta) \, d\eta \simeq \sum_{i=1}^{16} w_i' \{H(\eta_i) + H(-\eta_i)\}, \quad (IV-51)$$

109

(IV-52)

a)

b. <u>f-integrals</u>

weights.

 $I_{\pi} = (e^2/4) \int_{1}^{\infty} \exp(-c_n \xi) X_{\varepsilon'\Gamma'\pi}^{reg}(\xi) F_{n\Gamma\pi}(\xi) \{I_{\pi}^{anal}(\xi) +$

 $I_{\pi}^{num}(\xi) \} d\xi.$

Near $\xi = 1$,

$$x_{\epsilon'\Gamma',\pi}^{reg}(\xi) = (\xi-1)(\xi+1)^{q/2} c_n^{-2} \{\alpha_{\pi} + \beta_{\pi}(\xi-1)\},$$
(IV-53)

where

$$\alpha_{\pi} = a_0 b_0'' \qquad \beta_{\pi} = a_1 b_0 + b_1 a_0 b_1;$$
 (IV-53b)

and a_i, b_i are the leading terms in the expansions, (III38) (continuum states), and (III-17) (bound states), respectively. Therefore,

$$I_{\pi} = (e^2/4) \int_{1}^{\infty} \exp(-c_n \xi) \{ x_{\varepsilon'\Gamma'\pi}^{reg}(\xi) F_{n\Gamma\pi}(\xi) I_{\pi}^{num}(\xi) +$$

$$\left\{ X_{\varepsilon'\Gamma'\pi}^{\text{reg}}(\xi) F_{n\Gamma\pi}(\xi) - (\xi-1)(\xi+1)^{q/2c}n^{-2} [\alpha_{\pi}^{\circ} + \beta_{\pi}(\xi-1)] \right\}$$

$$I_{\pi}^{anal}(\xi) \} d\xi + (e^{2}/4) \int_{1}^{\infty} \exp(-c_{n}\xi) (\xi-1) (\xi+1)^{q/2} c_{n}^{-2} \{\alpha_{\pi} \}$$

 $\beta_{\pi}(\xi-1)$] $I_{\pi}^{\text{anal}}(\xi) d\xi$. (IV-54)

These integrals are computed exactly as in the I_{σ} case.

This completes the calculation of the matrix elements of $(\frac{\partial V}{\partial R})_{\frac{1}{r}}$. The radial component of $\frac{1}{2}(R)$ is then given by

$$[P^{g}]_{jn}^{R} = (-i\hbar) I_{m} / (\epsilon_{n} - \epsilon_{j}). \qquad (IV-55)$$

We now turn to the matrix elements of $\frac{+9}{5}$.

E. Matrix Elements of [hBO, 59]

1. Introduction

1.

i

We have to compute (see equations (IV-5b) and (IV-9b)):

$$I_{m}^{R} = \langle \varepsilon' \Gamma' m | z_{g} f | n \Gamma m \rangle$$

ii.
$$I_{m \to m}^{\Theta} = \langle \varepsilon' \Gamma' m' | x_g f | n \Gamma m \rangle$$
 (IV-57a)

$$\mathbf{x}_{\hat{g}} = (R/2) (\xi^2 - 1)^{\frac{1}{2}} (1 - \eta^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} \cos\phi$$
 (IV-57b)

For the switching function, I propose to use the form (see figure 7):

 $f = tanh(A\eta+B)$,

(IV-58)

(IV-56a)



Figure 7. Model switching function: f = tanh(2n-0.2)

ŧ

where the parameters, A and B, are to be determined. This will be discussed in detail in the next chapter.

The integrals over ϕ can be done by inspection, and yield the selection rules for m: matrix elements are nonzero only if m' = m, for the radial component; and m' = m ± 1, for the angular component. Of course, these rules are the same as those for the matrix elements of $(\partial V_e / \partial R)_{r}^{+}$ and \hat{L}_{\pm}^{-g} , respectively. Both the n- and ξ -integrals are evaluated numerically, and they are quite straightforward.

2. Evaluation of I R

$$I_{m}^{R} = (R/2)^{4} \int_{1}^{\infty} \exp(-c_{n}\xi) X_{\varepsilon'\Gamma'm}^{reg}(\xi) F_{n\Gamma m}(\xi) \xi (\xi^{2}I_{1}-I_{2}) d\xi,$$
(IV-59a)

where

$$I_1 = \int_{-1}^{+1} S_{\Gamma'm}(\eta) S_{\Gamma m}(\eta) \eta \tanh(A\eta+B) d\eta,$$
 (IV-59b)

$$I_2 = \int_{-1}^{+1} S_{\Gamma,m}(\eta) S_{\Gamma m}(\eta) \eta^3 \tanh(A\eta+B) d\eta.$$
 (IV-59c)

The integrals, Γ_1 and Γ_2 , are evaluated by 32-point Gauss-Legendre quadrature. To simplify the expressions, write $\eta S_{\Gamma,m}(\eta) S_{\Gamma,m}(\eta)$ as the sum of even and odd parts,

$$S_{\Gamma'm}(n) S_{\Gamma m}(n) = SE(n) + SO(n),$$
 (IV-60)

which can be calculated explicitly from equations (IV-13a)

 $I_{1} \approx \sum_{j=1}^{16} w_{j}' \{ [SE(\eta_{j}) + SO(\eta_{j})] tanh(A\eta_{j} + B) - [SE(\eta_{j}) - SO(\eta_{j})] \}$

 $tanh(-A\eta_{j}+B)$; (IV-61a)

and $I_{2} \stackrel{\simeq}{=} \sum_{j=1}^{D} w_{j}' \{ [SE(\eta_{j}) + SO(\eta_{j})] \ tanh(A\eta_{j} + B) - [SE(\eta_{j}) - SO(\eta_{j})] \}$

 $tanh(-A\eta_j+B) \mid \eta_j^2$. (IV-6lb)

The ξ -integrals are now evaluated by Gauss-Laguerre quadrature.

3. Evaluation of $I_{m \rightarrow m^3}^{\Theta}$

$$I_{m \to m'} = \frac{1}{2} (R/2)^{4} \int_{1}^{\infty} \exp(-c_{n}\xi) x_{\varepsilon'\Gamma'm'}^{reg}(\xi) F_{n\Gamma m}(\xi) (\xi^{2}-1)^{\frac{1}{2}} (\xi^{2}I_{3}-I_{4}) d\xi, \quad (IV-62a)$$

where

$$I_{3} = \int_{-1}^{+1} S_{\Gamma,m}(\eta) S_{\Gamma,m}(\eta) (1-\eta^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}} \tanh(A\eta+B) d\eta;$$
(IV-62b)

and

$$I_{4} = \int_{-1}^{+1} S_{\Gamma'm'}(\eta) S_{\Gamma m}(\eta) (1-\eta^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}} \tanh(A\eta+B) \eta^{2} d\eta.$$
(IV-62c)

The factor of $\frac{1}{2}$ comes from the integration over ϕ . Now⁵

$$(1-\eta^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} P_{L}^{m}(\eta) = (2L+1)^{-1} \{P_{L+1}^{m+1}(\eta) - P_{L-1}^{m+1}(\eta)\},$$

and this relation can be used to simplify the integrals, so that they only involve one set of $P_L^{(m)}(\eta)$'s. If m' = m + 1, use the relation to express $(1-\eta^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} S_{\Gamma m}(\eta)$ as a sum of $P_L^{(m)}(\eta)$'s; on the other hand, if m' = m - 1, use it to express $(1-\eta^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} S_{\Gamma'm'}(\eta)$ as a sum of $P_L^{(m)}(\eta)$'s. In either case, write $(1-\eta^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} S_{\Gamma'm'}(\eta) S_{\Gamma m}(\eta)$ as a sum of even and odd parts:

$$(1-\eta^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} S_{\Gamma'm}(\eta) S_{\Gamma m}(\eta) = YE(\eta) + YO(\eta).$$
 (IV-63)

Thus, I_3 and I_4 reduce to exactly the same forms as I_1 (equation (IV-59b)) and I_2^{\dagger} ((IV-59c)), and the evaluation of $I_{m \rightarrow m}^{\Theta}$, proceeds on exactly the same lines as that of I_m^{R} . The components of $\underline{\vec{A}}(R)$ are then given by

$$[A^{g}]_{jn}^{R} = (im/2\hbar) \quad (\varepsilon_{j} - \varepsilon_{n}) \quad I_{m}^{R}, \qquad (IV-64a)$$

$$[A^{g}]_{jn}^{\Theta} = (im/2\hbar) (\varepsilon_{j} - \varepsilon_{n}) I_{m \to m}^{\Theta} . \qquad (IV-64b)$$

F. Summary

In this chapter, I have described the evaluation of the matrix elements af $\vec{P}(R) + \vec{A}(R)$ in great detail, for transitions from bound molecular states to the electronic continuum. For the next chapter, I would like the reader to imagine that we have a "black-box" computer programme. If we give the programme:

i. the nuclear charges, e.g., $Z_A = 2.0$, $Z_B = 1.0$ ii. bound state, united-atom-limit quantum numbers, e.g., n = 2, $\Gamma = 1$, m = 0 (2po state)

iii. continuum state energy (or energies), united-atomlimit angular momentum, and azimuthal quantum numbers, e.g., $\varepsilon' = 0.5$ Ry., $\Gamma' = 1(1)5$, m' = 1 (p, d, f, g, and h π -waves)

iv. the parameters, A and B, in the switching function
v. the desired range of R-values, e.g., 0.25(0.25)10.0
then the computer will calculate for us, at each R-value:
i. the bound state eigenenergy and separation constant
ii. the continuum state separation constant and phase
shift

iii. $[P^{g}(R)]_{in}$ and $[P^{g}(R)+A^{g}(R)]_{in}$

In our example, it will calculate the angular couplings from the 2pg state to the five partial waves specified. In the next chapter, I will discuss the variation of the matrix elements with the parameters, A and B. We will assume that the programme is debugged...

CHAPTER V

RESULTS

A. Introduction⁵⁶

In earlier chapters, I have pointed out that nonadiabatic couplings between low-lying bound states and the electronic continuum are extremely sensitive to the choice of the switching function. Studies of this f-dependence may provide useful insight; and it may also be possible to choose an f which is in some sense "optimum" for a particular problem.

Such studies have been carried out by Thorson and coworkers,² in connection with the calculation of direct impact ionisation cross sections in H^+ -H(ls) collisions. For each bound state they studied $(ls\sigma_g, 2p\sigma_u, 2p\pi_u, in$ united atom notation), they found that a definite choice for the switching function may be made, which simultaneously and systematically reduces the couplings from that state to all continuum states, in most cases by several orders of magnitude. Whereas the uncorrected pss theory predicts large couplings to 30-40 continuum partial waves, with the envelope of these couplings having a range of about 40 au; the corrected couplings are significant only

for the first two or three partial waves, and their range is less than 12 au. It was shown that the switching functions which achieve these spectacular reductions do not depend on the energy, or other quantum numbers, of the continuum states, nor upon the type of coupling causing transitions (radial or angular); however, the f's are ifferent for each discrete state. From these results, one could infer that the switching functions so determined are characteristic of the discrete states themselves, and . and might therefore be relevant to the computation of corrected couplings for transitions other than ionisation -- for example, close coupling between discrete states. This possibility was an important motivation for the work reported in this chapter. I have extended the studies described in reference 2 to electrically asymmetric systems, such as HeH⁺⁺, and to additional discrete states; I have also made the procedure for selecting the switching function parameters more systematic. The corrected matrix elements reported here can also be used to calculate ionisation cross sections, for these more general systems.

The formulation of slow collision theory using switching functions can be extended so that each discrete electronic state, $|n\rangle$, has a translation factor with a <u>different</u> characteristic switching function, $f_n(\vec{r};\vec{R})$. This extension is quite straightforward at the level of a semiclassical approximation, and the main results are as follows (see Appendix).

- i. The resulting close-coupled equations have the same form as those derived in chapter II, and the expression for the corrected nonadiabatic coupling matrix elements also has the same form (see equations (V-2) and (V-3), below)
- ii. Since the switching functions, f_n , f_j , are different, the electronic states, $|n\rangle$, $|j\rangle$, are not orthogonal, and the corrected nonadiabatic couplings are not Hermitian; however, the non-Hermitian character exactly compensates for the non-orthogonality of the basis kets, and guarantees that the coupled equations conserve probability
- iii. In the asymptotic channel limits, the electronic states are rigorously orthogonal, so vector solutions to the coupled equations give directly the <u>unitary</u> <u>S</u>-matrix for a collision, in the limit, $t + +\infty$

This establishes that a switching function formulation of a close-coupling slow collision problem, with a different switching function for each molecular state, provides a formally valid theory (provided, of course, that the f_n's satisfy the asymptotic constraints).

As I pointed out in chapter I, most earlier treatments of the slow collision problem, which correctly take account of boundary conditions and translation factors, can be recovered as special cases of this general formulation. In electrically asymmetric systems, the molecular states asymptotically correlate in a one-to-one fashion with atomic states of either nucleus A or B. If we choose $f_n = +1$ for the asymptotic B-states, and $f_n = -1$ for the A-states, the formulation of Bates and McCarroll³ is obtained. This is also exactly equivalent to the formalism (based on projection operators) proposed by Matveyenko,²⁴ and is essentially equavalent to the "distorted cluster states" method of Y. Hahn.²³ For symmetric systems, the connection between a switching function approach and these other methods is not so clear.

In this chapter, I will describe the selection of a more elaborate set of switching functions for several discrete states of two-centre, one-electron systems. The states studied are the $ls\sigma$, $2s\sigma$, $2p\sigma$, $2p\pi$, and $3d\sigma$ states (united atom notation); for systems with nuclear charges, $Z_{R} = +1.0$, $+1.0 \le Z_{A} \le +2.0$. The selection criterion is based on the remarkable sensitivity, of continuum couplings from these states, to the detailed form of the switching function, as reported earlier² for H_2^+ . We find that there are very specific choices for each switching -, function, $f_n(\vec{r};\vec{R})$, which are independent of continuum state properties, or the type of coupling considered, but are characteristic of each discrete state, n as stated earlier, this approach suggests that these switching functions may be appropriate for problems more of

119

2:

than the ionisation one.

These calculations are not based rigorously upon any formal variational principle, nor is the set of switching functions so obtained unique, or a "best," choice in any absolute sense. However, this set may have some advantages for close-coupling studies, and this point is discussed in section D, by some comparisons with alternative formulations.

In the rest of the Introduction, I will summarise the definitions of the coupling matrix elements. Section B describes the procedure used to select the switching function parameters; and section C presents the results of the calculations.

In uncorrected pss theory, the matrix elements for nonadiabatic coupling are defined

$$\vec{P}_{jn}(R) = -i\hbar \langle \phi_j | (\vec{\nabla}_R) + | \phi_n \rangle. \qquad (v-1)$$

In the corrected theory, $\underline{\vec{P}}(R)$ is simply replaced by $\underline{\vec{P}}^{g}(R)$ + $\underline{\vec{A}}^{g}(R)$, where

(V-2)

$$\vec{P}_{jn}^{g}(R) = -i\hbar \langle \phi_{j} | (\vec{\nabla}_{R})_{\vec{r}} | \phi_{n} \rangle;$$

and

$$\vec{A}_{jn}^{g}(R) = (im/\hbar) \langle \phi_{j} | [h_{BO}, \vec{s}_{n}^{g}] | \phi_{n} \rangle,$$

(V-4)

with

$$\vec{s}_n^g = t_i f_n(\vec{r}; \vec{R}) \vec{r}_g$$

These equations are exactly equivalent to equations (IV-1) to (IV-4), with $f(\vec{r};\vec{R})$ replaced by $f_n(\vec{r};\vec{R})$ (see Appendix).

B. "Optimisation" Procedure

For their calculations on the H_2^+ system, Lebeda, Thorson, and Levy^{2a} used a switching function of the form

$$f_{r}(\vec{r};\vec{R}) = \tanh\{\beta_{r}(R)Rn\},$$
 (V-5)

where $\beta_n(R)$ is a variable parameter. For each discrete state they studied, at a series of R-values, they plotted the magnitudes of the corrected radial coupling matrix elements against β , for a series of partial waves. At each R, they showed that there is a particular value, β_n , which produces spectacular reductions in the corrected couplings to higher partial waves, relative to the pss values. The same value of β_n was obtained by independent calculations at several different continuum energies. Similar calculations by SethuRaman, Thorson, and Lebeda^{2b} for the angular couplings gave approximately the same values of β_n as were obtained for radial couplings. I have repeated these calculations, and extended them to additional discrete states, and to electrically asymmetric systems; rather than determine $\beta_n(R)$ graphically, I have made the selection procedure automatic, and numerically more precise. However, the main idea, and the behaviour observed, are the same as in reference 2. Using a suitable parametric form for the switching function, we look for specific choices of the defining parameters which achieve large, <u>simultaneous</u> reductions in as many of the continuum couplings as possible, and we define as "optimum" the parameters which best achieve this. This idea is justified by the remarkable results obtained, rather than by any a priori arguments.

For a system with nuclear charges, Z_A , Z_B , at each R, and for each discrete state, $|n\rangle$, considered, the procedure that I used is as follows.

i. Consider a set of continuum states, {<j}}, with the same (arbitrary) energy, ɛ_j, and azimuthal quantum number, m'; and linked to |n> by either radial (m'=m), or angular (m'=m±1), coupling. The set, {<j}, is thus a set of "partial waves" characterised by the "angular" eigenvalues, and I have indexed them by the corresponding united-atom-limit orbital angular momentum quantum number, L'.</p>

(V-6)

ii. For each state, $\langle j |$, we define the residuum

 $\rho_{jn} = |1 + (A_{jn}^{g}/P_{jn}^{g})|,$

where the matrix elements are the radial (equation (IV-5)), or angular (equation (IV-9)), components of \underline{P}^{g} and \underline{A}^{g} (with f replaced by f_{n}). ρ_{jn} is just the magnitude of the corrected coupling, relative to the uncorrected (geometric centre) pss matrix element. The parametric form used for f_{n} is

$$f_{n} = \tanh \{R(\frac{1}{\beta}\beta_{n}[(Z_{A}+Z_{B})\eta+(Z_{A}, Z_{B})] + \alpha_{n}\ln(Z_{B}/Z_{A})\} \} (V-7)$$

iii.

iv.

where α_n and β_n are variable parameters. This reduces to the form (V-5), for $Z_B = Z_A$; it is equivalent to the form, $\tanh\{R(B_n\eta+A_n)\}$ (cf. equation (V-58)), but it displays more explicitly the observed charge dependence in the optimum switching functions. For each set of continuum states, we determine the parameters, α_n and β_n , such that the sum

$$S_{n}(\alpha_{n},\beta_{n}) = \sum_{j} \rho_{jn}^{2}$$
 (V-8)

is minimised. Most of the ratios, ρ_{jn} , are very sensitive to changes in f_n : the residua of the first two or three partial wave couplings are only changed slightly by varying f_n ; but those for all higher partial waves vary by <u>orders of magnitude</u>, and the <u>same</u> choice of f_n reduces all of them together. The ρ_{jn} are typically much more sensitive to β than to α . The sum in equation (V-8) may include all of the partial waves considered (up to L' = 10 or 12), or it may include only some of them--as long as the higher ones are included. In searching for the minimum, I found it convenient to omit the first two or three partial wave couplings, because of their insensitivity to changes in f_n ; the minimum is much more sharply defined when they are excluded. However, the "optimum" values obtained for $\beta_n(R)$ (to three significant figures), and $\alpha_n(R)$ (to two sig. figs.) remain unchanged.

This process is repeated for other, arbitrarily chosen, energies, and for all possible types of coupling from the state, $|n\rangle$, at a series of R-values; and the values of the "optimum" parameters are compared. The results are described in the next section.

C. Results of Calculations

1. Behaviour of Optimum Parameters

(a) The precision with which the optimum parameters can be determined depends on three factors: (1) the sharpness of the minima in S_n^c , (2) the agreement between determinations using different continuum energies, and (3) the agreement using different types of coupling. Usually, these factors are commensurable, and we can determine β_n to three significant figures and α_n to two significant figures.

(b) In every case, the optimum parameters are independent of continuum energy.

(c) In all cases (except for the $3d\sigma$ state; see items (e) and (h), below), the optimum parameters are the <u>same</u> for <u>radial</u> couplings from $|n\rangle$ as for <u>angular</u> couplings; in particular, this is true for the $2p\pi$ state, which is linked by angular couplings to both σ and δ continuum states.

(d) I have redetermined the parameters, $\beta_n(R)$, for both radial and angular couplings from the $1s\sigma_g$, $2p\sigma_u$, and $2p\pi_u$ states of H_2^+ , which were reported in reference 2. The new values lie well within the (graphically estimated) ranges given in reference 2a, for the radial parameters, but do not always agree with the estimated angular parameters of reference 2b. The present numbers are the more reliable.

(e) I have also determined $\beta_n(R)$ for the $2s\sigma_g$ and $3d\sigma_g$ states of H_2^+ . However, for the $3d\sigma_g$ state, the angular couplings are not very sensitive to the choice of β , and the resulting minimum is nearly flat for $0.02 \leq \beta \leq 0.10$. I have taken $\beta_n^{\ \Theta} = \beta_n^{\ R}$ here, as is found for every other case.

(f) I have studied the $1s\sigma$, $2s\sigma$, $2p\sigma$, $2p\pi$, and $3d\sigma$ states of the asymmetric HeH⁺⁺ system, and the $1s\sigma$, $2p\sigma$, and $2p\pi$ states of the intermediate model systems with $Z_B =$ 1.0, and $Z_A = 1.2$, 1.4, 1.6, and 1.8. If f_n is described

by equation (V-7), the effects of charge asymmetry are very well accounted for, and we can take the optimum values of $\beta_n(R)$ to be the <u>same</u> as those for H_2^+ . Typically, the S_n surface has a deep, somewhat elongated depression in the (α,β) plane, running almost parallel to the α -axis. Within this entire region, the residua for the higher partial waves are all of the order 10^{-3} to 10^{-4} . Therefore, <u>small</u> changes in $\beta_n(R)$ may be offset by compensating <u>larger</u> changes in $\alpha_n(R)$, while remaining in the optimum region. In most cases (but see item (g), below), the range of acceptable β -values does not vary from the H_2^+ values by more than 1% to 4%. The important point is that no <u>significant</u> further reduction of coupling matrix elements occurs elsewhere in the valley.

The optimum $\alpha_n(R)$ vary slowly with charge asymmetry. (g) At distances, $R \ge 2$ to 4 au, the optimum parameters for the 1so and 2so states of HeH⁺⁺ cannot be so precisely determined. Even at short distances, these states are dominantly <u>atomic</u> states of the He⁺ ion, and the appropriate switching function is -1. There is a wide range of parameters, α and β , yielding that simple result. At larger R-values ($R \ge 12$ au), this becomes the characteristic situation for most of the molecular states of HeH⁺⁺; in effect, the deep, elongated valley described above becomes very long and very broad. This is to be expected, because the very simple "atomic" switching functions, $f = f_J$, are always asymptotically correct. However, the lso and 2so states of HeH⁺⁺ are the only cases where such very simple choices can produce efficient reduction of the spurious pss couplings at the small to moderate distances where the physically real couplings occur.

(h) As in the case of H_2^+ , I found that the angular coupling matrix elements for the 3do state of HeH⁺⁺ are not very sensitive to changes in α and β , and I have again taken $\alpha^{\Theta} = \alpha^{R}$, and $\beta^{\Theta} = \beta^{R}$.

Figure 8 shows the values of $\beta_n(R)$ vs. R, determined for H_2^{+} . For the $3d\sigma_g$ state, the crosses represent the values determined for the radial couplings alone. For the remaining states, where an error bar appears, it indicates the difference between "best" values for $\beta_n(R)$ obtained from radial and from angular couplings; where only a cross appears, this difference is too small to be shown. Figure 9 depicts $\alpha_n(R)$ vs. R, for HeH⁺⁺ (β_n values are those for H_2^{+}). Error bars and crosses have the same meaning as in figure 8. The large uncertainties in $\alpha_{ls\sigma}$ and $\alpha_{2s\sigma}$ are related to the simple behaviour of the switching functions for these states.

Figures 10 and 11 are plots of the "optimum" switching functions for H_2^{++} and HeH^{++} vs. n, at R = 8.0 au. In figure 12, I have shown the behaviour of the switching function for the 1so state, as a function of Z_A , again at











Figure 11. "Optimum" f_n 's, for HeH⁺⁺, at R = 8.0 au

С


Figure 12. "Optimum" $f_{1s\sigma}$'s, as a function of Z_A , with $Z_B = 1.0$, and R = 8.0 au

 \hat{U}

R = 8.0 au. This illustrates very clearly the development of the atomic character of $f_{ls\sigma}$, as Z_A increases.

Table 5 gives detailed results for the "optimum" parameter, β_n . Tables 6 to 9 show the "optimum" values of α_n , as a function of Z_A .

2. Matrix Elements

To compute corrected nonadiabatic couplings to the continuum, I have used the straight-line approximations for both $\beta_n(R)$ and $\alpha_n(R)$ vs. R, which are shown in figures 8 and 9. It would appear from the figures that this might introduce large errors in the matrix elements at small values of R, but this is not the case. For R < 4 au, the matrix elements to higher partial waves are extremely small, while the couplings to the lower partial waves are not very sensitive to changes in the switching function parameters. Whether such departures from the "optimum" parameters can be used in computing discrete to discrete couplings is not so clear.

I have calculated the corrected matrix elements for the five discrete states mentioned, for H_2^+ and HeH^{++} . The corrected matrix elements for all but the first few partial waves are negligible, and these few are usually significantly reduced in size and range. By contrast, the pss couplings are all large and very long ranged.

Notation in the figures labels bound states (|nLm>), and continuum states (< ϵ 'L'm'

133

E

| υ · · · | | | n | | 4 | |
|------------|--------|-------|---------|--------------------|-------|------|
| | ls | σ | 25 | 3 0 | 2] | ρσ |
| R | г у | 9/9R | î, y | 9/9R | î, | 9/9R |
| 2 | . 399 | .400 | .2231 | . 2239 | .212 | .203 |
| 4 | .385 | . 385 | .2050 | .2053 | .216 | .217 |
| 6 | .402 | .403 | .2033 | ,2037 | .220 | .220 |
| 8 | . 424 | . 424 | .2073 | .2073 | .224 | .223 |
| 10 | .439 | .439 | .2136 | .2135 | . 229 | .227 |
| 12 | .450 | .451 | .2200 | .2201 [.] | .237 | .231 |
| | | | | | | |

"OPTIMUM" β_n 's, DETERMINED FOR H_2^+

| 2рт | |
|-----|------|
| î. | 9/9R |

Ĵ_

R

3do

/**∂/** ∂R

| R | L_ | r+ | 9/9R | ∂/ ∂R _≤ |
|----|------|------|------|-------------|
| 2 | - | - | .161 | .042 |
| 4 | .161 | .160 | .152 | .063 |
| 6 | .157 | .15 | .146 | .063 |
| 8 | .149 | .151 | .151 | .058 |
| 10 | .152 | .154 | .154 | .052 |
| 12 | .159 | .159 | .159 | .046 |
| · | | • | | <u> </u> |

"OPTIMUM" α_n 's, FOR THE lsd STATE

| | $z_A = 1$. | 7 | L.4 | 5 | Т. 0 | , Q | Ч. | * * | 2.0 | 0 |
|----|--------------------|---------------|--------|------|-------------|--------|---------------------|---------|--------|------------|
| R | د م <mark>م</mark> | 9/ a r | ۲, ۲ | 9/ЭК | ہ ، ت | 9/3R | د با <mark>م</mark> | Ĺy a/ar | ۲ × | 9/9К |
| 3 | 0.68 | 0.69 | 1.00 | 1.01 | 1.46 | 1.48 | - 1.99 | 2.03 | 1.77 | 1.79 |
| 4 | 1.29 | 1.29 | 1.23 | | 1.59 | 1.64 | 2.14 | 2.14 | 1.87 | 1.84 |
| 9 | J. 71 | 1.73 | - 1.75 | 1.82 | 2.04 1.98 | 1.98 | 1.7 | 1.5 | 1.7 | 2.0 |
| ω | 2.09 | 2.13 | 2.39 | 2.29 | 2.3 | 2.0 | 2.3 | 2.0 | 7 | 8 |
| TO | 2.24 | 2.29 | 3.0 | 2.8 | 2.5 | 2.8 | m | e | r I | , I |
| 12 | 2.62 | 2.90 | 3.5 | 3.5 | , m | M | ` 1 | 1 | ł | I |

"OPTIMUM" α_n 's, FOR THE $2p\sigma$ STATE

| | • • • • | 7 | F • 7 | ۲ |) • T | 5 | | D | | |
|----|-------------|--------|-----------|--------------|----------------|-----------|------|-----------|--------------|-----------|
| ĸ | ς Υ Γ | 3/3R | Υ Γ· | Ĺy ∂/∂R ⇒ | 、 [,] | 9/3R | ۲, ۲ | 9/3R | ر م لر ۲ | а∕ак |
| 2 | + 35 | +.37 + | +.36 +.39 | +.39 | | +.33 | + 30 | +.30 +.33 | +.30 | +.30 +.34 |
| 4 | +.01 | +.01 | +.09 | +.09 +.09 | +.13 | +.13 +.14 | +.18 | +.18 +.18 | • +.21 *+.21 | +.21 |
| 9 | н • 32 Н | | 12 | 1213 | 0304 | 04 | +.03 | +.03 +.02 | +.07 +.07 | +.07 |
| 80 | 45 | 46 | 32 | 34 | | 0708 | +.00 | 01 | +.06 | +.06 +.05 |
| 10 | - 69 | 70 | - 55 - | 59 | | 2021 | 11 | 05 | +.02 | +.02 +.02 |
| 12 | -1.0 | -1.2 | - 89 | - 9 9 | 22 | 23 | 14 | 14 | 02 | 06 |

"OPTIMUM" α_n 's, FOR THE 2pm STATE

| , 1.4 |
|---------------------|
| т.+ ^, а/ак т |
| 1 |
| |
| 0.43 |
| 0.42 |
| 0.39 |
| 0.40 |
| 0.42 |
| 0.43 |
| 0.46 |
| 0.46 |
| 0.49 |
| 0.49 |

137

r

ί.

i

| · | | "OPTIMUM" | a _n 's, F | Ок нен++ | • | |
|--------|----------|-----------|----------------------|----------|------|-------------|
| (a) 2 | so state | | | ` | | |
| | R = 2 | 4 | 6 | 8 | 10 | 12 |
| Ê Y | 0.88 | 1.43 | 1.05 | 0.95 | 1.2 | 1.2 |
| 9/9R | 1.6 | 1.28 | 0.91 | 0.92 | 1.0 | 0.9 |
| b) 30 | do state | | | | | |
| | R = 2 | 4 | 6 | 8 | 10 | 12 |
| / ƏR | 0.55 | 0.23 | 0.17 | 0.17 | 0.19 | 0.24 |
| | | ······ | | | | |

١

138

-3

atom principal quantum number, ε' is the continuum electronic energy (in Rydbergs); L, L' are united atom orbital angular momentum quantum numbers; and m, m' are azimuthal quantum numbers; distance, R, is in au. The matrix elements shown are related to those defined in equations (IV-5) and (IV-9) as follows:

$$\langle \varepsilon'L'm|H(RAD)|nLm\rangle = (i/h) [P^{g}+A^{g}]_{jn'}^{R}$$
 (V-9a)

 $\langle \varepsilon' L'm \pm 1 | H(ANG) | nLm \rangle = (i/2\mu\hbar) [P^{g}+A^{g}]_{jn}^{\Theta} \cdot (V-9b)$

For convenience, I have taken $\mu = 1836.1 \text{ m}_0$ (proton rest mass). Table 10 provides a guide to the figures.

Fig. 13 shows the disastmous long-range behaviour of the fected pss matrix elements, here shown for H_2^+ ; the corresponding corrected matrix elements (dashed curves) are negligible. Of course, at the large distances shown, any simple switching function which has the value +1, in the entire neighbourhood of nucleus B, and -1, near A, will produce similar results; the main point of this picture is to illustrate the uncorrected pss couplings.

Figures 14 to 24 compare the uncorrected pss couplings (solid curves) and the corrected couplings (dashed curves), for the various initial states of H_2^+ ; figures 25 to 35 show the same thing for HeH⁺⁺. For HeH⁺⁺, I have also included for comparison the corrected matrix elements

140

à C And

<u>_</u>:

TABLE 10

1)

A GUIDE TO THE FIGURES

| | • | lso | 2so | 2pơ | 2рπ | 3đ ơ |
|------------------|-----------------------------|--------|-----|-----|-------------------------------|-------------|
| radial | H ₂ + | 14 | 15 | 16 | 17 | 18 |
| , ann a r | HeH ⁺⁺ | , ~ 25 | 26 | 27 | 28 | 29 |
| | H ₂ ⁺ | 19 | 20 | 21 | 22(L_) 23(L ₊) | 24 |
| angular | HeH++ | 30 | 31 | 32 | 33(L_) 34(L ₊) | ′ 35 |

pss value

corrected value with optimum f_n corrected value with Bates-McCarroll f_n

In all cases, the continuum energy, ε' , is 0.50 Ry.









Figure 16. <0.5L'0 | H(RAD) | 210>, H_2^+ , L' = 1(2)7



Figure 17. <0.5L'1 | H(RAD) | 211>, H_2^+ , L' = 1(2)7



Figure 19. <0.5L'1|H(ANG)|100>, H_2^+ , L' = 2(2)8





Figure 20. <0.5L'1|H(ANG)|200>, H_2^+ , L' = 2(2)8





Figure 22. <0.5L'0 | H (ANG) | 211>, H_2^+ , L' = 1(2)7



Figure 23. <0.5L'2 | H(ANG) | 211>, H_2^+ , L' = 3(2)9

V

















Ť







Figure 34. <0.5L'2|H(ANG)|212>, HeH^{++} , L' = 2(1)5



.

.

which are obtained using the simple, Bates-McCarroll³ switching functions ($f_n = +1$, for asymptotic "B" states; and $f_n = -1$, for "A" states). As I noted above, this simple choice gives excellent results for the lsg and 2sg states (figures 25 and 26) at all distances. For the other states, this choice gives results in agreement with those using "optimum" switching functions, at large distances only. For intermediate distances, the resulting couplings are often larger than the uncorrected pss couplings. This is especially true for states like $2p\sigma$, which have significant molecular character (figure 27). These comparisons show that, in such cases, the more elaborate description of switching functions given here is really necessary to describe continuum couplings well. This will probably also be true for couplings between discrete states.

D. Discussion

1. Summary

Using switching functions to describe the effects of electron translation in discrete molecular states, I have shown empirically that (1) the corrected nonadiabatic couplings from these states to the continuum are generally very sensitive to the detailed form of the switching function; (2) with a suitable choice of f, the corrected couplings to all higher partial waves are at least three orders of magnitude smaller than the corresponding uncorrected pss couplings, and the range and magnitude of the remaining couplings are also reduced greatly; and (3) the choice of the switching function which produces this cancellation is <u>independent</u> of continuum state characteristics and of the type of coupling involved, but <u>does</u> depend on the initial discrete state. The results provide strong evidence that the switching function approach to translation factor corrections has a sound physical basis: systematic reductions by several orders of magnitude are <u>not</u> fortuitous. This confirms earlier findings, and extends them to additional discrete states and also to asymmetric systems. The results are significant in two different contexts.

2. Ionisation

First, as was the intent in reference 2, the corrected couplings to continuum states can be used to compute physically sensible impact ionisation cross sections. The rationale for choosing switching functions to minimise continuum couplings has been described previously by Thorson et al. 1c,2a They argued that (1) ionisation cross sections can be computed by a first-order perturbation approximation; (2) if the cross sections are small (i.e., if coupling is weak), one should choose a zero-order basis set for which the first-order couplings are as small as possible; and (3) one can look upon the "optimisation"

·

calculations as a kind of heuristic variational method This argument is intuitive, and is not based on any formal variational principle; there is no principle white states that the best zero-order pasis is the one which minimises the first-order T-matrix (although, in the case of weak coupling, this is certainly plausible). Note also that minimising the first-order couplings does not necessarily minimise the first-order transition probabilities (the transition probability is essentially $|\int_{0}^{\infty}$ matrix element × $\exp\{-i\int^{t} \Delta \varepsilon dt'/h\} dt|^{2}$). Of course, if one reduces a matrix element by a factor of 10³, it is hard to argue that the corresponding T-matrix element is not similarly reduced. Finally, one may ask whether, in fact, first-order perturbation theory provides an adequate description of impact ionisation. The whole question of the convergence of perturbation expansions is extremely complicated, but there are reasons for believing that the "off-shell" contributions from the second-order terms may well be important.⁵⁷

Although the impact ionisation theory is based on intuitive ideas, the figures given here and in reference 2 show that orders of magnitude differences will exist between ionisation cross sections computed using uncorrected pss theory, and those computed using the corrected matrix elements. These differences are exaggerated by the fact that the efficiency of ionisation depends very strongly on the effective ionisation potential in the region of coupling.^{2b,58} the lsg state of H₂⁺, for example, the ionisation potential at short distances is significantly larger than the asymptotic value, and the ionisation cross section is dominated by the contribution of any couplings at distances greater than 2 to 4 au. In pss theory, these contributions are very large, and almost entirely spurious.

Figures 25 to 29 suggest that ionisation cross sections for HeH⁺⁺ computed using the simple asymptotic switching functions, $f_n = \pm 1$, may agree more closely with those computed using the "optimum" f_n 's; indeed, the lso and 2so cross sections should be essentially the same in each case. On the other hand, substantial differences should exist for "molecular" states like 2po (ionisation of H(ls) by He⁺⁺). Of course, I think that the more elaborate, "optimum" switching functions are the ones appropriate for such cases.

3. Close-coupling

a. Comparison with pss-type Theories

Since the examination of continuum couplings is giving information about the bound state f_n 's, the results also have some implications for the selection of switching functions for general close-coupling problems. However, before discussing these, I should first emphasise the distinction between close-coupling formulations which
correctly take account of electron translation (switching function theories), and those which do not do so (pss-type theories). This distinction is important for both formal and practical reasons.

I pointed out earlier that any arbitrarily chosen set of switching functions gives a formally valid theory of close-coupling. Moreover, by taking particular choices for the f,'s, nearly all existing theories which take account of electron translation can be accomodated as special cases of such a formulation. Provided the basis used is large enough, the resulting detailed cross sections are guaranteed to be correct and independent of the choice of switching functions. No such guarantees can be given for pss theory, because the basis functions do not satisfy asymptotic scattering boundary conditions. Neither can they be given for modifications which take some fixed point (e.g., the target, or projectile, nucleus) as the reference origin for electron co-ordinates. This is true even though the results may converge numerically, as the number of close-coupled states considered is increased.

Even if we leave aside the question of formal validity, the uncorrected theories are computationally inconvenient. As the figures show for continuum couplings, there are many large, long-ranged matrix elements, and this is also the case for couplings between discrete states. The corrected couplings can be greatly reduced in . size and range, even with a very simple switching function. This is an important practical advantage, since computer time is often a limiting factor in close-coupling studies. Recently, Winter and Lane²⁰ have described a very

thorough treatment of slow collisions in the HeH⁺⁺ system, following an earlier study by Piacentini and Salin. 19 both studies, the objective is the calculation of the total charge-exchange cross section for He⁺⁺ + H(ls) collisions. Both note the problem of translation factors and their effects, but use the target (H) nucleus as the fixed origin of electron co-ordinates. This ensures that boundary conditions are satisfied for all scattering states in the target channel, but not for those in the He⁺ channel. The total capture cross section can be found from probability conservation. Winter and Lane²⁰ remark that they did not calculate cross sections for individual transitions, because their treatment does not fully take account of translation factor corrections. They include up to 20 discrete states, and present pictures of many of the matrix elements obtained in this formulation.

Choosing the proton as a fixed reference origin is equivalent to taking $f_n = +1$, for <u>all</u> states, i.e., it is <u>not</u> a switching function. Matrix elements coupling states which are asymptotically in the He⁺ channel behave like pss matrix elements; those involving states in the H⁺ channel are asymptotically well-behaved, but are fairly large at finite distances. Using a switching function formulation, most of these couplings can be greatly reduced in size and range.

b. Comparison with other Switching Functions

Finally, we may consider the respective merits of elaborate "molecular" switching functions (like those determined here), and the simpler choices, $f_n = \pm 1$ (to which ours reduce as $R+\infty$), for use in close-coupling calculations. Although the whole subject of switching functions needs more study before this question can be resolved, some relevant points are suggested by this work.

(1) As I have pointed out, the behaviour of couplings to the continuum "selects" optimum switching functions which are precisely defined. Moreover, they are functions only of the initial discrete state, and they differ significantly from the simple forms only when the corresponding state, $|n\rangle$, is genuinely "molecular." It seems very likely that the variation of the switching function is reflecting that molecular character.

(2) In a close-coupling calculation, the basis is truncated to a finite set of molecular electronic states, and couplings to states outside that manifold are ignored. In particular, couplings to the continuum are neglected, because we know that the ionisation cross sections are small. It is certainly consistent with that neglect to use a formulation in which the theoretical couplings to the continuum are made as small as possible.

(3) We should recognise that it may be possible to reduce the corrected matrix elements still further, with a more sophisticated form for f_n . However, with the possible exception of the 3do state, it is my belief that it will be hard to improve much on the spectacular, three to four orders of magnitude reductions.

(4) It will be interesting to compare the results obtained by Winter and Lane,²⁰ from their close-coupling study of HeH⁺⁺, with those obtained from studies using (a) the simple switching functions, $f_n = \pm 1$, and (b) the "optimum" f_n 's reported here. In the calculations using ching functions, it will also be possible to compute, and compare, the cross sections for individual transitions.

REFERENCES

(a) W. R. Thorson and H. Levy II, Phys. Rev., 181, 1. 232.(1969); (b) H. Levy II and W. R. Thorson, Phys. Rev., <u>181</u>, 244 (1969); ibid., p. 252. (a) C. F. Lebeda, W. R. Thorson, and H. Levy II, 2. Phys. Rev., A4, 900 (1971) (b) V. SethuRaman, W. R. Thorson, and C. F. Lebeda, Phys. Rev., A8, 1316 (1973). 3. D. R. Bates and R. McCarroll, Proc. Roy. Soc., A245, 175 (1958). Idem, Adv. in Phys., 11, 39 (1962). 4. D. R. Bates and D. Sprevak, J. Phys., B3, 1483 5. (1970). S. B. Schneiderman and A. Russek, Phys. Rev., 181, 6. 311 (1969). (a) W. R. Thorson and J. B. Deles, Phys. Rev., A18, 117 (1978); (b) ibid., p. 135. J. B. Delos, W. R. Thorson, and S. K. Knudson; Phys. . (**8**). Rev., 16, 709 (1972); J. B. Delos and W. R. Thorson, Phys. Rev., A6, 720. (1972).M. E. Riley, Phys. Rev., \A7, 626 (1973). 9. A. Messiah, Quantum Mechanics, vol. II (Amsterdam: 10. North-Holland Publ. Co., 1965) p. 747. N. F. Mott and H. S. W. Massey, Theory of Atomic 11. Collisions, 3d ed. (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1965) p. 428. N. F. Mott, Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc., 27, 553,(1931). 12. J. P. Davis and W. R. Thorson, Can. J. Phys., 56, 13. 996 (1978). M. Born and J. R. Oppenheimer, Ann. der Phys., 84, 14. 457 (1927).

172

5.3

| | | en e |
|----------|-----------|---|
| 1 1. | м , | 1 |
| | 10 | |
| • | 15. | M. Born and K. Huang, <u>Dynamical Theory of Crystal</u> Lattices, (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1954), pp. 166-173. |
| • | 16. | D. R. Bates, H. S. W. Massey, and A. L. Stewart, Proc. Roy. Soc., <u>A216</u> , 437 (1953). |
| | 17. | A. Riera and A. Salin, J. Phys., <u>B9</u> , 2877 (1976). |
| • | 18. | G. B. Schmid, Phys. Rev., <u>A15</u> , 1459 (1977). |
| | 19. | R. D. Piacentini and A. Salin, J. Phys., <u>B47</u> , 1666 (1974); |
| | , | ibid., <u>B9</u> , 563 (1976); ibid., <u>B10</u> , 1515 (1977). |
| | 20. | T. G. Winter and N. F. Lane, Phys. Rev., <u>A17</u> , 66 (1978). |
| | 21. | C. F. Melius and M. Coddard III, Chem. Phys. Lett., 15, 5 |
| 2 | 22.1 | idem, Phys. Rever 1, 29, 975 (1972). |
| | 22. A | Y. Chen, V. H. Ponce, and K. M. Watson, J. Vs., B6, 965 (1973); Hatton, J. C. Y. Chen, T. Ishihara, and K. M: Atson, Phys. Rev., <u>A12</u> , 1281 (1975). |
| | 23. | Hahn, Phys. Rev., 154, 981 (1966). |
| * | 24. | A. V. Matveyenko, J. Phys., <u>B9</u> , 1419 (1976). |
| | 25. | M. H. Mittleman and H. Tai, Phys. Rev., <u>A8</u> , 1880 (1973). |
| | 26. | K. Taulbjerg, J. Vaaben, and B. Fastrup, Phys. Rev., Al2, 2325 (1975). |
| | 27. | M. H. Mittleman, Phys. Rev., <u>188</u> , 221 (1969); ibid., <u>A9</u> , 704 (1974); ibid., <u>A10</u> , 442 (1974). |
| | 28. | M. E. Riley and T. A. Green, Phys. Rev., <u>A4</u> , 619 (1971). |
| • | 29. | S. Cohen, J. R. Hiskes, and R. J. Riddell, Jr., Phys. Rev., <u>119</u> , 1025 (1960). |
| | 30. | W. Kolos and L. Wolniewicz, Rev. Mod. Phys., <u>35</u> , 473 (1963). |
| * | • | |
| | · • • • • | |

+'

172 173

C. L. Beckel, B. D. Hansen III, and J. M. Peek, J. 31. Chem. Phys., 53, 3681 (1970). F. T. Smith, Phys. Rev., 179, 111 (1969). 32: R. de L. Kronig, Band'Spectra and Molecular Structure, 33. (London: Cambridge University Press, 1930), chap. I. W. *R. Thorson, J. Chem. Phys., 34, 1744 (1961). 34 . ibid., <u>50</u>, 1702 (1969). O. Burrau, K. Danske. Vidensk. Selsk, Skr., 7, 14 35. (1927). 36. • A. Messiah, Quantum Mechanics, vol. I (Amsterdam: North-Holland Publ. Co., 1965) appendix. D. R. Bates, K. Ledsham, and A. L. Stewart; Phil. , 37. Trans. Roy. Soc., A246, 215 (1953). J. M. Peek, J. Chem. Phys., 43, 3004 (1965). 38. 39. M. M. Madsen and J. M. Peek, At. Data, 2, 171 (1971). D. R. Bates and R. H. G. Reed, Adv. At. Mol. Phys., 4, 40. 13 (1968) D. R. Bates and T. R. Carson, Proc. Roy. Soc., A234, 41. 207 (1956). L. I. Ponomarev and T. Produzynina, USSR Comp. Math. 42. Math. Phys., 8(6), 94 (1968). J. D. Power, Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc., A274, 663 (1973). 43. E. L. Ince, Phil. Mag., 6, 547 (1928). 44. J. A. Stratton, P. M. Morse, L. J. Chu, and R. A. 45. Hunter, Elliptic Cylinder and Spheroidal Wavefunctions, (New York: J. Wiley & sons, 1941). K. Helfrich, Theoret. Chim. Acta, 21, 381 (1971). 46. J. H. Wilkinson, The Algebraic Eigenvalue Problem, 47. (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1965) p. 321. A. H. Stroud and D. Secrest , Gaussian Quadrature 48. Formulas, (Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice Hall, 1966).

174

- 49. M. A. Abramowitz and I. A. Stegun, Handbook of <u>Mathematical Functions</u>, (Washington, D.C.: NuB.S., 1964) p. 923.
- 50. An article based on the contents of this section has been submitted for publication to J. Comp. Phys.
- 51. D. R. Bates, U. Opik, and G. Poots, Proc. Phys. Soc. (Lon.), <u>66</u>, 1113 (1953).
- 52. L. I. Ponomarev and L. N. Somov, J. Comp. Phys., 20, 183 (1976).
- 53. (a) P: T. Greenland, Theoret. Chim. Acta, <u>38</u>, 185 (1975).
 - (b) P. T. Greenland and W. Greiner, Theoret. Chim. Acta, 42, 273 (1976).
- 54. S. D. Conte and C. de Boor, Elementary Numerical Analysis, (New York: McGraw-Hill, Inc., 1972) chap. 6.
- 55. G. Arfken, <u>Mathematical Methods for Physicists</u>, 2d ed. (New York: Academic Press, 1970) chap. 12.
- 56. J. Rankin and W. R. Thorson, Phys. Rev., <u>A00</u>, 0000 (1978).
- 57. W. R. Thorson and J. H. Choi, Phys. Rev., <u>A15</u>, 550, (1977).
- 58. W. R. Thorson, Phys. Rev., A12, 1365 (1975).

Stor.

APPENDIX

STATE-DEPENDENT SWITCHING FUNCTION

FORMULATION

A. Introduction

The derivation of the classical trajectory equations in chapter II assumed that the electron translation factor can be characterised by a single switching function common to all electronic states. It is desirable, however, to extend the theory so that each state has its own, characteristic switching function, f_n . The derivation is quite straightforward, and follows that of chapter II, section C. It will be shown that the new coupled equations have the same form as before, but that the definition of $\underline{A}(R)$ is changed. Although the new correction matrix is no longer Hermitian, the equations still conserve probability, to first-order in the nuclear velocity.

B. Definition of Basis

176

$$\Phi_{n}(\vec{r};\vec{R}) = F_{n} \phi_{n}(\vec{r}:\vec{R}) = F_{n} |n\rangle,$$

(A-1)

where

ł.

$$F_{n} = \exp\{(im/h) \ [\vec{v} \cdot \vec{s}_{n} - \int^{t} (1-\lambda^{2})v^{2}dt'/8]\}, (A-2a)$$

$$\vec{s}_{n} = \frac{1}{2} (f_{n}+\lambda) \ \vec{r}_{g}; \qquad (A-2b)$$

and $\phi_n(\vec{r};\vec{R})$ is a Born-Oppenheimer electronic wavefunction.

In chapter II, the states, $\Phi_n(\vec{r}; \vec{R})$, are orthogonal, but when the switching functions are allowed to be statedependent, the overlap matrix is no longer diagonal. Let us define $\underline{S}(v)$, the overlap matrix, such that

$$S_{jn}(v) = \langle j | F_j F_n | n \rangle$$

=
$$\langle j | exp\{(im/h) \ \vec{v}. (\vec{s}_n - \vec{s}_j) \} | n \rangle$$
.

To first order in v, we can write

$$\underline{S}(\mathbf{v}) = \underline{1} + \mathbf{v} \cdot \underline{\sigma}; \qquad \underline{S}^{-1}(\mathbf{v}) = \underline{1} - \mathbf{v} \cdot \underline{\sigma}, \qquad (As)$$

where

$$\vec{\sigma}_{jn} = (im/h) \langle j | (\vec{s}_n - \vec{s}_j) | n \rangle.$$
 (A-5)

C. Classical Trajectory Equations

Assuming that the nuclei follow a classical path, the wavefunction, T, satisfies the time-dependent Schrödinger equation,

(A-3

(A-6)

(A-10)

h T = ih
$$\partial T/\partial t$$
,

and we can write (cf. equation (II-42))

$$T = \sum_{n} b_{n} F_{n} | n \rangle.$$
 (A-7)

4

Proceeding exactly as in chapter II, we find that (cf. equation. (II-50a))

ih
$$\underline{s}(v) \ \underline{b} = \{\underline{h}(v) + \overline{v}, [\underline{p}(v) + \underline{A}(v)]\} \ \underline{b}, \quad (A-8)$$

where

$$h_{jn}(v) = \langle j | F_{j} F_{n} h_{e} | n \rangle, \qquad (A-9a)$$

$$\vec{P}_{jn}(v) = -i k \langle j | F_{j} F_{n} (\vec{\nabla}_{R}) + | n \rangle, \qquad (A-9b)$$

and

$$\dot{A}_{jn}(v) = (im/h) < j | F_j^* F_n^{[h_e,s_n]} | n>.$$
 (A-9c)

To first order in v, we can write

$$\underline{h}(\mathbf{v}) = \underline{\varepsilon} + \mathbf{v} \cdot \underline{\mathbf{n}},$$

where

$$\vec{n}_{jn} = (im/h) < j | (\vec{s}_n - \vec{s}_j) h_e | n > ,$$
 (A-11a)

and

$$\varepsilon_{jn} = \varepsilon_n^{(R)} \delta_{jn}$$
 (A-11b)

Thus, to first order in v,

$$\underline{s}^{-1}(v) \underline{h}(v) = \underline{\varepsilon} + \overline{v} \cdot \{\underline{\eta} - \underline{\sigma} \underline{\varepsilon}\}$$
 (A-12)

Hence, if we multiply equation (A-8) on the left by $\underline{S}^{-1}(v)$, and keep only terms which are first order in v, we find

in
$$\underline{\mathbf{b}} = \{\underline{\varepsilon} + \mathbf{v}, [\mathbf{P} + \mathbf{A}]\} \underline{\mathbf{b}},$$
 (A-13)

where

$$\vec{P}_{jn} = -ih \langle j | (\vec{\nabla}_R) + | n \rangle$$

$$(A-14a)$$

$$(A-14a)$$

$$(A-14b)$$

Equations (A-13) are the desired coupled equations. They have the same form as (II-50), but the matrix, $\frac{1}{A}$, is now non-Hermitian, and defined by (A-14b). I will now show that probability is conserved, to first order in the nuclear velocity.

D. Conservation of Probability

For probability to be conserved, we require

$$d/dt < T | T > = 0.$$

Using Green's method, 1

ih
$$d/dt < T | T > =$$
 ih $d/dt \{ \underline{b}^{\dagger} \le (v) \ \underline{b} \}$ (A-16)

= ih {
$$\underline{b}^{\mathsf{T}} \underline{\mathbf{S}}(\mathbf{v}) \underline{\mathbf{b}} + \underline{\mathbf{b}}^{\mathsf{T}} \underline{\mathbf{S}}(\mathbf{v}) \underline{\mathbf{b}} + \underline{\mathbf{b}}^{\mathsf{T}} \underline{\mathbf{S}}(\underline{\mathbf{v}}) \underline{\mathbf{b}}$$
}.

If we define

$$jn = (im/h) \ll j |\vec{s}_n| n > ,$$
 (A-17)

then, to first order in w

$$\underline{S}(\mathbf{v}) = \underline{1} + \vec{v} \cdot \vec{\sigma} = \underline{1} + \vec{v} \cdot (\vec{\rho} + \vec{\rho}^{\dagger}) \qquad (A-18a)$$

and

$$\vec{\underline{A}} = \underline{\varepsilon} \ \vec{\underline{\rho}} - \vec{\underline{\rho}} \ \underline{\varepsilon}.$$

(A-18b)

(A-15)

1:80

Using equation (A-13), we can eliminate \underline{b} and \underline{b}^{\dagger} . from (A-16), and obtain

in d/dt <T T> \vec{b}^{\dagger} (\vec{v} . $(\vec{\sigma} \in -\vec{c} \in \vec{\sigma})$ + in \vec{v} , $\vec{\nabla}_{R}$ (\vec{v} . $\vec{\sigma}$) +

$$(\underline{A} - \underline{A}^{\dagger}) \ge \underline{b}_{1} + (\underline{A} - \underline{A}^{\dagger})$$

since both ε and \tilde{P} are Hermitian matrices. But

5

$$\underline{\mathbf{X}} - \underline{\mathbf{X}}^{\dagger} = \underline{\mathbf{\varepsilon}}(\underline{\mathbf{\tilde{c}}}^{\dagger} + \underline{\mathbf{\tilde{c}}}^{\dagger}) - (\underline{\mathbf{\tilde{c}}}^{\dagger} + \underline{\mathbf{\tilde{c}}}^{\dagger})\underline{\mathbf{\varepsilon}}$$

· .

$$= \underline{\varepsilon} \, \underline{\sigma} - \underline{\sigma} \, \underline{\varepsilon}; \qquad (A-20)$$

and hence

in d/dt
$$\langle T|T \rangle \simeq b^{\dagger} \{in \vec{v}, \vec{\nabla}_{p}(\vec{v}, \vec{\sigma})\} b,$$
 (A-21)

which is of order v^2 .

1. T. A. Green, Proc. Phys. Soc., <u>86</u>, 1017 (1965).